Annual
Report
2016/17

Where to Get a Copy
The Annual Report can be downloaded via the
City’s website (www.stirling.wa.gov.au/annualreport)
and accessible in audio-visual format named
‘The Year in Review’ on the City’s YouTube
channel (www.youtube.com/user/cityofstirlingwa).
It is also promoted in media in the lead-up to
the annual Electors General Meeting (EGM).
The City produces a limited number of hard
copies of the Annual Report, in line with its
ongoing commitment to sustainability. These may
be viewed by the public at the Administration Centre
and the six Stirling Libraries. Alternatively, a copy
of the report can be requested by calling the City’s
Customer Contact Centre on (08) 9205 8555.

Sunset Veranda, Summerset Arts Festival 2017
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Introduction
The Western Australian Local Government
Act 1995 requires local governments to produce
an annual report by 31 December each year.
The City of Stirling Annual Report is compiled
in-house and is reviewed by the Chief Executive
Officer, Executive and management team to
ensure its accuracy. The financial statements
have been certified by an independent auditor
and signed by the Chief Executive Officer.

Sunset Veranda,
Summerset Arts Festival 2017

The current Strategic Community
Plan and its supporting Corporate
Business Plan form the City’s vision for
the development of the City between
2016 - 2026 and beyond. These two
publications detail the community’s
aspirations for the City of Stirling. The
2016/17 Annual Report informs the
reader of how the City is delivering on
its vision to be a place where people
choose to live, work, visit and invest.
The City strives to build a sustainable
future for the community. To achieve
this, the City has adopted the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) as a means
of monitoring progress towards
sustainability and outlining a strategy
to realise its goals. The GRI process
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enables the City to deliver on reporting
commitments in a transparent,
consistent and internationally credible
framework. The City has chosen GRI
indicators that are most relevant to its
activities. The GRI Index can be found
on page 234 of this report.
Key performance indicators have been
tested on a sample basis by the Internal
Auditor.
Divided into six main sections, this
Annual Report comprises the following:
• An overview of the City including
reports from His Worship the Mayor
and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
• Information on the City’s council and
governance

• Organisational structure
• The strategic performance report
• The service performance report
• Detailed financial statements.
If you would like to provide feedback
on the Annual Report please contact
the City’s Customer Contact Centre
on (08) 9205 8555 or email
stirling@stirling.wa.gov.au

Performance Highlights
Against Objectives

The City of Stirling’s 2016/17 Annual Report details the organisation’s
progress against the strategic objectives outlined in the Strategic Community
Plan (2016 - 2026). It also reports against measures set out in the Corporate
Business Plan (2016/17 - 2019/20). These two plans, together with the
Strategic Community Plan, form the City’s blueprint for the future.
The City’s vision is divided into six aspirational objectives with each objective
centred on a theme. The table to follow highlights the City’s major achievements
and challenges in 2016/17 against these six objectives. A detailed report on
these achievements being on page 71.

Theme 1: Liveable
City and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Theme 4:
Accessible and
Connected City

Theme 2:
Sustainable
Environment

Theme 5:
Prosperous City

Theme 3:
Engaged
Communities

Theme 6: Making
It Happen – City’s
Capacity to Deliver
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Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods

Theme 2: Sustainable
Environment

Theme 3: Engaged
Communities

The City of Stirling will have beautiful
streetscapes, open spaces and a
range of housing choices creating
a strong sense of place. People will
be encouraged to be active through
a variety of exciting events and
recreational activities. Residents will
feel safe and there will be access to
quality health and care services to meet
the changing needs of the community.

The City of Stirling will value, protect
and improve the environment by
using natural resources wisely,
reducing the impact of our activities
on the environment and protecting
wildlife and natural habitats. The
City will support and encourage
everyone in the community to
work for a sustainable future.

The City of Stirling will be a place where
people from diverse backgrounds will
feel included and respected. Residents
will be informed and involved in
important local issues and encouraged
to participate in community life.

Major Achievements
• The City’s Heritage Management
Strategy 2016 - 2020 was adopted
by Council in November 2016.
• As a result of declining tree canopy
cover, Council adopted Amendment
9 and Local Planning Policy 6.11
‘Trees and Development’ in October
2016 which was approved by the
Minister for Planning in May 2017.
• Construction of the City’s $26
million Scarborough Beach Pool
facility continued.

Challenges
• After Council adopted the Tuart Hill
Local Centre Urban Design Strategy,
the Director General advised that the
Department of Transport does not
support the Strategy.
• The collapse of the initial
construction company of the Carine
Main Hall Redevelopment resulted
in project delays, with financial
implications and unexpected
disruption for associated clubs.
• There are significant challenges
to achieving Council’s goal of 18
per cent tree canopy cover across
the City by 2030, given that in the
last five years, the City has lost a
combined total of just over 1 million
m² of tree canopy cover.
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Major Achievements
• The City’s Fleet Emissions Reduction
Action Plan has resulted in a 16 per
cent reduction in emissions from the
City’s fleet vehicles compared to the
baseline year 2013/14.
• The City successfully completed
a verge bulk waste sorting trial,
increasing recovery of this type
of waste to around 40 per cent
and achieving a significant
reduction in cost.

Challenges
• Perth’s drying climate and increasing
urban density has resulted in local
groundwater levels dropping.
• The Western Australian Waste
Strategy has set a target to divert 70
per cent of commercial and industrial
waste from landfill by June 2020. The
City currently diverts approximately
26 per cent of commercial and
industrial waste from landfill.

Major Achievements
• Extensive consultations were
conducted with over 1,153 older
people living in the City of Stirling.
These consultations will form the
basis of the Age-Friendly Strategy.
• A Regional Partnership with City of
Joondalup and City of Wanneroo
was formed to address and promote
Age-Friendly Strategies.

Challenges
• The City’s 2017 Annual Resident
Satisfaction Survey indicates that the
City should engage more with recent
immigrants, teenagers/young adults
and Indigenous people to encourage
them to be a part of the community.
Improvements in the City’s
performance relating to listening to
residents’ feedback and comments
were also a focus.
• Continuing to keep the community
up to date with the changes and
opportunities arising from oncein-a-lifetime changes in aged and
disability care presents an ongoing
challenge. The City continues to be
a high-quality provider but also a
primary source of reliable information
for Stirling residents.

Theme 4: Accessible
and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be accessible
with sustainable transport solutions,
safer roads and parking availability.
Improved technology will create a
connected community with many of the
City’s services available online.

Major Achievements
• 43 road sections were resurfaced
to increase the service life of these
roads, improve stormwater run-off
and reduce road noise.
• The City received $2.8 million
in Federal funding, allowing
rehabilitation and resurfacing of
sections of Erindale Road, Alexander
Drive and Dianella Drive.
• The City secured $1.2 million of state
and federal government funding for
road and traffic upgrades under the
Black Spot Program and Metropolitan
Regional Road Group (MRRG).
• The City completed major road
and drainage upgrade works on
Hutton Street.

Challenges
• The number of reports of faulty or
substandard street lights continues
to increase. The City is seeking the
assistance of WALGA and other local
governments to facilitate a solution.
• Reported internet speeds achieved
via the National Broadband
Network (NBN) roll-out are lower
than anticipated and have not met
with some residents’ expectations.
This project is not City-run but has
affected the Stirling community.
• Temporary parking shortages during
the Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority’s redevelopment of
Scarborough have led to complaints
from the community.

Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will be fostering
business development and employment
opportunities, making it a great place
to invest. Our attractions and events
will stimulate tourism, increasing the
number of visitors to our City.

Major Achievements
• A revised Development Application
for the expanded Innaloo Shopping
Centre has been approved by the
Development Assessment Panel.
• The City established a new
partnership with the Department
of Housing to encourage the
development of affordable and
social housing in the City, in order
to support access to appropriate
housing and create employment as
projects are developed.
• The City completed the ‘Food on
The Move’ food van trial to inform a
future policy on the operation and
licensing of mobile food vans in the
City, with eight designated sites
across the City.

Challenges
• Temporary parking shortages during
the Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority’s redevelopment of
Scarborough have led to complaints
from the community.
• The City faces challenging economic
conditions at a State level, resulting in
increased local unemployment. This
is particularly evident in the suburbs
of Balga, Mirrabooka, Nollamara
and Westminster, which record
consistently higher unemployment
rates than the State average.
• The Scarborough Redevelopment
Project currently being delivered by
the Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority and the City of Stirling
has caused some disruption during
construction and has contributed to
a challenging time for some business
owners in the region.

Theme 6: Making It Happen
– City’s Capacity to Deliver
The City of Stirling will continue to
be recognised both regionally and
nationally as a Council committed
to quality services and continuous
improvement. We will build on this
reputation while continuing to be
among the best-performing local
governments in Australia and beyond.

Major Achievements
• The City introduced an electronic
tendering system, with all City tender
opportunities being advertised and
responded to online.
• Implementation of the City’s Property
Strategy has resulted in an increase
to its net revenues and improved
occupancy levels across its property
investment portfolio.
• The City conducted a service
and organisational review which
streamlined efficiencies across the
organisation.

Challenges
• With demands across a large
volume of capital works projects
and the City’s ongoing provision of
high-quality services and facilities,
resourcing and financial challenges
are experienced across the
organisation. Planning and executing
these projects while maintaining
service levels can have long-term
financial sustainability impacts for
the City.
• Through the service and
organisational review, which saw
staff redundancies and business unit
integration, the City was challenged
with managing communications
to staff and dispelling uncertainty
among affected business units.
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His Worship the Mayor Giovanni Italiano (JP)
and Chief Executive Officer Stuart Jardine

The City’s Leadership Approach
Our Vision

Our Mission

Our Values

The City of Stirling will be a place
where people choose to live, work,
visit and invest. We will have safe
and thriving neighbourhoods with a
range of housing, employment and
recreational opportunities. We will
engage with our diverse community
to help shape our future into the
City of Stirling - City of Choice.

To serve the City’s diverse community
through delivering efficient, responsive
and sustainable services.

• Integrity
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• Accountability
• Environment
• Community Participation
• Respect
• Diversity

Our Commitment to
Sustainability

The City has the following principles to
guide its approach to sustainability:

The City of Stirling defines sustainable
development as meeting the needs of
current and future generations through
simultaneous social, environmental and
economic improvement. The City will
achieve this through:

Principle One: Long-term
decision making

Social Development
The City will work to create places
offering a high quality of life where
people choose to live and work, now
and in the future. These are places that
are well planned, built and run; are safe,
harmonious and inclusive; and where
everyone has a voice, can participate in
decision-making and shape the future
of their communities.
Environmental Protection
and Enhancement
The City will minimise its environmental
footprint by using scarce resources
like water and energy wisely, and by
reducing the amount of waste that goes
to landfill. The City will act as a steward
to protect and preserve and, where
possible, to enhance the rich diversity
of plants, animals and wildlife habitats
in this City. The City will act to protect
the community from the impact of
climate change and preserve the quality
of the air, soil and water we all depend
upon for life and wellbeing. The City will
encourage and support the community
to live sustainably.
Economic Development
The City will work to promote a
local economy that is competitive,
generates a high number of good
job opportunities for local people,
and supports a thriving and dynamic
business sector. The City will help
businesses and consumers manage
their environmental impacts through
education, incentives and regulation.

All decisions will reflect and give equal
importance to the long-term impacts
on the community, environment and
economy as well as the achievement of
shorter-term goals.
Principle Two: Fairness
for all generations
The City will manage resources in a
way that ensures that our children and
grandchildren will also enjoy sufficient
resources, and that everyone will have
access to those resources.
Principle Three: Improving
lives and human rights
The decisions that we make for our
benefit today will not be at someone
else’s expense, and we will work to
improve the lives of everyone in our
community.
Principle Four: Environmentally and
socially responsible development
The planning and development of our
City and public places will be done in
the most environmentally and peoplefriendly way possible.
Principle Five: Acting
with precaution
When the City identifies a threat of
serious or irreversible environmental
harm, it will take action based upon
reasonable knowledge, rather than
waiting for absolute proof of the
consequences.
Principle Six: Conserving the natural
environment and biodiversity
The City will strive to protect, retain,
enhance and manage the diversity of
animal, plant and human life within the
City of Stirling, and the rest of the world.

Principle Seven: Minimising
the impact of operations,
goods and services
In everything it does and buys, the City
will consider the environmental and
social resources that have been used
to produce those things, and the
impacts from their disposal and use,
as well as cost.
Principle Eight: Accountability,
transparency and engagement
The City will report its performance
clearly, accurately and fully, and involve
the community in decision making.

Our Service Commitment
The City of Stirling is committed to
being a dynamic organisation that
delivers effective services and maintains
a strong customer focus. Through this
commitment the City will achieve its
vision of being the ‘City of Choice’.
The Customer Service Charter outlines
the overarching standard of service
that the City’s customers can expect to
receive throughout all interactions with
the City’s employees.
The City’s customer commitments are
to ensure that we will:
• Be professional, helpful and
courteous in our dealings with
customers
• Listen to customers
• Be consistent
• Be prompt
• Be open, honest and accountable
• Be accessible and inclusive
• Respect the privacy of customers
and maintain the confidentiality of
personal information
• Use feedback and data to
continuously improve.
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Snapshot of Stirling
The City of Stirling, located 8 kilometres
north of the Perth Central Business
District (CBD), encompasses 104.7
square kilometres.
This area boasts:
• 6.5 km of pristine Western Australian
coastline
• 627 ha of parks, gardens and
developed reserves
• 616 ha of natural bushland
• 30 suburbs, from Mount Lawley in
the south to Hamersley in the north,
and from Dianella in the east to
Scarborough in the west
• 1,118 km of roads
• 984 km of footpaths
• 97,000 rated properties.
The City of Stirling was named after the
suburb of Stirling, the location of the
council’s first Civic Centre and Works
Depot. The suburb was named after

Admiral Sir James Stirling, who explored
and colonised the Swan River and was
the first Governor of Western Australia.
The suburb was originally an extension
of Osborne Park, an area rich in market
gardens. The locality remained part of
Osborne Park until 1976, when it was
officially gazetted as Stirling.
February 1871 marked the year of the
inaugural Perth Road Board meeting, at
which eligible landowners elected the
first Board members. The Board was
entrusted with responsibility for roads
within a 225-square mile area, including
a vast area of the current municipalities
of Stirling, Wanneroo and Joondalup,
with Wanneroo Road the first major
road to be cleared and established.
In 1961, the Perth Road Board became
the Shire of Perth, and in 1971 the
Shire officially became a city – the
City of Stirling.

Aboriginal History
The City of Stirling acknowledges
the Nyoongar people as the original
custodians of the land. The Nyoongar
people have occupied the south-west
region of WA for over 40,000 years.
The Nyoongar nation is made up of
14 regions. The City of Stirling falls
within Wadjak, Mooro Country, which
extends from the Indian Ocean in the
west and the Swan River in the south,
to Ellenbrook in the east and beyond
Yanchep in the north.
When colonisation began in 1829,
Yellagonga was the Elder of the
Aboriginal people to whom Mooro
country belonged. A coastal wetlands
trail for Nyoongar people extended from
the Swan River along a chain of lakes
at Monger and north through Herdsman
and Gwelup along the coastal corridor
to Yanchep. There are clusters of
Aboriginal Heritage Sites registered at
each of the lakes in this chain.

Estimated residential population

Figure 1: City of Stirling Estimated Residential Population
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Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Regional Population Growth, Australia. Ref 3218.0
Note that following the 2016 Census, the ABS has adjusted the Estimated Residential Population numbers for prior years and
these updated results are reflected in the chart.
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Population
The City of Stirling has one of the most
diverse populations in Australia, with
an estimated population of 219,918
representing a wide variety of cultures,
ages and household types.
The City has one of the highest rates of
overseas migration in the country, with
over 16,000 Stirling residents having
moved to Australia from overseas in the
last five years.
According to the 2016 Census, over
one third of Stirling residents were
born overseas and 62 per cent of
residents have at least one parent
who was born overseas.

For Stirling residents born overseas,
the top five countries of birth are
England, India, New Zealand, Italy
and South Africa.

Table 1: A Diverse Population
Residents Born in
Australia

55%

In more than one quarter (29 per cent)
of Stirling households, a non-English
language is spoken.

Residents Who speak
a Non-English
Language at Home

27%

The top 10 languages other than
English spoken in Stirling are Italian,
Vietnamese, Mandarin, Macedonian,
Cantonese, Arabic, Gujarati, Punjabi,
Hindi and Greek.

Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Island Peoples

1.1%

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics,
2016 Census of Population and Housing

Almost one tenth of Stirling’s overseas
born residents (7,184) do not speak
English well or at all.
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Calendar of Events

Markets in Stirling

Stirling Farmers Market - every Sunday

The City provides a rich and diverse
selection of free and low-cost events
and activities. The annual calendar
celebrates the many cultures, talents
and interests of residents. Below is
an overview of significant events
hosted by the City in 2016/17.

A growing community activity across the
City has been the introduction of regular
markets, providing a great alternative to
mainstream retail and grocery shopping.
Featured is a list of the ongoing markets
enjoyed by our community:

Balga Friday Markets - every Friday
Karrinyup Swap Meet - every Sunday
Inglewood Monday Night Markets
(CDF) - August - March 2017
SummerxSalt Markets Scarborough
(not City-supported)
November 2016 - March 2017

Wanderlust Scarborough 2017
© Matsu Photography

The Automobile Lab 2016

JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

2nd - 10th Kids Wonderland
(sponsored) Stirling

18th Vietnam Veterans
Memorial Day Stirling
(not City-supported, memorial date)

10th Wanderlust 108
Scarborough (City-sponsored)

11th - 15th City of Stirling
Automobile Lab Kids Arts Workshop

17th Perth EID Festival
Mirrabooka (CDF)
26th - 30th Australian
University Games Scarborough
(not City-supported)

Monthly Perth Folk and Roots
Club Mt Lawley (CDF)
30th Cirquest Show and Have
a Go Osborne Park (CDF)

Sunset Veranda 2017

Summerset Concert 2017

Harmony Day 2017

JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

January - February City of Stirling
Summerset Arts Festival, including the
Sunset Veranda Scarborough Beach

1st & 26th Community
Jam Scarborough

12th Rotary Carine
Community Fair (CDF)

4th Summerset Festival Concert Stirling

21st Sunset Poetry Doubleview (CDF)

18th - 19th Sunset Wine
Scarborough (City sponsored)

16th Adopt-A-Park
Volunteers Appreciation
Morning Tea Stirling

26th Stirling Lions Australia Day
Breakfast Nollamara (CDF)
27th - 29th WAZouk Summer
Fiesta Scarborough (CDF)
30th Summer Eve Picnic with Anne
Gare (Stirling Libraries – Scarborough)
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25th Jambo Africa Stirling (CDF)

24th Harmony Day
Mirrabooka (CDF)
25th WAAPA in the Park
Mt Lawley (partnership with
CoS and Western Australian
Academy of Performing Arts)

Paw-some Day Out 2017

Blink 2016

Osborne Park Show 2017

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

15th Groundswell Surf Festival
Scarborough (CDF)

11th North Beach RSL Remembrance
Day (not City-supported)

2nd - 3rd Osborne Park
Agricultural Show (CDF)

29th Wembley Downs
District Fair (CDF)

12th Tuscany Singara Italian Festival (CDF)

3rd Charity Clothing Drop
Off Day Stirling

30th City of Stirling Paw-some
Day Out North Beach

13th Innaloo Community Christmas
Pageant (City-sponsored)

10th Stirling Carols (CDF)

18th City of Stirling Blink
Photographic Award Inglewood

11th Hamersley Carols
Under the Gums (CDF)

19th Art+Beach Party Scarborough (CDF)
27th Mt Lawley Christmas Festival (CDF)

18th Brear Park Christmas Carols
(not City-supported)

Volunteer Thank-you Event 2017

King of the Point 2017
© Surfing WA

Reconciliation

APRIL

MAY

JUNE

5th City of Stirling Volunteer
Thank-you Event Stirling

20th - 21st King of the
Point Trigg (sponsored)

2nd Reconciliation Event
Lake Gwelup (CDF)

17th - 18th Lullaby - Community
Arts Event (CDF) Balga and Balcatta
22th City of Stirling
Kids Kerfuffle Carine
22nd Charity Clothing
Drop Off Day Stirling
25th ANZAC Day North Beach
(not City-supported, memorial day)

21st Festival in the ‘Wood
Inglewood (CDF)

October – March
Jazz in The Park Yokine (CDF)

The City of Stirling’s Cultural Development Fund (CDF) supports not-for-profit organisations in running arts and cultural activities and events in the City.
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Stirling’s Major Projects
In 2016/17, the City delivered $82.5 million-worth of capital works projects. These infrastructure projects contribute to making
the City safer and more accessible. The projects included construction works, maintenance and upgrades.
A summary of some of the Capital Works Projects is shown below.

Parks, sports and recreation (including pavilions and toilets)
Scarborough Redevelopment Project (in progress)
Stirling Leisure Centres - Scarborough Beach Pool (in progress)

$8,718,815
$10,845,256

Peter Wearne Pavilion Scarborough club changeroom upgrade and public toilets

$350,000

Innaloo Clubroom roof and air conditioning replacement

$418,071

BMX Club Balcatta - construction

$1,181,499

Carine Regional Open Space main sports hall refurbishments

$2,229,659

Balga Soccer Club - internal upgrade

$414,067

Macaulay Park Inglewood soccer clubroom - access works

$258,000

Macaulay Park Inglewood soccer clubroom - sewer connection

$208,005

Walter Road Reserve change and toilet upgrades

$339,860

Yokine Regional Open Space Coolbinia 1 - Junior Bombers Football Club refurbishments

$648,151

Balga tee/softball internal clubroom refurbishments

$154,334

Stirling Leisure Centres - Hamersley Sport Hall changeroom upgrade

$166,281

Trigg Surf Life Saving Club staff operations area changeroom upgrades

$329,324

Yokine Regional Open Space hockey softball clubroom upgrade

$446,195

Stirling Community Centres - Balcatta kitchen upgrades

$297,542

Dianella lacrosse and cricket clubroom refurbishment - construction
Dianella football and cricket clubroom upgrade - construction

$37,612
$691,629

Community facilities
Inglewood Children’s Centre kitchen and toilet upgrade

$110,636

Stirling Leisure Centres - Leisurepark Balga accessibility and OSH upgrades

$699,178

Stirling Leisure Centres - Herb Graham Mirrabooka accessible adaptations

$930,198

Stirling Leisure Centres - Herb Graham Mirrabooka LED lighting upgrade

$147,473

Scarborough Sports Centre PCYC access work including improved entrance

$246,310

Roads, footpaths and traffic management
Stroughton Road (Ravenswood to Arkana) road and drainage upgrade

$1,090,800

Strategic Footpath Program (54 new footpaths)

$2,239,700

Hutton Street (Albert to Main) road upgrade

$686,700

Balcatta Road (Erindale to Ledger) road resurfacing

$653,600

North Beach Road (Balcatta to Mews) road resurfacing

$581,200

Self-Explaining Roads Innaloo (Stage 2) traffic management

$508,100

West Coast Drive (North Beach to Hale) road resurfacing

$497,700

Alexander Drive (Morley to Gordon) road resurfacing

$471,500

Torquata Drive traffic management (Beach to Boyare)

$291,200

Cedric Street/Lyre Street intersection upgrade

$265,700
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Drainage upgrades and flood mitigation
Scarborough Environs Area Strategy (SEAS) Scarborough Beach outlets and retention basin

$2,101,300

Fourth Avenue (Coode to Railway) drainage upgrade

$684,200

Bourke Street (Stage 3) drainage upgrade

$474,500

Careniup Avenue subsoil drainage

$451,100

Fleet and plant
Purchase of new and renewal of the City’s fleet

$10,500,000

Corporate systems
Replacement of Leisure Facility Management System (in progress)

$177,220

Replacement of Library Management System

$176,300

Strategic projects
Rights of Way – construction upgrades

$2,412,300

Rights of Way – lighting retrofits

$614,900

Public Parking Implementation Strategy

$511,500

The City secured over $31 million in grants, subsidies and contributions from State, Local, and Federal Government in
2016/17, to deliver projects and programs to the community. This included $10.1 million of Federal Government funding
through the Financial Assistance Grants program of which $3.5 million was received in advance for the 2017/18 financial year.
Examples of these are featured below:
• The City received a $2.8 million grant from the Federal Government. This was via the Department of Infrastructure and
Regional Development under the Roads 2 Recovery Program. The grant was obtained to undertake road resurfacing across
nine arterial road sections where the condition of the road was identified as below the accepted standard. The funding
received ensured the efficient and effective improvement and rehabilitation of the City’s arterial road network, which has
contributed to improved road safety and road transport movement across the City.
• The City received a $5.24 million grant from the WA Department of Health for the provision of Home and Community Care
Services. This enables the City to provide services that support approximately 2000 City residents to stay independent in
their homes and actively engage in the community. In this way we create opportunities through caring.
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Mayor’s Message
As Mayor, it is with great
pleasure that I present the
City of Stirling’s Annual
Report for 2016/17 on behalf
of my fellow Councillors.
It has been an absolute honour and
privilege to serve in my fourth year as
Mayor. I am particularly proud of what
the team at the City of Stirling, both
Councillors and Officers, have achieved
together this past year as we continue
to build on our success. Below are a
few of the many achievements we have
accomplished together in 2016/17.
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With the Stirling economy worth over
$12 billion per annum, along with strong
and diverse business sectors, the
area continues to grow. It remains the
second largest employment district in
Western Australia after the Perth CBD,
with 68,000 local jobs employing over
100,000 people.
Investor confidence continues to climb,
particularly in hot property areas such
as Scarborough, Innaloo, Mirrabooka
and Karrinyup. During the 2016/17 year,
the City processed more than $856
million in development applications
lodged with the City, increasing the total
investment over the past two years to
over $2.3 billion.

Both Westfield and AMP have increased
their investment in their projects based
at the Innaloo and Karrinyup Shopping
Centres respectively – now up to $600
million for each project, which will
significantly transform these precincts.
The Westfield project will feature
expanded retail, commercial and
community spaces as well as a modern
roof-top entertainment zone which will
play a major role in the transformation
of the Stirling City Centre into Perth’s
second CBD.
The Stirling City Centre will be our
number one priority for 2017/18. Along
with the $60 million already committed
by the State Government towards the

construction of Stephenson Avenue,
the City is working hard to lobby the
Federal Government for the remaining
funds via a City Deal. This city-shaping
project will address major traffic
congestion and expand the Stirling
City Centre to create more jobs and
affordable housing for our community.
The Scarborough Beach
Redevelopment is well underway.
Sunset Hill opened late last year
and has already become a favourite
place to relax and enjoy stunning
beach views and sunsets. The new
Scarborough Beach Bus Station has
now opened, and works to upgrade
other beachfront areas continue along
with the construction of the new surf
club, skate bowl, playground and
promenades. Once complete in early
2018, Scarborough will provide a range
of leisure, economic and investment
opportunities, generating 8000 direct
and flow-on jobs and an estimated $25
million income per year over 17 years.
It is also estimated to add 635 new
dwellings and 11,730 sqm of office
and retail space to the area, with a
recent development application before
the MRA for a $400 million, 40-storey
development. The jewel in the crown,
the construction of the City’s $26 million
Scarborough Beach Pool facility, is
progressing well, with major earthworks
and geothermal works completed, and
the construction of the pools and the
building structure near completion. Set
to offer an impressive eight-lane 50m
pool with an adjoining four-lane, 25m
outdoor heated pool and a separate
learn-to-swim pool, the facility will also
feature a café and restaurant.
Accessibility upgrades were completed
to several of the City’s recreational
facilities including:
• Upgrades completed at Stirling
Leisure Centres – Herb Graham
Mirrabooka.

• Carine Main Hall upgrades provided
improved multi-sports changing
rooms, accessibility facilities and a
modern multi-use function space.
• The Westside BMX Club upgrades
included the construction of new
clubrooms, club amenities, and
accessibility improvements to facility
and spectator areas.
• The Yokine Hockey and Softball Club
underwent roof replacement works
and removal of asbestos from the
existing roof structure. The sports
changerooms and ablution block
were refurbished to incorporate
accessible toilet facilities.
• Coolbinia football clubroom has
also had upgrades to its kitchen,
changerooms, and ablution blocks
and future improvements will
incorporate an external covered
spectator area in the 17/18
financial year.
Improvements were also made to
Stirling Libraries - Inglewood by way
of an outdoor reading room and
to Osborne Activity Centre with an
external mural referencing the market
garden history of the area. The centre
was refurbished with paint and had new
decking installed.
The City-wide Dog Park Implementation
Strategy was adopted by Council,
including the installation of five fenced
dog parks at Princess Wallington
Reserve, Dianella Regional Open
Space, Carine Regional Open Space,
Robinson Reserve and Lake Gwelup
Reserve to complement the existing
facilities at Inglewood Oval and Charles
Riley Memorial Reserve. A landscape
plan was also adopted by Council to
upgrade Lake Gwelup Regional Open
Space, and a number of neighbourhood
parks were upgraded, including
Pomarine Cinnamon Reserve, Currong
Illubra Reserve and Renmark Townsend
Reserve.

Changes to the City’s Local Planning
Scheme No. 3 last year included the
gazettal of Amendment 60: ‘Beaufort
Street Activity Corridor’ to ensure that
all new developments in the Beaufort
Street Corridor are consistent with
the pre-1960s architectural styles
found along the corridor, as outlined
in the City’s Local Planning Policy 3.1
Character Retention Guidelines for
Mount Lawley, Menora and Inglewood.
Amendment 76: ‘Heritage Protection
Special Control Area-Increased
Protection’ was also gazetted as well
as Amendment 9 and Local Planning
Policy 6.11 ‘Trees and Development’,
which came about as a result of
declining tree canopy cover and
the impacts this has on the City’s
streetscapes, environment and amenity.
This amendment introduces new design
requirements for trees on development
sites with proposed developments over
$100,000.
Finally, being the Mayor of the City of
Stirling is about being part of a great
team that is working hard and totally
committed. The successes of the year
would not be possible without the
support and dedication of my fellow
Councillors, the City’s Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Team, employees,
the community and, of course, the
many volunteers who contribute each
and every day to make the City such
a fantastic place to live, work and
recreate. Thank you to all who have
contributed to the combined successes
of 2016/17.

Cr Giovanni Italiano (JP)
Mayor
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CEO’s Message
In 2016/17, the City of Stirling continued
its strong strategic focus to ensure that
its amenities and services remain world
class. We continued to plan well for the
future and make improvements in order
to face challenges head-on with tenacity
and vision.
As Chief Executive Officer, I am proud
of the progress the City has made over
the past year. The City’s exceptional
results in the 2016/17 Annual Resident
Satisfaction Research reflect this
effort, with a satisfaction rating of
90 per cent recorded.
Once again, the City’s prudent
financial management was evident
with the average rates increase kept
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Waste collection and
diversion from landfill

business model. This has enabled
meaningful employment opportunities
for people with a disability, and the
service delivery for customers visiting
the Tip Shop is now exemplary.
The conscientious team are fully
committed to maximising the recycling
and reuse of household waste,
and building new, sustainable and
valuable resources for residents.

In September 2016, the City, in
partnership with Workpower, officially
opened their new-look Tip Shop at
the Recycling Centre in Balcatta. In
what is a first for local government,
this partnership has created a social
enterprise employing people with
and without disability in an integrated

The City’s diversion of waste from
landfill continues to improve with
a 51 per cent diversion rate as a
result of our efforts to improve waste
collection through the combined
three-bin system, on-demand skip bin,
mattress collection, white-goods and
e-waste collections, green waste verge

to a minimum, which at 1.75 per
cent, was one of the lowest in the
metropolitan area. The City’s debt-free
status and rate, at 4.64 cents in the
dollar, demonstrates the City’s overall
financial stability and excellent financial
management.

collection and the Recycling Centre
in Balcatta. At this rate, the City is on
track to meet the State Government
diversion of domestic waste from
landfill target of 65 per cent by 2020.
Progress on Strategic Projects
The City has continued to advocate,
develop and maintain partnerships to
deliver the priorities in the Strategic
Community Plan in 2016/17. We
have worked closely with both the
government and the private sector to
support investment and development in
various areas of the City and to facilitate
progress on our major strategic projects.
With the City being home to a growing
population and a thoroughfare for
many commuters heading to work, the
transport strategy has remained a high
priority. In 2016/17, the City of Stirling
received a $60 million commitment
from the State Government towards our
number one priority, the development of
the Stirling City Centre, and this project
will continue in 2017/18.
Scarborough is already one of
Australia’s most popular beaches
and right now the area is undergoing
a major transformation. The City
of Stirling, in collaboration with the
WA State Government, is currently
implementing a $101.4 million
redevelopment of Scarborough Beach.
On completion, Scarborough Beach will
offer an outstanding mix of amenities
to cater for pool users, beachgoers
and the general public. By early 2018,
we’ll see new public spaces, treelined promenades, public art, and
recreational facilities, turning this into
one of the best beachfront destinations
in Australia.
Strategic planning for the main activity
corridors of Scarborough Beach Road
and also Beaufort Street has continued
to ensure infrastructure and amenity
meet the current and future needs of
residents and commuters. In 2016/17,

the City assisted the community to
come together and form the Inglewood
on Beaufort Street group, who have
since gone on to develop the highly
successful Inglewood Night Markets.
This successful collaboration has
injected vibrancy into this strip, and the
City is delighted that the Night Markets
will continue in 2017/18. The City is
also working with business groups
along Main Street and Scarborough
Beach Road to achieve similar results in
activating these two areas.
Awards
The City was recognised with a number
of prestigious awards including:
• The Beaufort Street Plan Project
received a commendation in the
Public Engagement and Community
Planning Category at the Planning
Institute of Australia (PIA) Awards.
• The Stirling Women’s Centre was
recognised with an award for its
support of multicultural families
experiencing family violence at the
Department of Human Services 2017
Multicultural Services Refugee Week.

of the City’s community. The provision
and maintenance of assets and
associated services is at the heart of
the City’s long-term commitment to its
residents. As a key component of the
City’s long-term asset sustainability, the
City invested $82.5 million in 2016/17
towards asset renewal, upgrades and
new assets.
The progress we have made as a
City during the year is the result of a
concerted team effort and consistently
high customer service. My gratitude
goes to the Mayor, Councillors,
Executive Team, employees and
volunteers for their hard work and
support. I am very proud of what
we have achieved together and I
look forward to the year ahead with
incredible optimism.

Stuart Jardine
Chief Executive Officer

• The City received a Gold Award at
the Australian Reporting Awards for
the 2015/16 Annual Report.
• The City was a finalist in the Heritage
Practices by a Local Government
Category at the WA Heritage Awards.
• The City received a Certificate of
Appreciation from WA Disability
Enterprises (WADE) for its
innovative program at the Balcatta
Recycling Centre, which offers
employment opportunities to
people with a disability.
Responsible Asset Management
The City manages approximately $3.3
billion-worth of assets and remains
debt-free. These assets underpin
community access to services and
facilities, which enhance the wellbeing
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Director Corporate
Services Report
Long-term financial sustainability is the key
objective of the City of Stirling’s financial
plan. With careful planning, the community
can be assured that the City has the
financial resources to achieve the objectives
set out in the Strategic Community Plan.

Summary
• Operating surplus was $19.4 million,
$17.4 million favourable to the
budgeted surplus of $2.0 million
(compared to $11.7 million surplus
in 2015/16). The favourable surplus
of $17.4 million was influenced
by additional rates revenue ($2.3
million), additional waste revenue
($1.5 million), reduced running
costs ($7.0 million), and reduced
depreciation ($2.4 million) due to
reduced spend as compared to
budget. In addition, the City received
an advance payment of $3.5 million
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related to the Commonwealth
Government 2017/18 Financial
Assistance Grants.
• Council’s total capital works
expenditure was $82.5 million
(compared to $51.3 million in
2015/16).
• Rates, security and service charges
comprised $167.3 million (76 per
cent) of the total operating revenue
of $219.4 million (compared to
$160.1 million [76 per cent] of
$209.6 million in 2015/16).

• Cash holdings reduced by $13.0
million to $125.2 million (compared
to a $5.8 million increase to $138.2
million in 2015/16). Net assets are
valued at $3.3 billion. This includes
infrastructure ($2,200 million);
property, plant and equipment
($992 million); and cash and cash
equivalents ($125 million).

Net operating surplus in 2016/17
was $19.4 million, an increase from
$11.7 million in 2015/16. This increase
is influenced by increased grants
and subsidies ($4.8 million),
increased waste revenue ($2.6 million),
and reduced depreciation costs
($2.5 million), offset by increased
employee costs ($3.2 million).

Figure 2: Net Operating Result
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Figure 3: Revenue, Expenses and Net Operating Result

Figure 3 shows the trend in the City’s
revenue, expenses and net result
from operating activities for the past
five years. This demonstrates the
net operating result, which is more
indicative of net funds available to
fund the City’s day-to-day operations.
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24

Sourcing the City’s Revenue

Figure 4: Sources of Revenue

Figure 4 shows the various sources of
the City’s $219.4 million revenue during
2016/17. The largest contributions to
revenue were provided by general rates
(59 per cent), waste service charges (16
per cent), fees and charges (9 per cent),
and grants and subsidies (7 per cent).
Revenue from general rates and service
charges increased by 3 per cent
compared to 2015/16. This included an
increase of more than 2,000 ratepayers
over the financial year. The increase in
waste service charges was influenced
by the increased levies and charges
associated with providing the service.

2%
2% 2%

General Rates $130.2m

9%

Security Charge $2.9m
Grants & Subsidies $14.5m
Contributions, Reimbursements
& Donations $3.5m

16%

Service Charges $34.2m
59%
2%

Fees & Charges $19.1m
Interest Earnings $5.3m

7%

Registrations/Licences
& Permits $5m

1%

Other Revenue/Income $4.7m

Identifying the City’s
Expenses

Figure 5: Expenses by Type

Figure 5 shows the allocation of
the City’s $200 million operating
expenditure.
The primary expense components
shown in Figure 5 include materials and
services (44 per cent), employee costs
(37 per cent) and depreciation (14 per
cent). The City’s total expenses have
increased by approximately one per
cent since 2015/16. This increase is
mainly related to ongoing maintenance
and running costs of the City’s
infrastructure.

3%

1%

1%

14%
37%

Employee Costs $74.2m
Materials & Services $88.1m
Depreciation $27.2m
Utilities $7.1m
Insurance Expenses $1.7m

44%

Other $1.7m
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The City’s Services:
Where rates are spent
$34.2 million from waste services;
$5.3 million in interest earnings; and
$35.2 million from other fees, charges
and revenue.

The City of Stirling’s 890 employees
deliver over 200 services and programs
to the community through 11 main
service cost centres.

Table 2: The City’s 2016/17 Revenue
Budget
$m

These services and programs include
asbestos management, drainage,
community events, libraries, initiatives
for families, meals-on-wheels, planning
approvals, aged care, recreation,
community centres, governance, waste
services and parks.

The City had 95,633 ratepayers in
2016/17 and the average rates for a
residential property in the City of Stirling
were $1,247. The City’s rates rise for
the year continued to be one of the
lowest in the metropolitan region of
Western Australia at 1.75 per cent.

General rates

40.6

The annual expenditure budget for
the City of Stirling in 2016/17 was
$306.6 million.

A snapshot of the 2016/17 budgeted
expenditure for the main service cost
centres as well as the City’s 2016/17
revenue budget is shown in Figure 6.
For more information about the City’s
Financial Performance in 2016/17,
see the comprehensive Financial
Statements starting on page 157.

Fees, charges and other
revenue
Waste services

32.7

Interest earnings

5.8

Total

231.3

The revenue was received mainly
from rates ($130.2 million). The
City also received $14.5 million from
grants, subsidies and contributions;

127.9

Grants, subsidies and
contributions (operating
and non-operating)

21.7

Profit on sale of assets

2.6

The difference between revenue and
expenditure is mainly related to non-cash
items, the largest being depreciation,
along with specific projects.

Figure 6: Expenditure by Service Cost Centre Budget 2016/17

13.8%

Community Safety
$8.3m

Planning & Sustainability
$20m

City Building
$41.7m

Administration, Governance
& Council Support
$37m

Parks & Reserves
$44.6m

Design & Engineering
$61m

Community Services
$14.2m

Recreation & Leisure
$17.7m

Health & Approvals
$11.6m

Waste & Fleet
$42.3m

2.7%
13.6%

5.8%
14.5%
19.9%
4.6%

12.1%
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6.5%

3.8%
2.7%

Library Services
$8.2m

Table 3: Summary of the Statement of Financial Position
2017 $

2016 $

Total assets

3,349,333,914

2,876,068,401

Total liabilities

35,685,074

31,386,483

Net assets

3,313,648,840

2,844,681,918

Total equity

3,313,648,840

2,844,681,918

The total equity at 30 June 2017 is $3.3
billion, an increase of $500 million from
2015/16. This increase is mainly due to
the revaluation of plant, equipment, land
and buildings required by Fair Value.

Statement of
Financial Position
Table 3 provides a summary of the
City’s Statement of Financial Position,
reporting what the City owns (total
assets), what the City owes (total
liabilities), the difference in their totals
(net assets), and the City’s net worth
(total equity). Commentary on the
City’s assets and liabilities is provided
below while the full Statement of
Financial Position can be viewed in the
comprehensive financial statements,
starting on page 157.

Assets: What the City owns
The major components of the City’s
assets include:
• Infrastructure, property, plant and
equipment (land, buildings, roads,
drainage)
• Capital works in progress
• Cash assets (mainly short-term
investments).
Together, these components account
for almost all assets. As at 30 June
2017, the City held $3.3 billion of
assets, an increase of $500 million from
2015/16. This increase was due largely
to the revaluation of infrastructure
assets, which was a mandatory

requirement of the Local Government
(Financial Regulations) to measure
non-current assets at Fair Value. This
was effective from 1 July 2012, with all
classes of non-current assets revalued
by 30 June 2015.

Reviewing our Liabilities:
What the City owes
The City’s liabilities include amounts
owing to suppliers and amounts owing
to employees for leave entitlements.
The City’s total liabilities were $35.7
million as at 30 June 2017, an increase
of $4.3 million from 2015/16. Of the
total liabilities, $17.7 million relates
to amounts owing to suppliers and
$16.9 million relates to amounts owing
to employees, the majority of which
relates to annual and long service leave.
The City currently has 889.67 full-time
equivalent employees.

Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows
summarises the City’s cash payments
and receipts for the year and the level
of cash at the end of the financial year.
The statement shows the City’s ability
to pay its bills to continue normal
operations and have money available
for the construction of assets. In total,
the City’s cash holdings decreased
by $13 million from 2015/16 due to an
increase in the City’s restricted reserves
and also an increase in funds invested,
related to increased revenue and
reduced expenditure.

Future Outlook
The City’s prudent financial
management delivers a high level
of service, while the City continues
to remain debt-free. It provides the
flexibility to fund a range of exciting
major projects, which will present a
variety of long-term benefits to the
City in a sustainable manner.
The City is in a solid financial position,
as demonstrated by the financial ratios
that are presented on page 150 of the
Strategic Performance Report, and
its finances remain aligned to
strategic priorities.

Statement of Changes
in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity
summarises the change in value of total
ratepayers equity. The value of equity
can only change as a result of:

Ingrid Hawkins
Acting Director Corporate Services

• The profit or loss from operations
described as surplus or deficit in the
income statement
• The use of monies from the City’s
reserves
• A change in the value of non-current
assets, resulting from a revaluation
of these assets.
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Council
Local Government is one of Australia’s
three tiers of government (federal, state
and local). Western Australia alone has a
total of 138 Local Governments. The City
of Stirling is the largest by population.
The City of Stirling Council is comprised
of 14 elected members. The Council
is responsible for making decisions
on behalf of the local community.
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Democracy in the City of Stirling
The City of Stirling is one of 138 local
governments in Western Australia
operating in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1995.
The Act sets out a system of
local government by providing for
the constitution of elected local
governments in the State, describing
the functions of local governments,
providing for the conduct of elections
and polls, and providing a framework
for the administration and financial
management of local government and
the scrutiny of their affairs.

Local Government Elections
Local government elections are held
every two years, with the next election
due in October 2017. Voting in the local
government elections is open to any
person registered on the State Electoral
Roll for that local government.
Any eligible elector can stand
to nominate for election with no
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requirement for a candidate to belong
to a political party or other organisation.
Councillors are voted in for a four-year
term with the Council electing the
offices of Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

The Role of the Mayor
and Councillors
Councillor Giovanni Italiano JP is the
serving Mayor of the City of Stirling. The
role of the Mayor is to:
• Preside at Council Meetings
in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1995

Councillors make important decisions
relating to the whole of the local
government by considering the views of
the community. They also work together
with the community, the Chief Executive
Officer and Council administration to
set the strategic direction of the City.
The specific role of Councillors, as
determined by the Local Government
Act 1995 is to:
• Represent the interests of electors,
ratepayers and residents of the
district
• Provide leadership and guidance to
the community in the district

• Provide leadership and guidance to
the community

• Facilitate communication between
the community and the Council

• Carry out civic and ceremonial duties

• Participate in the local government’s
decision-making processes at
Council and committee meetings.

• Speak on behalf of the local
government
• Liaise with the Chief Executive
Officer and the local government on
the performance of its functions.

Councillor
Profiles
The City of Stirling has seven wards:
Balga, Coastal, Doubleview, Hamersley,
Inglewood, Lawley and Osborne.
Residents are represented by two
Councillors in each ward.

Osborne Ward

Cr Giovanni Italiano JP
Mayor

Cr David Michael

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2007
Also elected to Council: 1996-2001

Bachelor of Economics
City of Stirling Councillor 2005 - 2017

T 08 9205 8555 | E giovanni.italiano@stirling.wa.gov.au
Mayor Italiano was elected as Mayor of the City of Stirling
in October 2013 and is currently serving his second term as
Mayor. He also held the position of Deputy Mayor between
2009 and 2011. Mayor Italiano is passionate about the City of
Stirling and has been a resident of the Osborne Ward for more
than 60 years.
Mayor Italiano is a registered builder and has a keen interest
in improving the local economy and growth opportunities to
ensure Stirling is a strong and prosperous City for all residents
and ratepayers to enjoy.

Cr Michael was the youngest Councillor to ever be elected to
the City of Stirling and served as Deputy Mayor between 2011
and 2013. During his time at the City of Stirling, he had special
interests in maintaining the City’s strong financial position,
ensuring a sustainable City, protecting local history and
supporting sporting and community groups. Cr Michael was
born in Mount Lawley and has lived in Tuart Hill for most of his
life, attending Tuart Hill Primary School and Servite College.
Cr Michael resigned as a City of Stirling Councillor in March
2017 as he was declared a Member of the Legislative
Assembly following the WA State Election on 11 March 2017.

He is very proud to be serving the community he has lived
among for nearly his whole life.
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Balga Ward

Cr Keith Sargent
Cr David Boothman JP

Deputy Mayor

City of Stirling Councillor since: 1994

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

T 0419 047 224 | E david.boothman@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0402 202 149 | E keith.sargent@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Boothman is a retired police officer and has special interests
in crime prevention, planning, sustainability, environment and
community safety issues. Cr Boothman served as the Deputy
Mayor from 2000 to 2001 and also as the Mayor from 2007 to
2013. Cr Boothman received his appointment as a Justice of
the Peace in March 2016.

Cr Sargent was elected as Deputy Mayor in October 2015 and
has been working in retail for the last 20 years. He has a strong
commitment to the area he has called home his whole life and
is always willing to help the community. Cr Sargent believes
strongly in bringing the community together through creating
awareness, sports and events that the whole City of Stirling
can enjoy and participate in.
Cr Sargent is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council
and is also involved in a number of community groups
including the Parents and Citizens Association and School
Council at the Gladys Newton School for Special Needs and
Balga Primary School. He also serves as Treasurer for the
Balga Friday Market. Cr Sargent has particular interests in
community safety, keeping our local streets clean and tidy, and
preservation of ‘bush forever’ sites and local parks.

Coastal Ward

Cr Karen Caddy
Bachelor of Metallurgical Engineering;
Graduate Diploma Business;
Graduate Member, Australian
Institute of Company Directors
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2013

Cr Mark Irwin
Bachelor of Science (Sports Science);
Diploma of Management City of
Stirling Councillor since: 2015

T 0419 477 757 | E karen.caddy@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0418 911 319 | E mark.irwin@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Caddy has extensive business and management
experience, having worked for a range of international
companies including Rio Tinto and BHP Billiton. Her aim in
joining Council was to employ her professional skills and
expertise to enhance Council decision making and ensure
high standards of governance and transparency.

Cr Mark Irwin was born and raised in Scarborough. He is
married with three children who are all involved in local
community groups and sporting clubs.

Cr Caddy has been a resident of Stirling for 20 years and
currently lives in Scarborough. She understands the unique
value of our coastal region and promotes sensitive, highquality development that achieves a balance between the
needs of the environment, residents and local businesses.
She is community-minded and an active volunteer. As
a former Chairman of the Scarborough Tennis Club and
board member of the Scarborough Sportsmen’s Club,
she understands the challenges of running volunteer
organisations and is committed to supporting our local
clubs and associations.
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Cr Irwin is passionate about community service and has been
an active member of Scarboro Surf Life Saving Club since he
was nine. He has held many positions at the Club, including
President for five years and President/Chair of Surf Life
Saving WA for six years, while also holding board positions
at a national level. Among other community-based roles,
Cr Irwin has held board positions on the Small Business
Development Corporation, Stirling Business Association and
the Doubleview Primary Independent Public School. Through
these roles, Cr Irwin has forged successful relationships with
local, State and national bodies.

Doubleview Ward

Cr Stephanie Proud JP

Cr Elizabeth Re

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2007

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2005

T 0411 070 793 | E stephanie.proud@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0419 913 988 | E elizabeth.re@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Proud has been a small business owner/operator since
1989 and has enjoyed a diverse administrative career in
small, medium and corporate business enterprises and the
local government sector. A resident of the City of Stirling
with her family since 1993, she has represented the local
community on various issues through various community
organisations, schools and local action groups. She has
been a past member of the Murdoch University Animal Ethics
Committee and is currently a RACWA Councillor.

Cr Re has lived in the City of Stirling nearly all her life. She
has actively contributed to the Stirling community for over 20
years. Cr Re has worked for over 30 years for State and local
governments in the areas of sustainability, environmental
health and public health.

Cr Proud is a strong advocate for community recreation (both
passive and active) and she is interested in the preservation
of public open space, increasing tree canopy coverage,
the protection of the natural environment and sustainable
and moderated residential development in accordance
with Residential Guidelines and responsible financial
management. Cr Proud is acutely aware of road safety
aspects with the increasing WA population, and the need
for appropriate infrastructure and community awareness.

Cr Re has been involved in many local committees. She has
been an office bearer on the Australian Local Government
Women’s Association in WA and the National Council
of Women, as well as founding several local community
organisations. She was the first woman appointed as a
Health and Building Inspector in local government in Western
Australia. Her advocacy on behalf of women and diversity in
the workplace in local government was recognised in 2010
with an award for Australian Ambassador for the Year of
Women in Local Government. Cr Re has special interests in
sustainability, health, public transport, and preservation of the
environment and parks.

Hamersley Ward

Cr Andrew Guilfoyle

Cr Samantha Jenkinson

Bachelor of Arts (Honours), Doctor of
Philosophy (PhD) in Psychology
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2013

Bachelor of Social Work; Certificate IV
Workplace Training and Assessment.
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

T 0427 285 970 | E andrew.guilfoyle@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0412 887 674 | E samantha.jenkinson@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Guilfoyle has been a resident for 13 years, choosing the
City to live with his wife and three children. Cr Guilfoyle actively
serves the community through volunteering with schools,
playgroups, currently patron and member of various sport
and recreation clubs, supporter of many Friends and interest
groups, the Hamersley Habitat Community Food Garden,
Parkrun, Chairperson for Westcoast Care and work with Rotary.
As a previous Professor/Head of Department at Edith Cowan
University, Cr Guilfoyle specialises in Community Psychology
and strongly believes in community consultation for answerable
decision-making aimed at increasing Liveability of our suburbs.
This includes maintaining the environment, open spaces and
the Urban Forest for all to enjoy. Alongside this commitment, Cr
Guilfoyle is working hard to develop responsive infrastructure
and facilities connecting residents of all ages through
recreational leisure programs, activities and social events.
Together these actions create opportunities for residential
wellbeing, quality of life and healthy investment values.

Cr Jenkinson lives in Karrinyup with her husband and family.
As a trained social worker, Cr Jenkinson has worked and
advocated in many areas, with a particular focus on people
being included in their communities and in control of their lives.
Cr Jenkinson works part time as Executive Director for
People with Disabilities WA, the peak consumer advocacy
group for people with disability. She has a background of
many years’ experience on government advisory bodies and
not-for-profit boards at both State and national levels. Her
specific interests are in the fields of usable and accessible
community facilities, sustainable parks and reserves,
sustainable urban planning, community involvement in
services, and improving the opportunities for the diversity in
our communities to be included and celebrated.
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Inglewood Ward

Cr Terry Tyzack
Cr David Lagan
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

City of Stirling Councillor since: 1991
Also elected to Council: 1974 –1977;
1978 –1982; 1983 –1989

T 0408 068 597 | E david.lagan@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0419 045 980 | E terry.tyzack@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Lagan served as Deputy Mayor at the City of Stirling
between 2013-2015. He has a background in teaching,
teacher training and events management, with a specific
focus on health and physical activity in the primary years. He
has taught throughout WA and internationally.

Cr Terry Tyzack is a Fellow of the Royal Australian Institute
of Architects, an Honorary Fellow of the Planning Institute
of Australia, a Rotary International Paul Harris Fellow and a
WALGA Life Member.

Having worked in the Australian Sports Commission in the
AASC program, he has extensive experience with community
engagement and budget prioritisation and is keen to develop
activity within the City for all age groups.
Cr Lagan grew up in a family recognised as pioneers in the
WA wine industry and he is keenly aware of the need for both
progressive ideas and new and innovative business models.
With two teenage children, Cr Lagan is mindful of the need
for well-funded community resources catering for families.
He is keen to remain available to all ratepayers and at the
forefront of delivery of the City’s vision into the future.

Cr Tyzack has served 39 years as a City of Stirling Councillor
including two terms as Mayor in 1984 and 2005 and as
Deputy Mayor in 1995. He has represented local government
on important regional and state committees including the WA
Planning Commission.
Cr Tyzack has a strong commitment to the wider community.
In addition to his local government roles, he has served as
Chair of the Governing Council of West Coast College of
TAFE and Deputy Chair of Mercy Private Hospital Board.
Cr Tyzack believes sound financial planning is the key to
a strong local government. He always advocates for
responsible spending, with an emphasis on projects and
initiatives that demonstrate sustainability and deliver broad
community benefits.

Lawley Ward

Cr Rod Willox AM JP
Cr Joe Ferrante
Graduate Diploma of
Business (Marketing).
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

Bachelor of Medical Science;
Bachelor of Science (Path);
Diploma of Occupational Health
and Safety Management.
City of Stirling Councillor since: 1993

T 0418 891 274 | E joe.ferrante@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0419 249 288 | E rod.willox@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Ferrante is a State Sales Manager for a national
government corporation. In his role, he manages three
Australian states: WA, SA and NT. He has lived in the City
of Stirling for over 45 years, growing up in Tuart Hill and its
surrounding suburbs. He was also a director of a mediumsized business with over 22 staff, and a sales manager for a
multi-national consumer goods company.

Cr Willox served as Deputy Mayor from 1997 to 1999. Cr
Willox has particular interests in environmental sustainability,
heritage protection, community safety and emergency
management. He was a long–serving member of the Australian
Defence Force as an infantry officer until his retirement at the
rank of Colonel. He is a graduate of the Joint Services Staff
College Canberra and a life member of the Australian Defence
Force Colleges Association.

Cr Ferrante has particular interests in community safety,
heritage protection and serving the community. He is also
a former Treasurer and coach of the Perth Junior Soccer
Club, patron of the Yokine Bowling Club and Alexander Park
Tennis Club, a Parent and Citizens Association member at
Yokine Primary School, and an Area Coordinator of Clean
Up Australia. Cr Ferrante has a specific interest in the
preservation of parks, public open space and sustainable
residential development.
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Cr Willox has had extensive experience in leadership;
personnel, asset and resource management; strategic planning;
logistics and policy formulation. He has served on numerous
Boards at State and national levels as a chairman and
member, including several years as the Metropolitan Member
on the Local Government Advisory Board of WA, Water and
Rivers Commission and Australia Day Council. Cr Willox was
appointed Member of the Order of Australia and received the
Centenary Medal for service to the community and defence.

Council Meetings
The Council of the City of Stirling
consists of the 14 elected Councillors
sitting as one body, with the Mayor as
Presiding Member.
Council is the policy and decisionmaking body for the City and meets at
7.00pm, usually on the first and third
Tuesday of every month. The Chief
Executive Officer and the Directors of

the City also attend Council meetings to
assist the Councillors with information
as required.
Members of the public are welcome
to attend Council meetings but are
not permitted to take part in Council
debate, although up to three questions
may be presented during public
question time.

Minutes of the Council meetings are
available to the public and are published
on the City of Stirling website in the
week following the Council meeting.

Councillor Meeting Attendance
Table 4: Councillor Meeting Attendance

CEO Performance
Review Committee
(3)

Council
(19)

Community
and Resources
Committee (11)

Planning and
Development
Committee (11)

Strategic Property
Committee
(4)

No Attd.

No Attd.

No Attd.

No Attd.

No Attd.

No Attd.

D Boothman JP

1

3*

16

3

9*

1

K Caddy

4*

1*

17

9*

8

4*

J Ferrante

3*

2*

13

6*

5

2

A Guilfoyle

0

1*

11

8*

2

2*

M Irwin

2*

3*

19

5

9*

4*

G Italiano JP

4*

3*

18

7

8*

2*

S Jenkinson

0

2*

15

6

9*

3*

D Lagan

3*

1*

18

10*

7

4*

D Michael
(resigned 17
March 2017)

2*

1

11

5*

3

1*

S Proud JP

4*

3*

19

10

11*

4*

E Re

0

0*

17

7*

1

0

K Sargent

2

3*

17

11*

8

3*

T Tyzack

4*

1*

14

9

10*

4*

R Willox AM JP

2

3*

19

7

10*

2

Councillors

Audit Committee
(4)

City of Stirling Councillor attendance at meetings - 1 July 2016 - 30 June 2017

* Committee member
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Council Committees
The City of Stirling currently has five
Council committees:
• Planning and Development
Committee
• Community and Resources
Committee
• Audit Committee
• Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee
• Strategic Property Committee.
The Planning and Development
Committee and the Community and
Resources Committee meet once a
month. The other committees do not
meet as frequently. Committee members
consider information provided in reports
submitted by specialist City officers,
then decide on a course of action
and make recommendations to be
considered at the next Council meeting.
Planning and Development
Committee
This committee meets once a month
and consists of seven elected
Councillors. The objective of the
Committee is to advise Council on
matters that pertain to the Planning and
Development Directorate of the City
of Stirling, and covers items such as
development approvals, city planning,
environmental health and compliance,
economic development, and urban
regeneration.

Community and Resources
Committee

Enhancing Collective
Knowledge of Council

This committee meets once a month
and consists of seven elected
Councillors. The objective of the
Committee is to advise Council
on matters that pertain to waste
management, engineering design,
engineering operations, recreation and
leisure, parks and reserves, libraries,
arts and culture, community services,
transport, city building operations,
human resources, governance, finance
and corporate projects.

Councillors are offered conference
attendance and training and
development opportunities, and they
receive regular briefings from the City’s
officers and other professionals to
enhance their collective knowledge of
economic, environmental and social
topics as required.

Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee

Under the Local Government Act
1995, Councillors are entitled to be
reimbursed for expenses incurred while
performing a function in their capacity
as a council member.

The Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee
is responsible for evaluating the
City’s Chief Executive Officer on
their performance and for approving
changes such as salary. The Committee
meets during the months of April to
September and consists of all 14
elected Councillors, with the Mayor as
the Presiding Member.

Reimbursement of
Expenses of Councillors

The Elected Members’ Allowances
and Expenses Policy outlines these
allowances and the expenses the City
will reimburse to elected members.
It aims to ensure accountability and
transparency in relation to all expenses
claimed by Councillors.

Strategic Property Committee

Allowances:

This committee meets at least once
each quarter, and consists of the
Mayor and nine elected Councillors.
The objective of the Committee is to
provide recommendations to Council
on property investment strategies to
deliver long-term financial and social
returns to the City in accordance with
the City of Stirling Property Strategy.

• Meeting attendance fees
• Mayoral and Deputy Mayoral
allowance
• IT and telecommunication allowance.
Expenses:
• Travel
• Cab charge
• Child care costs.

36

Chief Executive Officer
and Delegations
Delegations of authority are required
in order to provide officers with the
power to carry out duties and make
determinations. Under the Local
Government Act 1995 and other relevant
legislation, both Council and the Chief
Executive Officer are given certain
functions and duties to be discharged.
The Chief Executive Officer may
delegate to any other officer the
authority to perform functions and
duties under the Act or implement
Council decisions.
Delegations of authority are retained in
accordance with legal requirements for
document retention and keeping
of records.

Council Governance
Elected Member Conduct
Section 5.121 of the Local Government
Act 1995 requires a local government
to maintain a register of complaints
that result in an action under
Section 5.110(6)(b) or (c) of the Local
Government Act 1995.
There was one complaint made under
Section 5.121 of the Local Government
Act 1995 during the reporting period.

Local Laws and Council Policies

Delegations

The City constantly reviews its local
laws, policies and internal procedures
to ensure they meet statutory
requirements and are relevant.

Delegation is the assignment of
responsibility or authority from Council
to the Chief Executive Officer and
other City employees to perform a
specific legislative function. The Local
Government Act 1995 requires that
the City’s Delegated Authority Register
is reviewed annually. A report on the
Council’s statutory delegation was
considered by Council at its meeting
held on 13 June 2017.

As a result, the City conducted a full
review of the following local laws:
• Local Government Property Local
Law 2009
• Meeting Procedures Local Law 2009
• Pest Plant Local Law 2012
• Prevention and Abatement of Dust
and Liquid Waste Local Law 2002
• Thoroughfares and Public Places
Local Law 2009
• Waste Management Local Law 2010.
The City is committed to good
governance practices, which include
its review of high-risk and medium-risk
policies during the period.
Governance Health Check
During the year, the City initiated a
self-audit to assess the extent to
which it measures up to joint venture
with the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC). An
independent assessment was
conducted on local laws.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 37

Councillors in the Community
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Cr Andrew Guilfoyle promoting the new-look tip shop

Cr Boothman at Community Tree Program event

Cr Mark Irwin with Pizzaca Cafe owner Paul
Bizzaca who received a Green Space Grant

Cr Michael at Community Tree Planting
event at Tuart Hill Primary

Cr Proud at Our Lady of the Rosary, Woodlands

Cr Willox with a new heritage marker in Mt Lawley

Cr Re at RSL Centenary Plaque Unveiling

Cr Italiano at the Tip Shop re-launch

Cr Caddy at Urban Design Workshop

Cr Lagan with local sporting club representatives
at the updated Dianella Clubrooms

Cr Jenkinson at Urban Forest Community Workshop

Cr Tyzack with a site supervisor during
works to upgrade Dianella Clubrooms

Cr Sargent at the National Simultaneous Storytime event

Cr Ferrante promoting Heritage Protection
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Administration Centre, Stirling
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About the
Organisation
The City of Stirling is committed to
providing services, programs and
activities that meet the needs of our
community. This section provides
an overview of how the organisation
is structured and operates.
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Executive Team: (L to R) Director Infrastructure Michael Littleton, Acting Director
Corporate Services Ingrid Hawkins, Chief Executive Officer Stuart Jardine, Director
Community Development Trevor Holland, Director Planning and Development Ross Povey

Organisational
Structure
The City of Stirling operates through a structure comprising
four directorates: Community Development, Corporate
Services, Infrastructure, and Planning and Development.
Each directorate is led by a director who reports to the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO). Directorates are made up of business
units, each overseen by a business unit manager. The CEO also
has a business unit under his leadership.
The CEO is appointed by and directly accountable to the
Council, who are elected by the residents of the City of Stirling.
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Diagram 1: Organisation Chart as at 30 June 2017

Community/Customers

Council

Governance
and Strategy

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Services

Community
Development
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Community Safety
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City Building
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Community Services

Finance Services

Engineering Design

City Planning

Customer and
Communications

Human Resources

Engineering Operations

Health and Compliance

Recreation and Leisure
Services

Parks and
Sustainability

Waste and Fleet
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Executive Profiles

Stuart Jardine

Ed Herne

Chief Executive Officer

Director Corporate Services

Master of Business Administration;
Post Graduate Diploma of Management
Studies (Distinction); Chartered
Secretary - Commonwealth ‘Institute
Prize’; Certificate in Teaching; Fellow
of the Local Government Managers
Association.
Stuart has been the Chief Executive
Officer of the City of Stirling, Western
Australia’s largest local government,
for ten years. Under his stewardship,
the City of Stirling has consistently
improved its customer satisfaction
performance rating, from a low of 65
per cent in 2005 to consistent highs
of above 90%. He has a leading role
in several major strategic projects,
successfully working in partnership with
the State Government and attracting
significant funding to deliver exemplar
projects including:
• Stirling City Centre and Scarborough
Beach Road Activity Corridor
• Scarborough Beach Redevelopment
• Mirrabooka Regional Centre
Revitalisation.
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Stuart has received numerous
accolades, including awards for
innovation, reporting, sustainability and
planning. He is a WA Local Government
Eminent Service Award recipient
and in 2017, Stuart was awarded a
Public Service Medal to recognise his
commitment to the local government
sector in the Australia Day honours.
Before joining the City of Stirling,
Stuart was the Chief Executive Officer
at the City of Gosnells, where his
passion and drive delivered substantial
and sweeping changes, attracting
international praise and recognition.
Stuart possesses significant
international local government
experience, with a career spanning over
35 years. He has played a key role in
several local governments in Australia
and the United Kingdom. He was the
first Australian to be appointed to the
prestigious Board of Directors of the
International Downtown Association
of America in recognition of his work.
Stuart lives in the area with his family
and firmly believes that creating vibrant
places like Stirling doesn’t happen by
chance. It takes a passionate focus with
a determination to embrace bold ideas
to build an exciting future and achieve
the vision of the City of Stirling, the
City of Choice.

Bachelor of Business (Finance and
Accounting), Certified Practicing
Accountant.
Joining the City of Stirling in August
2004 and retiring in February 2017,
Ed has been a Certified Practicing
Accountant for 33 years. Previously
the Director of Finance and Resources
within the Division of Arts at Murdoch
University, Ed has also held the position
of company director for a number of
small-medium businesses as well as
large corporations, including Brambles
and Elders.
This position is currently vacant.

Trevor Holland

Michael Littleton

Ross Povey

Director Community Development

Director Infrastructure

Director Planning and Development

Diploma of Public Administration,
Certificate of Industrial Relations.

Master of Business Administration,
Graduate Diploma of Technology;
Graduate Diploma of Management;
Bachelor of Technology (Civil
Engineering); Graduate, Australian
Institute of Company Directors

Master of Business Administration
(Dist); Bachelor of Arts - Urban and
Regional Planning (Hons); Bachelor
of Architecture (Hons); Bachelor of
Applied Science (Architectural Science)
(Dist); Graduate, Australian Institute of
Company Directors.

Trevor has over 30 years of experience
in local government, holding key
executive positions in the fields of
human resources, finance, contract
management, and cultural and
social services.
He was appointed as the City’s Director
of Community Development in 1999
and was the Acting Chief Executive
Officer for the City of Stirling for six
months in 2007. Before his career in
local government, Trevor worked in
management positions in the public and
private sector, including the national
machinery and steel industry, and the
Western Australian Meat Commission.
Trevor also served in the Royal
Australian Army.

Michael joined the City of Stirling in
November 2014. He has held senior
executive roles within the local
government sector for over 20 years.
Michael manages a diverse portfolio
with primary responsibility for the
engineering, technical, and operational
functions of the organisation. The
infrastructure team has a substantial
capital and operating program to
deliver, which will see significant
improvement of community assets over
the coming years.

Since joining the City of Stirling
in January 2005, Ross has been
responsible for the major economic
development and urban regeneration
projects undertaken by the City, as
well as city planning, sustainability,
approvals activities, and health and
compliance functions.
Previously, Ross spent five years at
the City of South Perth as Director of
Strategic and Regulatory Services.
Ross began his career in the field of
architecture, focussing on the design
and development of health, aged care,
housing and community facilities before
moving into local government, where he
has held senior management positions
at Cottesloe, South Perth and Stirling.
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Administration Centre, Stirling

Our People
The City of Stirling’s workforce of
889.67 (established full-time equivalent)
is one of its most valuable resources.
Employees are highly talented and
experienced, and possess the skills and
abilities to deliver exceptional services.

The City is recognised for supporting
work-life balance through a range
of flexible work options and offers
a range of ancillary opportunities
to deliver a holistic and fulfilling
employment experience.

The City prides itself on being the City
of Choice. Being part of Team Stirling
has advantages beyond working within
a great team of people. The City has a
performance-driven culture and offers
a wide range of benefits, assisting
employees personally, professionally
and financially.

Employee turnover levels remain at a
satisfactory level, in line with the City’s
target of below 15 per cent. Employee
turnover during the 2016/17 financial
year was 10.7 per cent.
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Figure 8 illustrates the employee
turnover rate from 2012/13 to 2016/17.

Workplace Philosophy
The City’s Team Stirling ethos
encourages the workforce to
collaborate and synergise in
an environment of continuous
improvement. The City’s core values,
Code of Conduct, competency
framework and performance review
process collectively create the
foundation for a sound workplace
philosophy.

Figure 7: Male and Female Apportionment (to 1st tier supervisor level) at 30 June 2017
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Figure 8: Employee Turnover Rate
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Figure 9: Established Workforce–Age Profile as at 30 June 2017

4%

Table 5: Senior Officers’ Remuneration

Salary Band

No. of
Officers

$100,000-109,000

82

$110,000-119,000

51

65+

$120,000-129,000

1

55-64

$130,000-139,000

1

$140,000-149,000

5

$160,000-169,000

12

$170,000-179,000

3

$190,000-199,000

3

$210,000-219,000

1

$320,000-329,000

1

Total

160

3%

22%

21%

45-54
35-44
23%
27%

The City’s Workforce
Plan 2013-2018
The City’s Workforce Plan 2013-2018
outlines how the City will invest in its
workforce and ensure it continues to
be of the City of Choice. This plan
describes a range of initiatives and
actions in the areas of recruitment
and talent management, reward and
recognition, leadership, performance,
learning and development, diversity,
safety, health and wellbeing, and
engagement.
The City aims to ensure that it is an
equitable and diverse workplace. In an
effort to improve the understanding of
equity and diversity, the City recognised
and celebrated a range of events
throughout the year, including Harmony
Day, National Aborigines and Islanders
Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC)
Week and International Women’s Day
to support, acknowledge and celebrate
diversity in all its forms.
Additionally, all employees are given
the opportunity to participate in cultural
learning to increase their understanding
and appreciation of equity and diversity.

48

25-34
16-24

Our Recruitment Processes

Payment to Employees

The City has an in-house resourcing
team that facilitates merit-based
selection processes to ensure that
it remains an Equal Opportunity
Employer. The City of Stirling
recognises employees as one of its
most valuable assets, which makes
it imperative to recruit effectively and
select the right people. In 2016/2017,
the resourcing team undertook 234
recruitment processes.

Regulation 19B of the Local
Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 requires the City to
include in its annual report:

Workforce Profile
Figure 9 illustrates the City’s established
workforce in age bands. There is a
wide range of ages employed, from
16 to 24 to over 65 years of age. This
is a clear demonstration of how the
City values, recognises and respects
the contributions of people with
different backgrounds, experiences and
perspectives.

• The number of employees of the
City entitled to an annual salary of
$100,000 or more
• The number of those employees with
an annual salary entitlement that falls
within each band of the $10,000 over
$100,000, which are illustrated in
Table 5.

Access and Inclusion
All new employees attending corporate
orientation with the City receive an
access and inclusion summary that
provides information on the purpose of
the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.
The City’s Workforce Plan 2013-2018
includes the provision of employee
learning interventions to support
and encourage a disability-confident
workplace culture. As such, disability
awareness training for all employees
is scheduled on an annual basis.
A total of 41 employees attended
training during 2016/17.

Conditions of Employment
Employees at the City are covered by
two industrial agreements: the Outside
Workforce Agreement and the Inside
Workforce Agreement.
During 2016/2017, the City finalised
negotiations for its Inside Workforce
Agreement and the Agreement was
approved by the Fair Work Commission.
Negotiations commenced in September
2016 on the Outside Workforce
Agreement and the City is currently in
the process of finalising the process
with employees.
The City contributes the statutory
component of each employee’s salary
to a complying superannuation fund
of their choice and will increase the
superannuation contributions in line
with legislation. Employees also
have the option to make additional
contributions to their superannuation
fund, with the City matching an
employee’s additional contributions up
to a maximum of six per cent.
The City offers a range of benefits to
employees including:
• An Employee Assistance Program
for employees requiring support for
personal or work-related matters
• Flexible working arrangements,
including a nine-day fortnight,
job sharing and part-time work
arrangements
• A health and wellbeing program,
including annual health checks, flu
vaccinations and skin screening
• The purchase of additional annual
leave
• Parental leave
• Discounted recreational membership
• Study leave and financial assistance
for professional qualifications

• Learning and development
interventions for professional and
personal development
• Employee Reward and Recognition
Program
• Phased retirement.
In addition to the benefits outlined
above, and in line with best practice
and applicable guidelines and
legislation, all positions within the
City are sized using the Mercer Cullen
Egan Dell (CED) Job Evaluation
system to ensure that there is no bias
in the reward and remuneration of all
employees.
As a part of the City’s Workforce
Plan, and in accordance with good
governance practices, the City
continues to develop and review the
management practices and procedures
that affect its employees. Employee
grievances are dealt with in a timely and
effective manner in accordance with
the City’s policies and management
practices.
The City ensures that communication
with its employees is open, relevant
and timely. The City has in place an
Employee Engagement, Communication
and Participation Framework which
encourages engagement with the
workforce through a range of channels,
including:
• Team Brief, the City’s monthly
employee newsletter. Key focus areas
for Team Brief include celebrating
individual and team success,
encouraging connections, and
sharing information with each other.

• SharePoint, the City’s intranet
system. All City of Stirling employees
who use a work computer have
access to the SharePoint site.
SharePoint provides relevant
communication updates, as well
as access to the City’s policies,
management practices and other
work-related documents. The
SharePoint site also provides
access to Web Kiosk, the City’s
employee self-service information
portal. Pay slips, leave balances and
other employee information may
be accessed and updated where
applicable.
• Tool Box meetings: regular meetings
with members of the outside
workforce and their supervisor.
The aim of Tool Box meetings is
to communicate and discuss work
or safety-related issues, share
information, receive updates and
obtain relevant training.
• Performance reviews. Annual
performance reviews give employees
and their supervisors the opportunity
to discuss the employee’s
performance, aspirations, and
current and future learning and
development needs.
• Team meetings: regular meetings
with supervisors or Business Unit
Managers to engage employees,
help boost productivity, increase
effective decision-making and
reduce the number of problems
requiring urgent attention.

• Bi-annual employee briefing
sessions. Employee briefing sessions
were held by the Chief Executive
Officer throughout the past financial
year. These sessions provided an
opportunity for the Chief Executive
Officer or Directors to update all
employees on key City initiatives and
celebrate achievements.
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Celebrating Achievements
– Reward and
Recognition Program
The City believes in celebrating the
achievements of its employees and has
introduced the following initiatives:
Stirling Stars Annual Event

Years of Service

Learning and Development

The City formally recognises employees
with more than five years’ service.

The City’s overall productivity
improves by investing in personal
and professional development in the
workplace. Learning and development
opportunities are provided for
employees via on-the-job training,
internal and external workshops
and other learning opportunities.
These initiatives result in recognised
qualifications, attendance at
conferences and seminars, and the
completion of online study programs.

Employees currently receive a Years of
Service badge and framed certificate,
which is presented by their business
unit manager.

The Stirling Star Program, which
includes Stirling Star of the Month/
Year, Rising Star of the Year and
Stirling Team of the Year, is designed
to recognise employees who provide
excellent service to the City’s internal
and external customers, including:

Employees commemorating an
anniversary of 25, 30, 35 or 40+ years
of service, as well as nominees for the
Stirling Star of the Year, Rising Star of
the Year and Stirling Team of the Year
Awards, are invited to participate in
the Stirling Stars event, sponsored by
the Osborne Park Rotary Club. Eligible
employees receive a framed certificate
and a gift as a token of appreciation
from the City for their contribution.
During 2016, a total of 13 employees
were recognised for 25 years or more
of service, including one employee with
40 years.

• Employees who challenge current
processes and procedures with a
view to developing new initiatives,
ideas and solutions

The Stirling Star of the Year, Rising Star
of the Year and Stirling Team of the
Year, which are all announced at the
event, receive a trophy.

• MS Project Management

• Employees who are effective team
members and proactively foster the
ethos of Team Stirling

This is a truly rewarding, enjoyable
and memorable event for all
employees who attend.

• Emerging Leaders

Graduation Program

• Leading Change

In November 2016, the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer hosted the
City’s sixth Graduation Celebration. The
event acknowledged and congratulated
21 employees who completed City
of Stirling-sponsored qualifications
in the areas of Project Management,
Leadership and Management, Human
Resources and Horticulture.

• Coping with Change

The Stirling Stars event is held on
an annual basis and gives the City
an opportunity to formally recognise,
honour and thank long-term
employees and those who have
excelled in their roles.

• Employees who build appropriate
and professional relationships
with others using excellent
communication skills to ensure
people understand their message.

Every year, the City undertakes a
Training Needs Analysis. In 2016/17, the
following key corporate training needs
were identified and appropriate learning
interventions were delivered:
• Introduction to Project Management
• Cert IV Project Management
• Diploma Project Management

• Diploma Leadership and
Management

• Springboard – Women’s
Development Program

• Embracing Change
• Personal Safety/Conflict Resolution
• Stress Management for Leaders
• Memory, Focus and Stress
Management
• Continuous Improvement and
Innovation
• Creating a Positive Culture
• Moving from Busyness to
Effectiveness
• Preparing for Interviews
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• Email Workflow and Mastery

Orientation, provided during the first
few weeks of employment. The online
Code of Conduct course was reviewed
and updated in the first part of 2017,
in readiness for the annual refresher
training scheduled for August 2017.

Future Learning and Development

• Various computer software courses

Study Assistance

• Cultural awareness training

• Various customer service-focussed
workshops

The City acknowledges that the
sustainability of any organisation is
strengthened through systematic
professional development and by
developing its talent pool. To encourage
professional development and assist
City of Stirling employees to meet
the increasing costs of professional
development, an enhanced Study
Assistance Management Practice
was endorsed and implemented.
The management practice is not
only designed to assist employees
financially, but to encourage employees
to remain with the organisation for a
minimum of two years after obtaining
their qualifications.

• Disability awareness training

• Writing with Style: the Power of
Plain English
• Understanding Money
• Various corporate e-learning courses

• Tailored training for a number of
business units and individuals, eg,
one-to-one coaching, team building
and leadership.
Leadership Development
In 2016/17, the Leadership Team,
consisting of the Chief Executive
Officer, four Directors and 19 business
unit managers, participated in a range
of professional and personal learning
and development initiatives.
Online Training
In 2016/17, the City implemented
two new customised online training
modules relating to Australasian InterService Incident Management System
(AIIMS) Emergency Management.
The development of a further two
customised training programs relating
to Occupational Safety and Health
and Information Security are nearing
completion and will be implemented
in 2017/18.
The number of e-learning completed
online training programs for the 2016/17
financial year totalled 2858.
Code of Conduct Training
As part of the City’s ongoing
Misconduct Awareness education
program, the online Code of Conduct
course is completed annually by all
employees. In August 2016, all City of
Stirling employees received training
on the City’s Code of Conduct. All
new employees received Code of
Conduct training as part of Corporate

The Study Assistance Program provides
City of Stirling employees with up to
$2,000 per year towards study for
nationally recognised qualifications, or
up to five hours per week study leave.

In 2016/17, the following learning and
development initiatives are planned:
• Performance review process training
• Managing poor performers

• Aboriginal cultural awareness
training
• Leadership and management training
• Project management training
• Preparing for retirement
• Writing with Style: the Power of Plain
English
• Armed robbery awareness
• Practical decision making.
Further learning and development
initiatives will be identified, developed
and implemented as part of City’s
Training Needs Analysis.

Funding Opportunities
In 2016/17, the City secured federal and
state government funding towards inhouse facilitated, nationally recognised
qualifications such as Diploma of Project
Management, Diploma of Leadership
and Management, and traineeship
incentives - ultimately providing a saving
to the City of $91,484.
Apprenticeships/Traineeships
The City currently has four employees
registered on traineeships. These
traineeships enable employees to study
for and complete nationally recognised
qualifications while working, with the
costs partly offset by federal/state
funding.
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Policies, Management
Practices and Procedures

Figure 10: Workers’ Compensation Claims lodged with LGIS

During 2016/2017, a number of
occupational safety and health (OSH)
management practices and procedures
were reviewed and updated as
necessary.
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Health and Wellbeing
On 24 March 2017, the City’s Health
and Safety representatives were joined
by Directors Michael Littleton, Trevor
Holland and the occupational safety
and health (OSH) team at the 6th annual
OSH Conference, held at Caversham
House in the picturesque Swan Valley.
This year’s conference was hosted by
the City of Swan and supported by LGIS
and the Cities of Joondalup, Wanneroo
and Stirling as part of the ongoing joint
venture between the four Cities.
The theme of this year’s conference was
‘Making a Difference’. The conference
provided an informative and engaging
look at effective safety and health
management, providing participants with
knowledge that they can impart to their
fellow team members.
Director of Infrastructure Michael
Littleton and Director Community
Development Trevor Holland then
engaged with the City’s Health and
Safety representatives and OSH
team to outline and reaffirm the City’s
Executive Team Commitment to
Safety and Health. Michael shared
the philosophy of Stirling following
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the safety commandments of: Be
Safe, Team First, Integrity and Trust,
Respect, Leadership, Inclusive, No
Buck Passing (to be accountable) and
Genuine. Michael and Trevor praised
the work undertaken by our Health and
Safety representatives and employees,
who continue to display positive safety
behaviours and attitudes.
Safety Committees
The Safety Health and Operational
Risk Management Group continues to
promote and facilitate the coordination
of continual OSH improvements at
the City.
The Works Safety Committee continues
to operate with members of the
committee, focussing on delivering and
maintaining a work environment that is
safe, risk-averse and injury free.
Partnerships
The City continues to work with the
Cities of Joondalup, Swan and South
Perth in a strategic OSH partnership,
in alliance with the LGIS, to provide
benchmarking opportunities and
synergies across the four councils.

Hazard Identification &
Risk Management
The City completed an extensive review
of all Safe Work Method Statements
(SWMS) and is continuing to review
the documents on an ongoing basis. It
will also be developing a suite of safety
procedures, guidelines and forums as
well as introducing ‘Take 5’ booklets for
staff to utilize.
As part of the City’s commitment to
improve the health and wellbeing of its
employees, the following initiatives were
implemented in 2016/17:
• Hep A&B vaccinations were provided
to at-risk staff
• Education sessions were completed
and included in OSH inductions
• Full health assessments were provided
to Councillors and 223 employees
• Influenza vaccinations were provided
to Councillors and 400 employees
• Skin screening was provided to
Councillors and 450 employees.
A number of health and wellbeing focus
groups have been scheduled to help
identify potential health initiatives that
will complement the City’s current Health
and Wellbeing Plan.
Workers’ Compensation
In 2016/17, the number of Workers’
Compensation claims reported and
lodged with LGIS was 51, with four
declined. Concurrently, improvements
within the Injury Management system
and additional OSH initiatives have
been instigated with a number of
programs to be rolled out over the
next financial period.

City of Stirling Volunteer

Lost-time Injuries
In line with the Worksafe Australia National Standard, the City has
adopted the measure of lost-time injury frequency rate to assist in
tracking incidents relating to Occupational Health and Safety. For
ease of interpretation, the frequency rate provides the number of
injury occurrences for each one million hours worked.
The following formula is applied:
(number of lost-time injuries in accounting period)

x 1,000,000

Occupational Safety and Health
Learning and Development
A range of specialist learning
opportunities were coordinated and
implemented across the City, including:
• First aid training
• Health and Safety
representative training
• Suspicious package handling

(total hours worked in accounting period)

• Manual task training
For the City of Stirling in 2016/2017, the result is as follows:
(19 lost time injuries in accounting period)		

• Ergonomic training.

x 1,000,000

(1,676,658 hours worked in accounting period)

Therefore, the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate = 11.33
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Our Volunteers
The City of Stirling is fortunate to
have over 550 people volunteering
their services across the City. These
dedicated people contribute in excess
of 70,000 hours of their time each year
to help our community. During 2016/17,
the City has continuously improved
training and induction processes
upholding the National Standards
Framework for volunteers, ensuring that
all volunteers are trained to undertake
their role in a professional and safe
manner. The City has increased
the number of its volunteers from a
multicultural background and is also
recruiting from a younger demographic.
This has had an impact on the type of
projects the volunteers support in the
community.
This year we have been approached by
ACTIV to be used as the benchmark for
their Volunteer Department review.
Volunteers deliver many services
and activities that provide valuable
assistance to residents, including
the below:
Community Day Clubs
The City of Stirling operates three adult
day clubs aimed at facilitating social
interaction and supporting wellness.
The Nollamara and Stirling centres cater
for Home and Community Care (HACC)
eligible seniors, with the Scarborough
centre offering programs and
activities for adults with an intellectual
disability. Volunteers provide support
via activities, skills development,
concerts and outing supervision, meal
preparation and transport assistance.
Community and Activity Centres
The City of Stirling operates many
community centres, providing a
hub for various groups within the
community. These centres are home
to innovative community development
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projects, seniors’ groups, pensioners’
groups, the Stirling Silver program
(activities for active seniors) and
a great number of other user
groups who pay a fee for usage.
Volunteers support the Stirling Silver
program by providing administration
assistance, information and a friendly
face to community members.
Connect 2
Connect 2 helps HACC-eligible clients
connect with their local community.
Eligible residents can be part of small
(up to 10 people) social groups, or
they can access activities at their local
community centres. Volunteers assist
with bus transport and provide support
at small social group gatherings. The
City provides a niche home-visitors
program assisting isolated HACCeligible clients to remain connected
in their own homes. A volunteer visits
these people weekly.
Conversational English
Volunteers coordinate English
conversation groups held at Stirling
Libraries - Mirrabooka and Osborne.
This group is an opportunity for
attendees to practice their English
language skills in an informal setting.
Volunteers plan and lead conversation
topics during group sessions. This
program has been particularly
successful due to the fact that it is
largely run by newly arrived volunteers.
Animal Care Facility
The City of Stirling has an Animal Care
Facility (ACF) for lost or wandering
dogs. Dogs are collected by their
owners or made available for rehoming. Volunteers assist by cleaning
kennels as well as feeding and
walking dogs. Volunteers also assist
at the facility by attending to daily
administration and reception duties.

Books on Wheels
Library Services operate six library
branches. The Books on Wheels service
is available to City of Stirling residents
who cannot visit a public library due to
age or physical disability. Volunteers
help deliver this service by selecting,
delivering or returning books using the
Books on Wheels van.
Community Men’s Shed
The Stirling Community Men’s Shed
allows social interaction for men in a
friendly and safe atmosphere. ‘The
Shed’ is aimed primarily at men over
the age of 55 who are seeking mental
and physical stimulation. Activities at
the Shed include woodworking and
gardening and it also offers male health
workshops, along with guest speakers
at regular meetings. Male volunteers
assist members with activities, as
well as provide one-on-one activity
assistance for HACC participants.
Family Services
The City’s Family Services team
runs a range of programs that aim
to strengthen families, connect
communities and promote health and
wellbeing. Programs include bilingual
volunteer customer service assistance
at the information hub; parenting,
craft, art, dance and photography
workshops; intergenerational activities;
sporting clinics and healthy lifestyle
initiatives. There are also several small
events to celebrate different occasions
throughout the year. Volunteers
assist with the organisation and
implementation of these programs,
activities and events.
Justice of the Peace
The City provides a Justice of the
Peace (JP) service at its Administration
Centre. Registered JPs can volunteer
their services.

Community Food Services

Community Tree Planting Program

Support for Volunteers

The City operates the largest Meals
on Wheels program in the state. The
program provides two-course, nutritious
meals and essential social interaction
seven days a week to eligible clients.

The Community Tree Planting Program
aims to increase the number of street
trees in the City with help from the
community. During the May to August
planting season, Volunteer Street Tree
Captains and Volunteer Street Tree
Planters join forces with local residents
to plant street trees in their suburb to
revitalise their streets. Events are held
on Saturday mornings for people of
all ages, creating a fun and productive
atmosphere.

Each year, the City undertakes programs
and improvements to ensure that the
City’s volunteers are supported in their
roles. In 2016/17, these included:

Job Shop

• Continuation of the annual survey to
ascertain volunteer satisfaction

Volunteers deliver meals using their own
vehicles, and have personal contact
with clients who may have limited
contact with others during the day. The
City now provides meal delivery to a
number of other local governments.
As a result, the number of volunteers
working in this area has significantly
increased.
Mount Flora Museum
The Mount Flora Museum, housed
in a former water tank in Waterman’s
Bay, exhibits photographs, stories,
artefacts and everyday memorabilia
that explore the history of the City of
Stirling. Volunteers assist by meeting
and welcoming visitors to the museum
once per month.
Stirling Silver Program
Aimed at active seniors, the Stirling
Silver program is run through our
community centres, and caters for a
wide range of interests. Volunteers
assist with workshops and bus visits
to various destinations within the Perth
region, providing entertainment and
social engagement opportunities for
community members.
Community Transport Services
Community Transport Services
provides transport options to HACCeligible clients for a wide range
of activities including one-on-one
shopping trips, shopping buses,
and transport to and from medical
appointments. The service also offers
social outings. Volunteers assist by
using their own vehicles to transport
clients for one-on-one activities or by
joining the bus on group outings.

The Job Shop service, run by
volunteers, offers an appointmentbased service providing advice,
guidance and employability skills. It is
based in the Osborne Activity Centre,
and due to the success of this program
we are expanding to offer a new Job
Shop in Mirrabooka Community Hub.
Local Committee and Groups
Our volunteers also contribute their time
to local committees and community
groups including:
• Autumn clubs
• Pensioner groups
• DSAP – Disability Advisory Panel
• Aboriginal Action Group
• Ratepayer, Probus, Rotary, Lions
Groups
• Consultative People with Disability
Group

• A mandatory volunteer induction
program to ensure that all volunteers
receive important information before
their deployment
• Updated Volunteer Manual and
brochures which outline their rights
and responsibilities

• Continuation of the ‘Volunteer of the
Month’ program. Each nominee is
then eligible for the Premier’s Awards
held annually
• An update to all volunteer
information, license checks, areas of
deployment and volunteer position
descriptions
• Annual volunteer event to formally
acknowledge the valuable work
undertaken by volunteers within our
community
• A number of informal events are
undertaken each year to enable
volunteers to be recognised for their
efforts with Stirling residents
• First aid training for volunteers
operating in high-risk areas
• Inclusion of 10 volunteers from key
HACC areas in staff grief training
module.

• Sporting clubs
• Parents and Friends Groups
• Playgroups
• Surf Lifesaving
• Volunteering WA.
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Awards and Recognition
The City of Stirling received a number
of prestigious awards in 2016/17.

at the 2016 Local Government
Professionals WA, Community
Development Awards.

These awards acknowledge the City’s
innovative work in key areas and
demonstrate that Stirling is a leader
in local government. These awards
also recognise the City’s philosophy
of continuously improving the way it
provides services, facilities, programs
and activities. Some key awards won by
the City in 2016/17 include:

Premier’s Australia Day
Active Citizenship Awards

• The City was awarded a
commendation for the Beaufort
Street Plan Project in the Public
Engagement and Community
Planning Category at the PIA Awards.

The Active Citizenship Award was
awarded to Oliver Lovelle for his
commitment and contribution to the
community. Oliver worked extensively
with a diverse range of community
groups in the Dianella area.

• The Stirling Women’s Centre was
recognised with an award for its
support of multicultural families
experiencing family violence at the
Department of Human Services
2017 Multicultural Services Refugee
Week Awards.
• The City received a gold award at
the Australian Reporting Awards for
the 2015/16 Annual Report.
• The City was a finalist in the
Heritage Practices by a Local
Government Category at the
WA Heritage Awards.
• Waste Services was presented a
Certificate of Appreciation from WA
Disability Enterprises (WADE) for its
innovative program at the Balcatta
Recycling Centre which offers
employment opportunities to people
with a disability.
• The City’s Multicultural Project
Officer was awarded the Outstanding
Individual Achievement Award at
the 2016 OMI Multicultural
Recognition Awards.
• The City’s Team Leader Cultural
Diversity and Community was
awarded the Young Leader Award
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The City’s Australia Day Awards were
attended by Labor MP and Member
for Perth, Tim Hammond, and Liberal
MP and Member for Scarborough,
Liza Harvey, with Colleen Hayward AM
(Australian of the Year Finalist 2016), the
Australia Day Ambassador for the event.

The Community Citizen of the Year
Winner was Michael Playforth, who has
completed an astounding 30 years’
service of voluntary work for St Vincent
de Paul Society, Osborne Park. His
contribution to Vinnies has enabled
him to help others in the community
that need help due to poverty and
homelessness.
The Active Citizenship Award for a
person under 25 years was awarded
to Wahida Samim. Wahida is a leader
within her own ethnic Hazara Afghan
community and a youth leader with the
Multicultural Youth Advocacy Network
WA, and she has also made important
contributions to the community. In
2014, Wahida attended the FUSE
Multicultural Youth summit in Sydney,
providing her with an opportunity to
develop leadership skills in relation
to public speaking and advocacy.
Following this, Wahida applied these
leadership skills, working with others
to plan and implement Perth’s Catalyst
Youth Summit.

Community Citizen of the Year – Senior
(over 65 years) winner was Diane
Watts. Diane has demonstrated tireless
dedication over the last 13 years in
offering support and encouragement
to individuals and assisting community
organisations through fundraising
events (using her skills and abilities in
event coordinating and hospitality) in
order to give back to the community.
Diane achieved this despite ongoing
disabilities after surviving surgery to
remove a brain tumour, the result of
which left her blind in one eye and deaf
in one ear. These medical challenges
have not stopped Di in continuing to
support community initiatives through
her fundraising. Diane has been
instrumental in running fundraising
events that have raised almost
$200,000 for a range of not-for-profit
organisations.
The Active Citizenship Award for
a community group or event was
presented to Robin Cohen and Warren
Kotkis of Community Security Group.
Robin and Warren perform the roles of
Operations Manager and Head Trainer
respectively as volunteers, and devote
many hours to the group each week.
Under their leadership over the past
24 years, more than 250 young adults
have learned the necessary skills to
provide a vital support service to secure
the Jewish community in Perth. Robin
and Warren are exemplary role models
and efficient, devoted and highly
valued members of the Perth Jewish
community.
The City of Stirling Volunteer of the Year
was awarded to George Anderson.
George volunteers at the Osborne
Community Centre in the Job Shop
program and was nominated for
his willingness to support wherever
possible, his conscientiousness and
his reliability. George has assisted over
300 people through his service and has
seen over 40 people find employment.

Connecting with
the Community
The City of Stirling community
is inclusive and connected, with
community members given every
opportunity to be actively involved
in community programs, events and
initiatives in a variety of ways.
Communication
The City has a positive relationship with
the local and state media and responds
to questions from journalists on a daily
basis. In the interest of transparency, the
City has a strict policy of never issuing a
‘no comment’ response, endeavouring
to provide an open and honest dialogue
within the required timeframe.
In 2016/17, the City responded to
265 media enquiries from local and
state-wide media outlets, covering a
variety of topics. These topics included
planning matters, the City’s budget,
community events and environmental
issues, as well as waste collection
and disposal. Additionally, during the
2016/17 year, the Mayor and officers
were called on to give 86 television and
radio interviews. These activities, along
with the circulation of 50 positive media
releases, generated well over $3 million
in unpaid media coverage for the City.
The City is committed to providing
ongoing updates to the community
about important issues. As such, it
uses a variety of channels, including
a monthly newsletter (Stirling Scoop),
a quarterly publication (Stirling Scene)
delivered to 98,000 households in the
City, and monthly radio broadcasts.
In addition, updates are shared with
the community via the City’s website,
publications, posters, e-newsletters,
community events, Facebook, YouTube,
Twitter and other forms of advertising.
The Stirling Scoop is a monthly
newsletter featuring timely updates
on the City’s news, events, views and
activities. It is published in three local

newspapers that provide coverage
across the City’s entire geographical
area and is widely read by our
community.
The Stirling Scene is an eight-page
publication delivered to 98,000
households on a quarterly basis. This
publication employs a conversational
tone that aims to encourage a high
level of engagement with residents
and an active role in community life.
Accordingly, this publication features a
‘Kids Corner’ section, frequently asked
questions, a community noticeboard,
vouchers for local businesses, and
updates on major projects.
In conjunction with Stirling Scoop and
Stirling Scene, the City has a fullpage advertisement (Stirling Notices)
each week in three local newspapers
to deliver relevant messages to the
community.
Each year the City produces hundreds
of publications, from simple flyers
and posters to the Annual Report,
Strategic Community Plan and
Corporate Business Plan. In addition,
the popular Community Calendar is
produced annually, containing the
dates of important community events,
Council and committee meetings,
firebreak details and animal registration
deadlines.
Publications are delivered either direct
to householders or distributed through
the City’s libraries, recreation and
community centres.
Digital Communications
The City’s website is the City’s most
accessible source of information for the
public. As the City expands its online
presence, so does the significance of
this resource.
In 2016/17, the City’s website was
visited 1.4 million times by 743,000
unique visitors with an average number
of 2.1 pages viewed per visit. New
visitors to the site made up 76.9 per cent

of site traffic, with 23.1 per cent of traffic
being attributed to returning visitors.
Community members can subscribe
to 34 different City e-newsletters from
the website, covering a wide range
of topics including libraries, arts and
events, sustainable living, recreation
and community safety. Throughout
2016/17, a total of 210 e-newsletters
were sent to over 59,000 subscribers.
Social media continues to be a useful
tool for sharing City information with
our community. The City employs a
centralised Facebook strategy, whereby
one site delivers timely and targeted
messages to key audiences about
many of the City’s 200-plus services.
The City’s Facebook page has attracted
a following of almost 34,000 followers
and in 2016/17, the City delivered key
messages to over 929,000 people
through social media advertising.
Twitter is used at a corporate level to
promote programs, activities, events
and consultation, and to relay important
and sometimes urgent information. In
2016/17 the City tweeted 115 times to
our 4,175 followers.
The City continues to lead the industry
in digital storytelling, the majority of
which is available via the City’s YouTube
channel. The City uses these digital
stories to promote City initiatives and
services including ‘The Year in Review’
(a digital interpretation of the Annual
Report), time-lapse videos of the
construction of the Scarborough Beach
Pool and the annual Summerset Arts
Festival highlights reel.
Digital presentations are shown directly
to industry leaders, shown on our
network of digital screens throughout
City facilities, displayed as cinema
advertisements, embedded in our
website and ultimately, uploaded to our
YouTube channel. In 2016/17, the City
uploaded 25 digital stories to YouTube
with total views reaching 4,161.
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Paw-some Day Out 2017

Social media is now identified as an
integral medium for engaging with the
community, and with new and exciting
opportunities presenting themselves,
we will continue to develop our digital
presence in the future.
Community Consultation
The City of Stirling is committed to
including its residents in decision
making via community consultation,
providing community members the
opportunity to provide feedback on City
programs and issues.
The City conducted numerous
community engagement events this
financial year, including the Better
Suburbs Project, one of the City’s
newest and largest planning projects.
This project will deliver a plan to
encourage development of a range
of housing types, improved open
spaces and more tree coverage. This
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will result in major social, economic
and environmental benefits to local
residents and the City.
The City sought the community’s
views and input through a variety of
methods at various public locations in
the 2016/17 financial year. Information
gathered from the community was
then presented at six vision and design
workshops held in March and April
2017. Further workshops covered
the areas of Dianella, Balga, parts
of Hamersley, Nollamara, parts of
Balcatta, Tuart Hill, Westminster, Yokine,
Mirrabooka (excluding Mirrabooka
Town Centre) and Wanneroo Road
and Morley Drive Corridors. In May
2016, discussions were held with
various ethnic groups including the
Vietnamese Catholic Community
Group, Al Furgan Islamic Community,
South Sudanese Community, the Smith
Family, Pan African Community, WA

Chin Community and the Vietnamese
Buddhist Community. Stakeholder
workshops were also held in June 2017
and further centre design workshops
with stakeholders are scheduled for
early in the next financial year.
Finally, the City conducted 47 statutory
public consultations in 2016/17.
Customer Service
Customer service is the responsibility of
all City of Stirling employees. The City is
committed to delivering high standards
of service to ensure our customers
receive a positive experience, in line
with the City’s Customer Service
Charter commitments.
To embed a customer-focussed culture,
customer service plays a pivotal role
in the City’s corporate orientation
program. Information regarding the
City’s service standards and the

importance of communication and
customer engagement is presented to
new employees. A customer service
e-learning program is also individually
completed.
The City’s dedicated Contact Centre
received 231,000 enquiries during the
2016/17 financial year. An average of
200 customer emails are also managed
via the City’s Contact Centre each day.
Over 15,500 enquiries were handled by
the Customer Service Front Counter
team at our Administration Centre and
90,000 transactions were receipted. In
addition, over 3,000 pets were newly
registered and 6,000 animal registration
tags were processed and distributed.
Community Festivals and Events
The City of Stirling is vibrant and active,
and continues to host a large number
of high-quality community events and
activities of varying sizes throughout
the year.
The ever-popular Summerset Arts
Festival successfully capped off its
ninth year in 2017, transforming parks,
buildings and neighbourhoods into
pop-up venues, creative spaces and
hubs of activity. Celebrating the City’s
unique lifestyle, diversity, heritage and
culture, the festival attracted more
than 25,000 people to over 50 events
held at a variety of locations across
the City of Stirling. The award-winning
Sunset Veranda pop-up venue returned
to Scarborough Beach for a superb
season of world-class entertainment,
once again as an official Fringe World
venue, and the free Summerset Concert
at Stirling Civic Gardens was also a
festival highlight, with local and national
music acts entertaining up to 5,000.
The Kids Kerfuffle obstacle course
and family fun day out exploded in
popularity in its fourth year. Held at the
beautiful Carine Open Space, this sell-

out event gave children the opportunity
to participate in an obstacle adventure
along with a raft of peripheral free
activities and entertainment.
The City continued its partnership with
the Western Australian Academy of
Performing Arts to present WAAPA in
the Park, a free concert under the stars
with performances and production by
WAAPA students, the up-and-coming
stars of WA.
Free interactive arts installation and
workshop, the Automobile Lab, saw
nearly 1,000 children draw their dream
automobile and then drive a digital
version of it in a virtual world.
The Blink Photographic Award
Exhibition and workshop series
attracted almost 100 entrants and over
1,000 attendees, giving the community
an opportunity to explore the art of
photography.
In addition, a series of regular arts
workshops were run throughout the
year as part of the City’s Mind Your
Arts program, designed to give the
community a taste of different art
practices at subsidised rates. Fourteen
workshops were held throughout
2016/17, including rug weaving, paper
quilling, wire sculpting, stationery
foiling, painting and camera skills.
The City is also committed to supporting
community and not-for-profit groups’
delivery of events and activities that
help build connections and positive
communities within the City.
Qualifying events and projects that have
a community or arts aspect are funded
through the Cultural Development
Fund as well as receiving value-in-kind
support. The City is proud to have
funded 32 events through this grant in
2016/17, totalling $200,000. ‘Level 1 –
Flagship’ events included the Inglewood
Night Markets, Wembley Downs District
Fair, Rotary Carine Community Fair,

Osborne Park Agricultural Show, Mount
Lawley Christmas Festival and NAIDOC
Mirrabooka Celebration.
The City also sponsors commercial
events that have a significant
community benefit or meet the
needs of demographics not currently
catered for by existing events.
Sponsored events in 2016/17
include King of the Point (Trigg), Kids
Wonderland (Stirling), Wanderlust 108
(Scarborough), Community Christmas
Pageant (Innaloo), and Sunset Wine
(Scarborough), to the total value of
$30,000.
In 2016/17, over 200 events were run
within the City, entertaining thousands
of residents and visitors to the City.
Public Art and Visual Art Collection
The City’s Public Art Collection currently
has 38 artworks and is valued at
approximately $2,033,700. In 2016/17,
the City commissioned ‘Rainbow Bee
Eater’ (mural) by Kerise Delcoure at
Carine Regional Open Space, as well
as ‘The Market Gardeners’ and ‘Off
to the Community Centre’ (murals) by
Rebecca Cool at the Osborne Library.
The City’s Visual Art Collection currently
has 195 works and is valued at
approximately $408,040. In 2016/17 the
City acquired three artworks - Summer
Blues #1 by Jo Darbyshire, Pool
series 1, 2 & 3 by Joanna Lamb, and
Donna (Corrupt series) by Mike Gray,
which are to be displayed at the City’s
new Scarborough Beach Pool and
community facilities.
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Corporate Governance
The City of Stirling is
serious about preventing
misconduct, corruption and
fraud, and has introduced
a Code of Conduct for
all Elected Members,
employees and the
City’s consultants and/or
contractors. The City has
a Statement of Business
Ethics which provides
guidance for all sectors
of the community when
conducting business with
the City.

Statement of Business Ethics

Code of Conduct

• Dealing ethically, fairly and honestly

Elected Members and employees are
bound by the Code of Conduct. The
code describes the standards of ethical
and moral behaviour. The code covers
relationships between Councillors and
employees, expected professional
conduct, use of Council information
and resources, conflicts of interest, gifts
and benefits and dispute resolution
procedures.

• Taking all reasonable measures to
prevent disclosure of confidential
information

The Statement of Business Ethics
provides guidance for all sectors of the
community when conducting business
with the City. It outlines the City’s
ethical standards and our expectation
that goods and providers will comply
with these standards in all their
dealings with the City. The following key
principles must be observed:
• Complying with all Australian laws
• Understanding the City’s policies,
guidelines and procedures on
purchasing
• Providing accurate and reliable
advice and information when
required
• Declaring actual or perceived
conflicts of interest as soon as
practicable

• Not engaging in any form of
collusion, especially with City
employees
• Not discussing City business
or information with the media
• Reporting any unethical practices
in business relationships.

It also includes information on the City’s
commitment to ethical dealings with
providers, and what can be expected
from us, such as:
• Using public resources effectively
and efficiently
• Dealing with all individuals and
organisations in a fair, honest and
ethical manner
• Avoiding any conflicts of interest
(whether real or perceived)
• Never seeking gifts or other
personal benefits
• Treating all suppliers impartially and
fairly, and giving equal access to
information to assist with quotations,
tendering or supply
• Fully and clearly documenting
procurements for an effective
audit trail, allowing for effective
performance reviews of contracts
• As far as reasonably possible,
purchasing energy-efficient
equipment, environmentally-friendly
products, and products containing
recycled materials, taking into
account value for money
• Not requesting tenders unless
the City has a firm commitment
to proceed to contract (however,
the Council reserves the right not
to proceed with any tender so
advertised)
• Not disclosing confidential or
proprietary information.
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The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is established
in accordance with s7.1A of the Local
Government Act and reports to Council
on all matters relating to:
• The integrity of the City’s financial
statements
• Compliance with legal and statutory
requirements
• External audit
• Internal audit
• Risk Management Framework.
Audit Committee Activity
The Audit Committee is established
under section 7.1A of the Local
Government Act 1995 and is an
Advisory Committee to council. The
Audit Committee comprises the
following members:
• Councillor K Caddy
• Councillor J Ferrante
• Councillor M Irwin
• Councillor G Italiano JP (Mayor)
• Councillor D Lagan
• Councillor D Michael
(resigned in March 2017)
• Councillor S Proud JP
• Councillor T Tyzack
• Independent Member
Stephen Linden.

The Audit Committee meets on
a quarterly basis. The duties and
responsibilities of the committee are
detailed in the Terms of Reference
and include:

External Audit

• Internal audit, internal control and
risk management

In accordance with his contract,
the external auditor attends Audit
Committee meetings as required.

• Effectiveness of governance
processes to comply with
relevant regulatory and legislative
requirements and promote lawful
and ethical behaviour
• Finance reporting and external audit
• Such other business that may be
referred by the council or Chief
Executive Officer.
Independent Member
Stephen Linden had a long career at
Fremantle Ports in middle management
positions. For the past 20-plus years
he has been a director of companies
providing governance, internal audit
and risk management advisory services
in Western Australia, the Northern
Territory and the Australian Capital
Territory.
Mr Linden is well qualified with a
Bachelor of Business, is a CPA and
is the independent member on a
number of other audit committees. He
has been a member of the Institute
of Internal Auditors (IIA) international
guidance-setting committees for the
past nine years. A former director of
IIA – Australia, Mr Linden is currently
Chapter Chair of IIA - WA. He has been
a member of the City’s Audit Committee
since 2007 and his current appointment
expires in October 2017.

The Audit Committee recommends
the appointment of the City’s external
auditor to Council.

Each year, the external auditor makes
a presentation to the Audit Committee
on the audit plan for the forthcoming
external audit.
The external auditor presents the
management letter, if applicable, to
the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee monitors
the progress in implementing any
action plans arising from the
management letter.
Risk Management
The Audit Committee is responsible for
monitoring the City’s Risk Management
Framework. The framework sets out the
elements to assist the City to manage
business risks effectively through the
application of processes, procedures,
systems, activities, policies and
strategies. The framework has nine
key objective areas tailored around
embedding risk management culture,
systems, tools and actions.
The Corporate Risk Management
Group has been active establishing
management of risk across the
business functions and ensuring
corporate consistency in the application
and approach. Each directorate has
appointed responsible officers to assist
the business functions in identifying,
managing and reporting risks.
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Compliance
The Audit Committee recommends a
report to Council on the City’s annual
compliance audit return, which is
required to be signed by the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer and forwarded
to the Department of Local Government
and Communities.
The Audit Committee receives a
report on the six-monthly control selfassessment process for compliance
in a number of areas that are no
longer part of the Department of Local
Government and Communities annual
audit return.
An internal audit of legislative obligations
was reported to the Audit Committee in
September 2015.
The Audit Committee receives a
report from the Internal Auditor in
relation to the Chief Executive Officer’s
biennial review of the City’s legislative
compliance systems and procedures.
Internal Audit
The City has implemented an effective
internal audit function, subject to a
five-yearly quality assurance review in
accordance with the Institute of Internal
Auditors standards. The last review was
conducted in 2012.
The Audit Committee recommends the
rolling three-year strategic audit plan to
Council, and annual internal audit plan
based on the first year of the three-year
plan, which guides the activities of the
internal audit function.
Internal audit reports, complete with
agreed management action plans, are
considered by the Audit Committee
following completion.

The Audit Committee receives a
comprehensive quarterly report from
the internal auditor on the activities
of the internal audit function in
comparison with the approved annual
internal audit plan.
An experienced full-time internal
auditor, supported by audit
subcontractors under a co-sourcing
model, staffs the internal audit function.
During 2016/17, the Audit Committee
received internal audit reports on:
• Physical Security
• Communications and Social Media
• Recreation and Aquatic Facilities
• Corporate Sustainability
• Payroll.
In February 2013, the WA Government
amended Regulation 17 of the Local
Government (Audit) Regulations
1996 to place greater responsibility
on Audit Committees to review the
City’s systems and procedures in
relation to risk management, internal
control and legislative compliance, at
least on a biennial basis. As a result,
the Audit Committee now receives
reports from the internal auditor on
risk management, internal control and
legislative compliance on a biennial
basis as noted above.

National Competition Policy
During the 2016/17 financial year, the
City met its obligations with regard
to National Competition Policy. The
City has no local laws or policies that
contain anti-competitive provisions.
No complaints were received during
the period.
Professional Standards
The City of Stirling manages the
complaint process by supporting
business units to identify, establish
and maintain best practice in
information, complaint and business
risk-management processes.
Included in this process is ensuring
members of the community are
dealt with in a fair, transparent and
accountable manner by:
• Providing education and training to
employees on probity, conduct and
ethical decision making
• Reviewing decisions affecting
customer service
• Investigating customer complaints
and ensuring that all complaints
are investigated appropriately and
in accordance with organisational
management practices and
procedures
• Responding to requests from the
Ombudsman WA, Corruption and
Crime Commission and the PublicSector Commission
• Ensuring internal processes are
robust and have been followed
correctly
• Identifying opportunities for
systemic improvement.

The Audit Committee monitors the
implementation of management action
plans contained in internal audit reports.
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Continuous Improvement
The City of Stirling commits to improving customer satisfaction.
The following table demonstrates the City’s achievements in reaching this goal.
Table 6: Mystery Shopping Results
Mystery Shopping Benchmark 90%

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Presentation

92.6%

92.3%

96.4%

Customer Courtesy

91.7%

90.7%

92.8%

Knowledge

83.1%

83.7%

87.8%

Overall Result

90.8%

90.3%

93.1%

To improve service and enhance employees’ knowledge and skills in identifying and managing complaints, the City delivered
training in complaint handling, conflict resolution, risk and investigations.
Table 7: Training Delivered
Training
Employee training

Ten courses delivered

Educational forums for employees

Two forums conducted on conflict resolution, risk, fraud and
investigations

Customer Feedback
The City received 13 complaints from the Ombudsman Office, one that was referred back to the City and 12 which were not
substantiated.
Table 8: Customer Feedback
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Accolades

372

396

435

Complaints

376

618

549

Freedom of information customer requests

68

56

70

Multiple customer questions and responses

259 responses

443 responses

359 responses
addressing
983 questions

Ombudsman WA complaints

21

32

13
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Asset Management
The City of Stirling is committed to
delivering agreed and desired levels
of service in the most cost-effective
manner for the present and future City
of Stirling community. The City achieves
this through best-practice leadership
and management of all assets and
service portfolios.
The City owns, operates and maintains
community infrastructure assets valued
at approximately $3.1 billion, including
stormwater, transport, parks and
building assets. These assets support
community access to services and
facilities, enhancing the wellbeing of the
City of Stirling community. The City’s
assets represent an investment of $3.1
billion, built up over many decades.
Failure of these assets can have
dramatic and far-reaching consequences
for the community we serve. At the heart
of the City is the efficient management
of these assets in order to maintain safe,
reliable and effective services that help
achieve the City’s strategic priorities and
service goals.
Through its asset-management
practices, the City ensures that it
continues to provide agreed and
desired levels of services for its
community, and guarantees the
City remains sustainable in the long
term. The City has in place an Asset
Management Framework that consists
of the following:
• An Asset Management Policy which
broadly outlines the principles
and mandated requirements for
undertaking asset management
across the City in a systematic and
coordinated way, consistent with the
City’s Strategic Community Plan

• An Asset Management Strategy
which sets out the high-level overall
asset management activities within
the City
• Asset Management Plans which
collectively outline the asset
activities and programs for each
service area and resources, that are
applied to provide a defined level
of service in the most cost-effective
way. Factors that underpin the City’s
asset management plans include:
»» Knowing what the City owns or
has legal responsibility for
»» Recording assets in a register to
an identifiable level
»» Monitoring the condition,
functionality, capacity,
performance, utilisation and
costs of assets down to the
managed component level, and
aggregation of this data to give
outputs of cost and performance
at the portfolio levels
»» Understanding the current levels
of service in terms of cost,
reliability, provision and quality
of service, as well as the City’s
responsiveness to asset failures
»» Understanding the likely future
levels of service required
based on population growth,
demographic changes and
community expectations
»» Understanding the long-term (10
years plus) funding needs of the
City in order to meet community
expectations in capital
expenditure.
The City’s Asset Management
Framework contributes significantly to
the achievement of the City’s strategic
priorities and service goals.

Risk Management
Risk management continues to be
recognised and promoted as an
essential element of good corporate
governance and is used to support
the achievement of strategic and
operational objectives.
Risk Management Framework
The City’s Risk Management Policy,
adopted in February 2012, provides
high-level commitment to the
implementation of risk management in
accordance with the Australian and New
Zealand Standard AS/NSZ 31000:2009
Risk Management – Principles and
Guidelines. The City’s Risk Management
Framework was reviewed and updated
during the financial year to demonstrate
continual improvement and reflect how
risk management has been integrated
and linked to key business processes
across the organisation. An annual
corporate risk management plan is
developed to guide the implementation
of key risk management initiatives. In
developing the plan, the attributes of the
standard are considered as well as the
environment in which the City operates.
Key Activities completed
during 2016/17
The implementation of the City’s
Corporate Risk Register was finalised
and rolled out across each of the
Business Units. The City’s principal
risks are identified, assessed and
captured in the City’s Corporate Risk
Register. Adequacy assessment of risk
controls are conducted and suitable
mitigation strategies are implemented
where appropriate to mitigate or reduce
the severity of the risks identified.
The City’s Risk Management
Framework continues to be embedded
with risk identification and assessments
being conducted across all Business
Units at strategic, operational and
project levels.
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Risk Management Committees
The Corporate Risk Management
Group oversees the Risk Management
Framework and reports through the
executive team to the Audit Committee
in respect to the requirements of the
Local Government (Audit) Regulations
1996 regulation 17.
In addition to the two groups mentioned
above, various committees and working
groups meet throughout the year,
focussing on risks specific to their areas
of operation, including:
• Safety, Health and Operational Risk
Management Group
• Works Safety Committee
• Local Emergency Management
Committee
• Crime Prevention Working Group
• Natural Environment Working Group
• Road Safety Working Group.
A key focus for the City over the
next year will be enhancing the risk
management process, particularly
the ongoing monitoring and review
elements. By implementing an
effective and efficient risk management
information system, it will ensure
commitment to achieving a risk
management culture.

Sustainable Procurement
and Responsible Investment
The City of Stirling undertakes
sustainable procurement processes
primarily via its internal management
practice that provides guidance for
employees to minimise environmental
and negative social impacts from
purchasing goods and services. This
may occur across several key areas
including people; policy, strategy
and communications; procurement
processes; engaging suppliers;
and communicating measurements
and results. To achieve sustainable
procurement outcomes, the City aims
to identify and procure products and
services that:
• Are necessary;
• Conserve natural resources through
energy, water and fuel efficiency;
• Are environmentally sound in
manufacture, use, and disposal;
• Minimise waste through the use of
recycled non-toxic materials that
are able to be refurbished, reused,
recycled or reclaimed; and

The City has continued its sustainability
procurement of 2,000,000 biodegradable
plastic dog waste bags that are
provided in parks and reserves for
community use. This helps to reduce
the unintended environmental impacts
from single use, non-biodegradable
bags going to landfill or ending up as
litter in the environment. As part of our
sustainable procurement program, the
City has also continued to purchase 100
per cent recycled and carbon-neutral
office paper for use across the City.
In relation to sustainable investment,
the City updated its Investments
Policy to align with Council’s values
through environmentally and socially
responsible investment criteria, giving
preference to financial institutions that
do not invest in or finance the fossil
fuel industry. As of June 2017, the City
had 64 per cent of its investments in
banks that do not finance the fossil fuel
industry. This percentage has dropped
from 77 per cent last year. The City will
be investigating areas to improve its
responsible investment portfolio.

• Use renewable energy technologies.
Sustainable procurement is included
as content in the City’s Sustainability
e-learning module and all relevant staff
complete this annually. Sustainable
procurement processes have been used
in purchasing vehicles as part of the
City’s Fleet Emissions Reduction Action
Plan 2015-2020. The City has set
minimum standards for carbon intensity
(CO2/km) for new cars in the fleet.
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Integrated Planning and
Reporting Framework
Reporting Framework
In 2011, the Western Australian State Government introduced legislation requiring local governments to prepare an Integrated
Planning and Reporting Framework. The Framework requires the development of a ‘Plan for the Future’, comprising a ten-year
Strategic Community Plan, a four-year Corporate Business Plan and supporting resource plans. Diagram 3, displayed on page
69, highlights the components of the Framework. The City has in place an Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework that
meets all legislative requirements.
The City of Stirling’s Strategic Community Plan 2016-2026 outlines the community’s vision for the next 10 years, delivered by
six theme areas as depicted in Diagram 2 below.
Diagram 2: Overview of the City’s Strategic Themes and Objectives

Theme 2
Sustainable Environment
• Clean and Waste Wise City
• Energy Wise City

Theme 1
Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods

• Water Wise City
• Wildlife and Natural Habitat

Theme 3
Engaged Communities

• A Strong Sense of Place
• Housing Choice

• Harmonious and Inclusive City

• Beautiful Streetscapes
and Open Spaces

• Active Participation and
Volunteering

• Safer City
• Health and Wellbeing
• Active and Vibrant City

Theme 4
Accessible and
Connected City

Vision
The City of Stirling will be a place
where people choose to live, work,
visit and invest. We will have safe
and thriving neighbourhoods, with
a range of housing, employment
and recreational opportunities.
We will engage with our diverse
community to help shape our
future into the City of Stirling - City
of Choice.

• Customer Focus
• Prudent Financial Management

• Travel Choice

• Investing for the Future

• Safer Roads

• Employer of Choice

• Smart Parking

• Integrated Planning and Reporting

Theme 5
Prosperous City
• A Great Place to Work, Invest
and Do Business
• Destination City
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Theme 6
Making It Happen
• Good Governance

• Planning for Accessibility

• Connected City

• Two-way Dialogue

• Partner of Choice and
Persuasive Advocate

The Corporate Business Plan outlines
how the City aims to achieve the
objectives of the Strategic Community
Plan over a four-year period, through
the delivery of services, programs,
projects and activities. The Corporate
Business Plan is updated annually
to reflect changing priorities and
circumstances.

Focus and Structure of the
Integrated Planning Report
The focus of the Integrated Planning
Report is the City’s progress and
performance in 2016/17 against the
Strategic Community Plan (2016-2026)
and the Corporate Business Plan
(2016/17-2019/20). Results are collated
from a variety of sources including
an independent survey of residents,
Australian Bureau of Statistics data, and
internal data analysis based on Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) indicators. The
report is divided into two parts:

1. The Strategic Performance Report
highlights major achievements
and challenges according to
strategic themes, details the City’s
performance against planned
strategic actions in the Corporate
Business Plan for 2016/17, highlights
plans for 2017/18, and outlines
progress towards the vision and
theme strategic objectives set out in
its Strategic Community Plan (20162026).
2. The Service Performance Report
focusses on the City’s performance
in the delivery of services and reports
against the service commitments
made in the Corporate Business
Plan (2016/17-2019/20). The delivery
of these services is fundamental
to achieving the theme objectives
set out in the Strategic Community
Plan (2016-2026). As services often
contribute to multiple objectives,
services are not described under the
six strategic themes, but are listed

under the directorate and business
unit with the major responsibility
to coordinate and/or deliver the
service. The contribution made by
a business unit group of services
to the theme objectives is reflected
at the beginning of each section.
Each section lists the services,
outlines key service measures, and
details the direct expenses and
the human resources allocated to
provide the business unit group of
services. During 2016/17, the City
reviewed and made changes to its
organisational structure in order
to better ‘serve the City’s diverse
community through delivering
efficient, responsive and sustainable
services’. The structural changes are
incorporated into this reviewed Plan.
The Service Performance Report
therefore reflects the changed
organisation.

Diagram 3: The City of Stirling’s Integrated Planning Framework

Resource Plans

City of Stirling Plan
for the Future

Strategic Community
Plan
(10-year plan)

Long Term Financial Plan
Asset Management Plan
Workforce Plan
Strategic Information
Management Plan

Vision
Mission
Values and Sustainability
Principles
Objectives

Corporate Business
Plan
(4-year plan)
Strategies and Plans
Services
Strategic Projects

Annual Budget
Annual Plans

Business Unit Plans
(1-year plan)
Operational Service
Activities
Programs and Projects

Measuring
Progress

Reporting Progress

Annual Report
Community
Outcomes

Strategic
Performance Report
(see pages 71 - 127)

City
Performance

Service Delivery
and Program/
Project Delivery

Service
Performance Report
(see pages 129 - 155)

Internal in-year
reporting
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Strategic
Performance
Report
The Strategic Performance Report highlights
the City’s major achievements and challenges
in reference to planned strategic actions
outlined in the Corporate Business Plan for
2016/17. This section also highlights plans
for the coming financial year as set out in
the Strategic Community Plan (2016-2026).
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Overview of the City’s
Strategic Community Plan
The City of Stirling’s
Strategic Community
Plan was developed
following extensive public
consultation, research and
analysis of the demographic,
social, economic and
environmental trends
shaping the City’s future.
The community’s vision
is described using six
key themes, each with an
aspirational objective.
Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods
The City of Stirling will have beautiful
streetscapes, open spaces and a
range of housing choices creating
a strong sense of place. People will
be encouraged to be active through
a variety of exciting events and
recreational activities. Residents will
feel safe and there will be access to
quality health and care services to meet
the changing needs of the community.
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Theme 2: Sustainable
Environment
The City of Stirling will value, protect
and improve the environment by using
natural resources wisely, reducing
the impact of our activities on the
environment and protecting wildlife
and natural habitats. The City will
support and encourage everyone
in the community to work for a
sustainable future.

Theme 3: Engaged
Communities
The City of Stirling will be a place where
people from diverse backgrounds will
feel included and respected. Residents
will be informed and involved in
important local issues and encouraged
to participate in community life.

Theme 4: Accessible
and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be accessible
with sustainable transport solutions,
safer roads and parking availability.
Improved technology will create a
connected community, with many of
the City’s services available online.

Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will be fostering
business development and employment
opportunities, making it a great place
to invest. Our attractions and events
will stimulate tourism, increasing the
number of visitors to our City.

Theme 6: Making it Happen
– City’s Capacity to Deliver
The City of Stirling will continue to
be recognised both regionally and
nationally as a Council committed
to quality services and continuous
improvement. We will build on this
reputation while continuing to be
among the best-performing local
governments in Australia and beyond.
These themes align with the City’s
focus on sustainability, and cover social,
economic, environment and governance
areas. Strategic objectives are identified
for each theme. These strategic
objectives respond to key issues of
concern and interest to the community
and further describe the community’s
vision for the City of Stirling.

Overall Community Satisfaction

Target

The percentage of surveyed residents who are satisfied, taking all things into
consideration, with the services provided by the City of Stirling

≥80%

Figure 11: Overall Community Satisfaction

% Residents satisfied

100

91%

86%

93%

91%

90%

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

80
60
40
20
0

2012/13

2013/14

Measuring Community Satisfaction
The City of Stirling places a high value on its community’s opinion and perception of its operations, services and local area in
general. To help the City understand the community’s view, it conducts Annual Resident Satisfaction Research1 of residents’
opinions through independent research consultants.
These surveys have been conducted every year since 1999. The 2016/17 survey was undertaken between 01 May 2017 and
21 May 2017.
The City strives to maintain strong satisfaction results and to make improvements where necessary. Results from the survey of
residents are provided throughout the remainder of this report.
As part of the survey, residents were asked how satisfied they were overall with the services provided by the City. For 2017,
the City is pleased to report that 90 per cent of respondents stated that they were either satisfied or very satisfied. This result,
together with the consistently high results over the last five years, indicates that a high percentage of residents continue to be
satisfied with the services provided by the City of Stirling.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
1

The research sample of 728 residents provides a margin of error of +/- 3.63 for estimates at the 95 per cent confidence level. This means that if 50 per cent of
the sample expressed a certain opinion, we can be 95 per cent confident that in the actual population, between 46.37 per cent and 53.63 per cent would feel
the same way.
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Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods
The City of Stirling will have
beautiful streetscapes,
open spaces and a range
of housing choices creating
a strong sense of place.
People will be encouraged
to be active through a
variety of exciting events
and recreational activities.
Residents will feel safe and
there will be access to quality
health and care services to
meet the changing needs of
the community.
Achievements
During the 2016/17 Financial Year,
the City of Stirling progressed its
commitment to beautiful streetscapes,
open spaces and a range of housing
choices that create a strong sense of
place by putting planning frameworks in
place to cater for the changing needs of
its community. This is demonstrated in
the following project achievements:
Beaufort Street Activity
Corridor Project
One of the City’s most successful
planning projects, the Beaufort Street
Project received a commendation
from the Planning Institute of Australia
in the Engagement and Community
Planning category, in November 2016.
The Beaufort Street Plan identified
distinctive residential and mixed-use
precincts between Walcott Street
and Salisbury Street. In the 2016/17
financial year, the City submitted
Amendment 60: ‘Beaufort Street
Activity Corridor’ to the Western
Australian Planning Commission
(WAPC) for the Minister’s Approval
in August 2016. This Scheme

Amendment and the associated Local
Development Plan will ensure that
all new development in the Beaufort
Street Activity Corridor is consistent
with the pre-1960s architectural styles
found along the corridor as outlined
in the City’s Local Planning Policy 3.1
Character Retention Guidelines for
Mount Lawley, Menora and Inglewood.
Scarborough Beach
Road West Project
The City has continued its
commitment on this project. It has
been confirmed by the Department of
Planning’s support for a Metropolitan
Region Scheme (MRS) Amendment to
widen Scarborough Beach Road from
Main Street to Hinderwell Street.
Better Suburbs Project
One of the City’s newest and largest
planning projects, this project will deliver
a plan to encourage development of a
range of housing types, improved open
spaces and more tree coverage, and
will result in major social, economic and
environmental benefits to local residents
and the City. The City conducted
Councillor briefing sessions; listening
posts at various shopping centres,
community centres and religious centres;
six vision and design workshops; kitchen
table discussions with various ethnic
groups; and multiple Centre Design
Government Stakeholders Workshops,
with further workshops planned for July
and August 2017.
Heritage Management Strategy
The City’s Heritage Management
Strategy 2016 – 2020, adopted by
Council in November 2016, sets
out objectives and initiatives for
consideration and implementation.
These include the Heritage List
Incentives Program and Heritage
List Incentive Grants, three of which
were issued to properties listed on
the City’s Heritage List in the 2016/17

financial year. Amendment 76: ‘Heritage
Protection Area Special Control Area –
Increased Protection’ was also gazetted
during the 2016/17 financial year.
City Tree Canopy
As a result of declining tree canopy
cover in the City and the impacts
this has on the City’s streetscapes,
environment, and amenity for local
residents, the Council adopted
Amendment 9 and Local Planning
Policy 6.11 ‘Trees and Development’ in
October 2016. The Minister for Planning
subsequently approved the Scheme
Amendment in May 2017, introducing
new design requirements for trees on
development sites. The changes will
apply to all proposed development
with a value over $100,000. The City
has delayed implementation until
October 2017 to provide developers
time to incorporate these new
requirements into development
application plans and avoid the
need to redesign existing plans.
Scarborough Beach Pool
Construction of the City’s $26 million
Scarborough Beach Pool facility is
in progress, with major earthworks
and geothermal works completed.
Construction of the pools is nearing
completion, and the building structure
is in progress. Fit-out of the internal
buildings has commenced, the
grandstand seating has been installed
and works are on track for the pool to be
opened to the public in February 2018.
Recreation Facility Upgrades
Completion of the accessibility upgrades
to Stirling Leisure Centre – Herb Graham
Mirrabooka will assist those with
physical disability to connect through
sport. The centre also now boasts a
brand-new suite of ablutions including
showers, and the amenities are Disability
Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant.
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Major upgrades at Carine Main Hall
have been completed, providing
improved multi-sports changing rooms,
accessible facilities and a modern
multi-use function space.
The Westside BMX Club upgrades
include construction of new clubrooms,
club amenities, DDA-compliant access
and improved spectator areas.
The Yokine Hockey and Softball Club
underwent roof replacement works
and removal of asbestos from the
existing roof structure. The sports
changeroom and ablution block have
been refurbished to incorporate DDAcompliant accessible toilet facilities,
with practical completion anticipated by
the end of July 2017.
Coolbinia 1 Junior Bombers
football clubroom has had kitchen,
changerooms, and the ablution blocks
upgraded, including DDA-accessible
works, with the project reaching
practical completion in June 2017.
Further improvements to incorporate an
external covered spectator area will be
progressed in 17/18 financial year.
Library Upgrades
Inglewood Library established its
outdoor reading room in the courtyard
area of the Inglewood Library and
Community Centre. Colloquially termed
‘Inglewood Town Square’, this area is
a popular meeting point for the local
community.
The Osborne Library and Community
Centre has benefited from an external
mural by Rebecca Cook, depicting the
local community with references to the
market garden history of the area.
The courtyard at Osborne Park
Community Centre was refurbished with
paint and had new decking installed.
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Community Safety
Completion of the City’s closed-circuit
television (CCTV) Expansion Project
saw the City’s CCTV network system
expanded through a $550,000 grant
from the Australian Government’s Safer
Streets Program. Forty-five fixed CCTV
cameras were successfully installed at
the Mirrabooka Regional Centre; the
Richard Guelfi clubrooms and car park,
Balcatta; Clarko Reserve, Trigg; and
Carine Regional Open Space.
Educational initiatives to promote a safe
and secure community included:
• Pet registration awareness campaign
• Safer parking and animal awareness
presentations at schools
• Safety and security presentations to
seniors and community groups
• Interaction with dog owners in City
reserves to promote responsible dog
ownership.
Several successful joint operations
with the WA Police resulted in the
apprehension and prosecution of
offenders, and significantly disrupted
graffiti, anti-social, drug-related,
and other unlawful activities
throughout the City.
Urban Forest
The City completed a large community
consultation process to inform the
development of an Urban Forest
Strategy, with over 300 people attending
across a variety of workshops. The
consultation included four community
workshops, an industry workshop, and a
school workshop with year-five students
who became Councillors for a day to
advise on solutions to increasing tree
planting and reducing tree canopy loss
across Stirling.

The City increased tree planting efforts
and saw a total of 10,299 trees planted,
of which 5,896 were street trees. This is
the highest number of trees planted in
the City in a given planting season.
Park and Reserve Upgrades
The City-Wide Fenced Dog Park
Implementation Strategy was adopted
by Council. The strategy includes the
installation of five fenced dog parks at
Princess Wallington Reserve, Dianella
Regional Open Space, Carine Regional
Open Space, Robinson Reserve and
Lake Gwelup Reserve, to complement
the existing facilities at Inglewood Oval
and Charles Riley Memorial Reserve.
A landscape plan to guide the upgrade
of landscape infrastructure at Lake
Gwelup Regional Open Space was
adopted by Council. The plan prioritises
four stages of upgrades to landscape
infrastructure, including a universally
accessible primary circulation path,
improvements to the existing path
network, extensive tree planting,
and installation of educational and
interpretive signage.
A number of neighbourhood parks
were upgraded, including Pomarine
Cinnamon Reserve, Currong Illumbra
Reserve and Renmark Townsend
Reserve, resulting in renewed interest
and improved amenity.

Ranger School Visit 2017

Challenges
Council adopted the Tuart Hill Local
Centre Urban Design Strategy in
September 2016. The City then
requested grant approval from the
Director General of Transport for
the Tuart Hill Commercial Centre
Upgrade Wanneroo Road Design
Concept. However, it was advised
that the Department of Transport
does not support the Strategy. The
City made further representations
to the Department to resolve road
safety issues identified. The Director
General’s approval will enable the City
to progress the Centre upgrade.

The collapse of the initial construction
company of the Carine Main Hall
Redevelopment resulted in the
project being put on hold, and a
re-tender was required to complete
construction of the remaining scope
of work. The project was delayed
7.5 months as a result and will run
slightly over budget due to issues
relating to remobilising and bringing
the works to successful completion.
Practical Completion is anticipated
in July 2017 and will bring significant
functional benefit to the Carine
Regional Open Space and associated
sports and recreational clubs.

The City and community have a
significant challenge ahead to plant
and protect trees in order to achieve
Council’s goal of 18 per cent tree
canopy cover across the City by 2030.
The existing canopy cover is 12.4 per
cent, and over the last year, Stirling has
seen the highest level of tree loss since
measuring canopy cover began five
years ago. In five years, Stirling has lost
a combined total of just over 1 million
m² of tree canopy cover, with 64 per
cent being lost from residential land and
10 per cent from the City’s verges.
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress
in 2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

Develop the Local Planning Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop the Beaufort Street Activity Corridor Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop the Scarborough Beach West Activity Corridor Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop the Mirrabooka Activity Centre Structure Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Facilitate place-making activities in centres and corridors

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the Local Centres Improvement Program

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review Local Planning Scheme 3, in accordance with legislated requirements

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Local Planning Policy for Provision of Public Art with Development

Delayed to 2017/18 Ongoing 2017/18

Develop the Heritage Strategy

Activity Complete

A Strong Sense of Place

Housing Choice
Better Suburbs Project
Place-based planning for Balga, Westminster and Nollamara to improve built
form outcome

Deliverables
Achieved

Review parking ratios for local centres to ensure the City meets future needs

Activity Complete

Facilitate the supply of affordable housing in the City’s Activity and Town Centres

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop an Urban Forest Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Increase the rate of themed avenue street-tree planting to ensure the growth
of the urban forest canopy, including the use of community plantings

Activity Complete

Implement, monitor and review the Street and Reserve Trees Policy for
effectiveness

Activity Complete

Progress the Million Trees program to plant one million trees and other
plants by 2030

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Comprehensive Tree Protection Planning Framework within the
City’s Local Planning Scheme

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the public open space cash-in-lieu contributions from development
provisions, to ensure the best use of developer funds

Delayed to 2017/18 Ongoing 2017/18

Review Verge Treatment and Crossover Policy and communicate changes
to the general public

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Facilitate and scope the Streetscape Guidelines project

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and review the Parks and Reserves Asset Management Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop, review and implement a rolling Parks and Reserves four-year capital
development program

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and review the Integrated Pest Management Framework

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Integrated Pest Management Framework

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Embed and integrate public art and innovation into public open space

Activity Complete

Review the City’s Public Open Space Strategy to meet community demands
for activities, functions, and cultural and events bookings

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Public Open Space Strategy to meet community
demands for activities, functions, and cultural and events bookings

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Dianella Regional Open Space Master Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the Carine Regional Open Space Master Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Establish a forward plan for the expenditure of cash-in-lieu funds based
on public open space needs and identified opportunities

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Ongoing 2017/18

Beautiful Streetscape and Open Spaces
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2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress
in 2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Prepare and implement a Strategic Community Infrastructure Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Prepare and implement the Skate and BMX Management Plan

Activity Complete

Upgrade the Hamersley Golf Course

Delayed to 2017/18 Ongoing 2017/18

Plan and build the Scarborough Beach Pool

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review and implement the Building Asset Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and implement the Strategic Plan for Library Services

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Karrinyup Library and Community Centre Master Plan
and redevelop the Karrinyup Library and Community Centre

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Master Plan for the Dianella and Inglewood Libraries

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Create an online database and gallery of the City’s art collection,
including public art

Activity Complete

Safer City
Develop a CCTV Plan and provide additional and upgraded
surveillance equipment
Active and Vibrant City

New Activities 2017/18
A Strong Sense of Place
• Complete a feasibility study for Flora Terrace
• Complete the Main Street Corridor Urban Design Study
Beautiful Streetscapes and Open Spaces
• Implement the Yokine Reserve Master Plan
Health and Wellbeing
• Prepare and implement a Local Public Health Plan
Active and Vibrant City
• Develop a Local Area Hubs concept, and implement at
libraries/City facilities as appropriate
• Partner with the Metropolitan Regional Authority to
implement the Scarborough Beach Public Art Plan
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Indicators of Success – A Strong Sense of Place
Services and Facilities within Local Neighbourhoods

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who are satisfied with services and
facilities such as parks, local shopping, community centres available within their
neighbourhood

Maintain or increase

Figure 12: Resident Satisfaction with the Services and Facilities within Local Neighbourhoods

% Residents satisfied

100

90%

89%

2012/13

2013/14

90%

87%

2015/16

2016/17

80
60
40
20
0

2014/15
Not Measured

In the City’s resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate their satisfaction with the services and facilities within
their local neighbourhoods. While there has been a three percentage point decrease when compared to 2015/16, the 87 per
cent satisfaction rate for 2016/17 is considered a strong result and the City will continue to focus on this key result area.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success - Housing Choice
The City as a Place to Live

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider the City of Stirling to
purchase their first home or next home if they decided to move in the future

Increase

Figure 13: The City as a Place to Purchase a Home
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Surveyed residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘I would consider the City to
purchase my first home or subsequent home’. Following a pleasing five percentage point increase between 2014/15 and
2015/16 there has been a three percentage point decrease in 2016/17. This result still suggests that a relatively high proportion
of residents are satisfied with housing types in the City of Stirling, but the reduction also indicates that there continues to be
scope for the City to support an increase in housing choice.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Beautiful Streetscapes and Open Spaces
City Streetscapes and City Appearance

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling with streetscapes and overall City appearance

≥7.0

Figure 14: Resident Satisfaction with Streetscapes and City Appearance

Average score out of 10

10
8

7.2

7.0

7.2

7.2

7.2

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

6
4
2
0

In the resident satisfaction research, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance and the importance of
streetscapes and overall City appearance, including aspects such as shade, street furniture, landscaping and maintenance.
The average importance rating was 8.4 (out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance was 7.2 (out of 10).
This result remains above target and is consistent with the past two years, suggesting that residents consider the City to be
performing this service well.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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City Community Events and Cultural Activities

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling with community events and cultural activities

≥7.0

Figure 15: City Performance in Providing Community Events and Cultural Activities

Average score out of 10

10
7.5

7.5

7.5

7.6

7.5

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

8
6
4
2
0

Residents were asked to rate the importance and performance of the City in the provision of community events and cultural
activities, such as the Summerset Arts Festival and the Blink Photographic Awards and Exhibition. The survey found that 27
per cent of respondents had participated in such events within the last 12 months, and of these participants, the average
rating for the City’s performance was 7.5 (out of 10). This result is consistent with the results for the last five years, with
average scores over 7.0 for each. The City is delighted that residents continue to be satisfied with the City’s performance in
the delivery of events and cultural activities.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
Protect urban trees in local areas

Target/Desired Direction

Tree Canopy Cover across the City

18% by 2030

Figure 16: Tree Canopy Cover across the City
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For the past five years, the City has used high-resolution airborne multispectral imagery to complete annual vegetation cover
and condition analysis, and calculate changes to ‘significant canopy’. The City has a target of increasing tree canopy cover
across the City to 18 per cent by 2030. Currently the City has 12.4 per cent average tree canopy cover across the City and
over the last five years total canopy cover has hovered between 12.3-12.9 per cent. Given that there is a margin of error of ±1
per cent, it is difficult to determine if there has been improvement or not on a City-wide scale.
Source: Specterra Imagery – City of Stirling Vegetation Analysis 2017
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Significant Tree Canopy Loss across the City
Figure 17: Significant Tree Canopy Loss across the City
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The City has a goal to protect trees in urban areas. For the past five years, the City has used high resolution airborne
multispectral imagery to calculate changes to ‘significant canopy’. ‘Significant canopy’ is defined as tree canopy cover that is
taller than three metres and has a larger area than 20m². Tree canopy loss is the result of the removal of trees from public and
private land, as well as significant pruning.
Unfortunately, significant canopy loss rates have increased over the five-year period. Over the last year, Stirling has seen the
highest level of tree loss since measuring canopy cover began five years ago. During this period, Stirling has lost a combined
total of just over 1 Million m² of tree canopy cover, with 64 per cent being lost from residential land and 10 per cent from the
City’s verges.
In a five-year period, the map below shows the percentage of 2012 significant tree canopy in Stirling suburbs that was lost by
2017. The suburbs with the largest canopy losses were Nollamara (-16 per cent), Scarborough (-15 per cent), and Doubleview
and Balga (-13 per cent). If these rates of loss continue, these suburbs may lose between one-third and one-half of their tree
canopy cover over the next 15 to 20 years.
Source: Specterra Imagery – City of Stirling Vegetation Analysis 2016
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Indicators of Success – Safer City
The City as a Safe Place to Live

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who agree that the City of Stirling is a safe
place to live

Maintain and Increase

Figure 18: Resident Perception that the City is a Safe Place to Live
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Residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘the City of Stirling is a safe place to live’.
In the 2017 survey, 76 per cent of respondents agreed with this statement. While the result is slightly less than that recorded
in 2015/16, this represents a seven percentage point increase over the City’s position five years ago. The result for this critical
aspect of community life indicates that a high proportion of residents consider the City of Stirling ‘a safe place to life’. The City
will continue to work to ensure strong performance in this result area.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
City Graffiti Management

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the City’s performance in
graffiti management

≥7.0

Figure 19: City Performance in Managing Graffiti
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In the resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance in and the importance of graffiti
management, including the identification, removal and prevention of graffiti. The average importance rating of this service
was 8.3 (out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance was 7.8 (out of 10). This result has shown an annual
incremental improvement over the past four years, with ratings consistently above the City’s target of 7.0, indicating that
residents consider the City to be performing this service well.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Health and Wellbeing
Access to Health and Care Services with Local Neighbourhoods

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents satisfied with access to health care and care
services (including aged care, doctors and allied health services, hospital services,
and dental services) within the City of Stirling

Maintain and increase

Figure 20: Resident Satisfaction with Level of Access to Health Care and Care Service within their Local Neighbourhood
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The resident satisfaction survey has returned consistently high levels of satisfaction with respect to access to health care and
care services. In 2017, the result showed that 88 per cent of respondents were either satisfied or very satisfied. The City will
continue to monitor this important aspect of community life.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
City Sport and Recreation Facilities

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling in providing sport and recreation facilities

≥7.0

Figure 21: City Performance in Providing Sport and Recreation Facilities
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The resident satisfaction survey found that 41 per cent of the surveyed residents had used the City’s sport and recreation
facilities within the last 12 months. The 2017 average satisfaction score was 7.8 (out of 10). The results have been consistent
over the past five years, with average scores just below 8.0 (out of 10) for each year, indicating that residents continue to rate
the City’s provision of sport and recreation facilities highly.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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City Libraries

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling in providing libraries

≥8.0

Figure 22: City Performance in Providing Libraries
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Stirling Libraries continue to enjoy high levels of community satisfaction, with an average rating of 8.5 (out of 10) for 2016/17.
The average importance rating is also high at 8.2 (out of 10), highlighting the value that residents place on this service. The
satisfaction results have been consistently high across the past five years and the City is pleased to be meeting the needs of
the community with its library services.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
City Parks and Reserves

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling in providing parks and reserves

≥8.0

Figure 23: Resident Satisfaction with Providing Parks and Reserves

Average score out of 10

10
8

8.1

8.0

7.9

8.1

8.1

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

6
4
2
0

The resident satisfaction survey found that the City’s parks and reserves have a very high usage rate, with 82 per cent of
surveyed residents stating that they had used these facilities within the past year. Residents naturally consider the importance
of providing parks and reserves very highly, with an average importance rating of 9.2 (out of 10) for 2016/17. The average
satisfaction score of 8.1 (out of 10) is above target and consistent with the results over the past five years, indicating that the
City continues to meet the needs of its residents in the provision of parks and reserves.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Community Tree
Planting Event
88

Theme 2: Sustainable Environment
The City of Stirling will value,
protect and improve the
environment by using natural
resources wisely, reducing
the impact of our activities
on the environment and
protecting wildlife and natural
habitats. The City will support
and encourage everyone
in the community to work
for a sustainable future.
Achievements
Fleet Emissions Reduction
Action Plan
In relation to vehicles, the City’s Fleet
Emissions Reduction Action Plan
has enabled a focus on efficiency
and vehicle replacement. This has
resulted in a 16 per cent reduction in
emissions from the City’s fleet vehicles
compared to the baseline year 2013/14.
The City increased the percentage
of hybrid cars to 20 per cent of the
car fleet, and completed a review
of alternative fuels, leading to the
introduction of improved specification
diesel for depot bulk supply.
Verge Bulk Waste Sorting
The City successfully completed a verge
bulk waste sorting trial that led to the
introduction of sorting on a permanent
basis, increasing recovery of this type
of waste to around 40 per cent and
realising a significant reduction in cost.

Solar energy

Waterwise Council

Solar energy generation by the City
has almost quadrupled since 2013/14
and greenhouse gas emissions have
reduced by 9 per cent over the last
five years. The City has five solar
photovoltaic (PV) systems installed
on its buildings, totalling 120kW in
capacity. In 2016-17, these systems
saved the City $56,000 in energy costs
and reduced greenhouse gas emissions
by 170 tonnes of carbon dioxide.

The City became a Waterwise Council
in late 2016. The Waterwise Councils
Program is facilitated by the Water
Corporation and the Department of
Water with the aim to build cooperative
working relationships with local
governments to improve water use
efficiency in local governments and
their communities.

Energy Efficiencies
The City carried out a range of activities
to reduce energy use and water
use in its buildings. These included
the installation of energy efficient
Light Emitting Diode (LED) lights at
Stirling Leisure Centre Herb Graham
Mirrabooka, Stirling Library Mirrabooka
and Kevin Smith Community Centre
and Stirling Library Dianella. The
new lights have reduced lighting
consumption by 35 per cent, saving
an estimated $30,500 in energy costs
each year and reducing the City’s
annual greenhouse gas emissions by 77
tonnes of carbon dioxide.
Hazardous Waste Collection
The City collected, processed and
recovered 248 tonnes of hazardous
waste through the Recycling Centre
Balcatta. This was the largest amount of
hazardous waste collected in Western
Australia and a 31 per cent increase on
last year.

Community Sustainability
The City initiated the Living Green
Homes Scheme to encourage and
support residents to undertake
sustainability actions in their homes.
Nearly 1,000 residents took action with
assistance from the City to undertake
Waterwise verge makeovers, plant
trees, build worm farms, complete
home energy audits and home water
audits, build microbat boxes and install
rainwater tanks.
Grant funding was provided to 11
schools and two community groups
through the Living Green Grant
Scheme for a range of projects which
reduced water consumption and
helped to create a Green City. Projects
undertaken included the planting
of several bush tucker gardens, the
restoration of bushland areas, the
planting of school food gardens,
and the replacement of grass with
Waterwise native plants.
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Summerset Concert, Summerset Arts Festival 2017

Challenges
Perth’s drying climate and increasing
urban density have resulted in local
groundwater levels dropping, and
the wetlands and bushlands reliant
on these groundwater resources are
under increasing pressure. The City
is a significant user of groundwater
for irrigation and the challenge is to
reduce groundwater consumption over
time while maintaining community
satisfaction with public open space.
The City’s Investments Policy
includes environmentally and socially
responsible investment criteria, giving
preference to financial institutions that
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do not invest in or finance the fossil
fuel industry. As of June 2017, the City
had 64 per cent of its investments in
banks that do not finance the fossil fuel
industry. This percentage has dropped
from 77 per cent last year. The City will
be investigating ways to improve its
responsible investment portfolio.
The Western Australian Waste Strategy
has set a target to divert 70 per cent of
commercial and industrial waste from
landfill by June 2020. This is an area
of challenge, with the City diverting
only approximately 26 per cent of
commercial and industrial waste
from landfill.

The City did not achieve its scheme
water efficiency target of a reduction
in water consumption to five per cent
below the five-year average. The City
is reviewing its water consumption
patterns and is continuing to implement
measures to achieve further savings in
water consumption.

Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

Develop, revise and review the City’s Strategic Waste Minimisation Plan
(2016-2021)

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Monitor the success of the three-bin and skip bin system and implement
improvements as required to improve service delivery, efficiency and recycling

Activity Complete

Develop a waste education strategy to encourage, educate and support the
community to reduce, reuse and recycle more of their waste

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement Stages 2 and 3 of the Recycling Centre Development

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop an Energy-wise City Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement an Energy-wise City Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Fleet Emissions Reduction Action Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Monitor energy consumption and building performance across the City’s
buildings and develop and deliver energy saving initiatives for the City’s buildings

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and deliver renewable energy saving initiatives to improve building
performance across the City’s buildings

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Water-wise City Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement a Water-wise City Strategy

Delayed to 2017/18 Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Water Smart Parks Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Collect and monitor water consumption across the City’s buildings and develop
and deliver water saving initiatives for the City’s buildings

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Local Biodiversity Strategy to improve natural area
condition, native flora and wildlife habitation

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Urban Bushland Conservation Strategy (Green Plan 2)

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Wetland Protection Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a Coastal Foreshore Management Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Clean and Waste-wise City

Energy-wise City

Water-wise City

Flourishing Wildlife and Natural Habitat
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Indicators of Success – Clean and Waste-wise City
Three-bin System
Figure 24: Three-bin System
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In 2016/17, the Stirling community put 84,467 tonnes of waste and recyclables into the three-bin system: 53 per cent into
the red lid bin, 27 per cent into the yellow lid bin, and 20 per cent into the lime-green lid bin. The City was able to divert from
landfill 82 per cent of waste put into the yellow lid bin and 99 per cent of waste put into the lime green lid bin. The combined
result was that 42 per cent of all waste put into the three-bin system was diverted from landfill.
Source: 2017 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
Municipal Waste Recovery

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of municipal (residential) solid waste, presented for collection, diverted
from landfill

65% (by June 2020)

Figure 25: Municipal Waste Recovery
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In 2016/17, the City continued to implement a range of municipal waste collection and recycling services. This has resulted in
51 per cent of municipal waste being diverted from landfill, an increase from 44 per cent diverted in 2015/16. The municipal
waste composition includes waste from the three-bin system, verge waste, green waste, e-waste and mattresses. The Western
Australian Waste Strategy has set a target to divert 65 per cent of municipal waste from landfill by June 2020, and the City is
on track to achieving this goal.
Source: 2017 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
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Construction and Demolition Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of construction and demolition waste, presented for collection, diverted
from landfill

75% (by June 2020)

Figure 26: Construction and Demolition Waste
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In 2016/17, the City received 2 per cent more construction and demolition waste than last year. Construction and Demolition
Waste includes all waste associated with building and renovating that has been received by the Recycling Centre Balcatta by
trailer, truck or skip bin. This measurement does not currently include the waste collected by contractors from City-run projects.
The Western Australian Waste Strategy has set a recovery target to divert 75 per cent of construction and demolition waste from
landfill by 2020. The chart above illustrates that the City has exceeded State targets every year for the past five years.
Source: 2017 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
Commercial and Industrial Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of Commercial and Industrial Waste, presented for collection, diverted
from landfill

70% (by June 2020)

Figure 27: Commercial and Industrial Waste
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In 2016/17, the City received 1 per cent less commercial and industrial waste from businesses, including waste from the
City of Stirling’s operations. The Western Australian Waste Strategy has set a target to divert 70 per cent of commercial and
industrial waste from landfill by June 2020. This is an area of challenge, with the City diverting only approximately 26 per cent
of commercial and industrial waste from landfill. The City is working towards improving diversion rates for this waste stream,
and the monitoring of commercial and industrial waste diversion has been improved through the three-bin system and the
barcoding of tip passes.
Source: 2017 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
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Hazardous Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Tonnes of Hazardous Waste recovered

Maintain

In 2016/17, the City collected, processed and recovered 248 tonnes of hazardous waste through the Recycling Centre
Balcatta. This was the largest amount of hazardous waste collected in Western Australia and a 31 per cent increase on last
year. The greatest percentage of hazardous waste was from water-based paint (49 per cent), followed by oil-based paint (28
per cent), gas cylinders (7 per cent) and household batteries (5 per cent).
Source: WALGA 2017 on behalf of and in conjunction with the WA Waste Authority
Residents Perception of Waste Management

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling in Waste Management

≥7.0

Figure 28: City Performance in Managing Waste
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Effective waste management is critically important to the City and this is reflected in the level of importance placed on it by
residents (average 9.6 out of 10 in the survey). Almost all of the surveyed residents (98 per cent) had used this service over the
last 12 months and of these users the average rating for the City’s performance was 8.2 (out of 10). This is a pleasing result
for the City and is higher than the previous two years’ results. The introduction of the City’s ‘three-bin service’ continues to
contribute to residents’ satisfaction with waste management.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Energy-wise City
Energy Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total energy consumed

Decrease

Figure 29: Energy Consumption Trends
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The energy that powers the City’s operations and services comes from both non-renewable supplies (such as coal-fired
electricity, gas and fuel) and renewable sources (such as solar-powered electricity and solar thermal heat). Taking all energy
supplies into account, there has been a 2 per cent increase in total energy consumption over the past five years and a 3 per
cent decrease compared to the previous year. When compared to the previous year, consumption of gas increased by 3 per
cent, and electricity consumption decreased by 5 per cent.
In relation to fuel, contractor fuel consumed by waste trucks contracted to pick up selected bins in the City’s three-bin system
has been calculated and included for the first time in the City’s Annual Report. There has been a 10 per cent reduction in
contractor fuel consumption and a 5 per cent decrease in operational fuel consumption when compared to the previous year.
However, overall there has been a 7 per cent increase in total fuel consumption over the five-year period as the service level
has increased.
Due to the timing of this report, energy consumption data has been partially estimated as follows: 21 per cent of electricity,
27 per cent of gas and 100 per cent of streetlight consumption (as streetlights are unmetered).
Source: Planet Footprint 2017
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Figure 30: Renewable Energy Generated
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The City currently has five solar photovoltaic (PV) systems installed on its buildings, totalling 120kW in capacity. The
first system was installed at the City’s Administration Centre in June 2013. This was followed by a 30kW system at the
Scarborough Civic Centre, and systems at the Stirling Libraries Mirrabooka and Inglewood and Stirling Leisure Centre: Herb
Graham Mirrabooka in 2015-16. In 2016/17, these solar systems saved the City $56,000 in energy costs and reduced its
greenhouse gas emissions by 170 tonnes of carbon dioxide. Other sources of renewable energy have not been calculated,
including solar hot water systems on various facilities, and solar thermal heating via black matting at Stirling Leisure Centre Leisurepark Balga.
Source: Solar PV System data 2017
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Reductions

Target/Desired Direction

Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Decrease

Figure 31: Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Offsets
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In 2016/17, the City was directly or indirectly responsible for emitting 25,972 tonnes of net greenhouse gas. This represents a
9 per cent decrease over five years, taking into account offsets. There has been a 7 per cent reduction in total greenhouse gas
emissions when compared to the previous year.
Net greenhouse gas emissions are calculated as follows. Fleet vehicle fuel consumption and natural gas consumption produces
Scope 1 direct emissions (5,741 tonnes). Electricity consumption, mainly from buildings and reserves, produces Scope 2 indirect
emissions (8,550 tonnes) as power stations offsite emit greenhouse gases (GHGs) when they generate electricity.
Scope 3 emissions (11,681 tonnes) include supply-chain emissions from street lights and waste trucks contracted to pick up
selected bins in the City’s three-bin system. Scope 3 emissions also include indirect emissions attributable to the extraction,
production and transport of fuels; and the indirect emissions attributable to the electricity lost in delivery via the transmission
and distribution network.
Source: Planet Footprint 2017
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Assets and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Target/Desired Direction

Streetlight emissions

Decrease

Facilities and parks emissions

Decrease

Fleet vehicle emissions

Decrease

Figure 32: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Trends
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The three largest greenhouse gas contributions to the City’s total emissions in 2016/17 were from the following asset
categories: facilities/parks (42 per cent), street lights (41 per cent), fleet vehicles (13 per cent) and waste contractor vehicles
(four per cent). Over the past five years, there have been greenhouse gas emissions reductions from most major asset
categories, including streetlights with a 15 per cent decrease, facilities and parks with a 14 per cent decrease, and fleet
vehicles with a 20 per cent decrease. However, waste contractor fuel emissions have increased as the City increased its
service level to pick up more bins as part of the three-bin waste system.
The City’s Fleet Emissions Reduction Action Plan has set a 25 per cent reduction target by 2020, based upon a 2013/14
baseline. Unfortunately, due to the increase in contracted waste collection services, the City has seen an increase in combined
fleet emissions. While operational fleet emissions have decreased by 16 per cent when compared to the baseline year, overall
emissions from fleet have increased by 12 per cent. This means that the City may not be on track to meets its fleet reduction
target by 2020.
Streetlights are currently classified as supply chain emissions (Scope 3), as around 99 per cent of the streetlights in Stirling
boundaries are owned and managed by Western Power but paid for by the City. Accordingly, the City is unable to easily
replace inefficient streetlight globes with more efficient Light Emitting Diode (LED) globes. Given that streetlights form 41 per
cent of the City’s emissions, this represents a significant challenge. However, energy-efficient LED streetlights have been
included in several City-owned developments and subdivisions.
Source: Planet Footprint 2017 and Stirling Fuel Usage Suez 2017
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Indicators of Success – Water-wise City
Rainfall in Western Australia is decreasing and available water is declining. The City actively conserves water; however, the
maintenance and operation of the City’s facilities, aquatic centres, parks and reserves requires regular inputs of water.
In order to continue to provide green sports fields and aquatic centres into the future without damaging our wetlands, the City
aims to continually improve water efficiency and water quality.
City Scheme Water Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total scheme water consumed

144,685 kilolitres - Waterwise Council Target

Figure 33: City Scheme Water Consumption
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Scheme water in Perth is sourced primarily from desalination or groundwater. Scheme water represented three per cent of the
City’s total water consumption in 2016/17. In 2016/17 the City consumed 147,553 kilolitres, 1 per cent less than the previous
year. As of late 2016, the City is an endorsed Waterwise Council with the Water Corporation and has set an annual scheme
water consumption target of 144,685 kilolitres or 5 per cent below the five-year average. In 2016/17, the City did not achieve
this target. The City also did not reuse or recycle any scheme water. The City is reviewing its water consumption patterns and
is continuing to implement measures to achieve further savings in water consumption.
Source: Water Corporation 2017
Groundwater Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of allocated groundwater consumed

Less than 95% of allocation

Figure 34: City Groundwater Consumption
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Groundwater represented 97 per cent of the City’s total water consumption for 2016/17 and it is mainly used for irrigating
public open space. The City is allocated an annual groundwater licence by the Department of Water totalling 5,287,213
kilolitres, which is extracted from the Gnangara mound. As part of the Water Corporation’s Waterwise Councils program, the
City has set an annual groundwater consumption target of “less than 95 per cent of the allowable allocation”. In 2016/17, the
City consumed 4,546,314 kilolitres, or 86 per cent of its annual groundwater allocation, therefore achieving its annual target.
Source: City of Stirling Irrigation Controller Report 2017
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Community Water Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total scheme water consumed by the City of Stirling Community

Decrease

Figure 35: Community Scheme Water Consumption
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Over a five-year period, the City of Stirling’s wider community used an average of approximately 24 million kilolitres of scheme
water annually. In 2016/17, the Stirling community consumed an amount close to the five-year average, a one per cent
decrease from the previous year. The City is continuing to provide incentives and support for residents to reduce their water
consumption through programs like the Living Green Homes Scheme.
Source: Water Corporation 2017

Indicators of Success – Flourishing Wildlife and Natural Habitat
Natural Habitat
The City has extensive natural areas, comprised of 616 hectares of bushland dispersed over 68 reserves, 33 wetland sites and
6.5 kilometres of coastal dunes and beaches.
The bushland reserves range in size from 0.2 to 100 hectares, of which eight are regionally significant. Notable examples
of significant bushland are Star Swamp Bushland Reserve, Trigg Bushland Reserve and Herdsman Lake. The City has
dedicated walk and cycle trails in 17 reserves including Aintree Reserve in Hamersley, Jackadder Lake in Woodlands,
Carine Regional Open Space and many others. Six of these reserves have a walking map that is available on the City’s website
(www.stirling.wa.gov.au/recreation). The City’s coastline includes some of Perth’s best beaches, including Scarborough and
Trigg. Also included are the bay beach areas north of Trigg Island such as Mettams Pool, North Beach and Watermans Bay.
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Million Trees and Shrubs

Target/Desired Direction

Number of trees and shrubs planted

1 million by 2025

Figure 36: Number of Trees and Shrubs Planted Each Year
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The City aims to plant one million trees and shrubs over a 17-year period. Over the past seven years, the City’s planting
average has been 83,114 trees and shrubs per year. In the 2016/17 planting season, the City is estimated to have planted
127,846 trees and shrubs, bringing its total planting numbers to 415,572. The large increase in planting for the last two years
is a result of the City’s ongoing focus to improve tree canopy cover and biodiversity across Stirling. Estimated tree and shrub
planting data has been used for this graph as the planting season is still active in August 2017.
Source: Actual and projected City of Stirling Data 2017
Volunteer Hours in Conservation

Target/Desired Direction

Number of volunteer hours contributed

Increase

Figure 37: Volunteer Hours in Conservation
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The City provides opportunities for community members to participate in activities to protect wildlife and natural habitats in
the City of Stirling. The graph above shows that in 2016/17, the Stirling community contributed 19,309 volunteer hours to the
City’s Bushcare and Coastcare groups. Volunteers assisted with rubbish removal, plantings, site surveys and weeding. The
City’s conservation team and volunteers removed approximately 73 tonnes of weeds from bushland in 2016/17, up from 48
tonnes in the previous year.
Source: City of Stirling data 2017
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Residents’ Perception of Environmental Management

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of residents who agree that the City is environmentally conscious

≥60%

Figure 38: The City is Environmentally Conscious
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As part of the City’s resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked whether they considered the City to be
environmentally conscious. The City is delighted to note that for the past two years, 70 per cent of respondents feel that it is
environmentally conscious, a 15 percentage point increase on the 2014/15 result.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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City of Stirling Volunteer
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Theme 3: Engaged Communities
The City of Stirling will
be a place where people
from diverse backgrounds
will feel included and
respected. Residents will
be informed and involved in
important local issues and
encouraged to participate
in community life.
Achievements
Age-Friendly Strategy
Extensive consultations with over 1153
older people living in the City of Stirling
took place on what matters to them
as they age. This will form the basis of
the Age-Friendly Strategy which will
be considered by Council in August
2017. A Regional Partnership with City
of Joondalup and City of Wanneroo
was formed to address and promote
age-friendly strategies. Funding has
been extended to include running a
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse
(CaLD) seniors group and a supported
transport program.
Training
With the support of the Mental Health
Commission and Clan WA, the Family
Services team delivered training to
enhance the community’s ability to
respond to mental health issues.
One hundred and twenty-four people
attended six Mental Health First Aid
(MHFA) courses and four Applied
Suicide Intervention Skills courses.
Two MHFA courses were delivered
specifically for Aboriginal community
members. As a result of this initiative,
over 60 community organisations and
agencies in the Stirling area now have
workers and volunteers that are have
MHFA and suicide-prevention skills.

Reconciliation Action Plan

Challenges

The City continues to deliver on
the commitments outlined in the
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). The
annual NAIDOC Week event, held
in July, was a success, with several
thousand community members
attending to celebrate and recognise
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people and their cultures. In December,
the City’s RAP Working Group hosted
an annual forum which provided an
opportunity for community members
and organisations to celebrate
our achievements and discuss
opportunities for the future.

The City’s 2017 Annual Resident
Satisfaction Survey indicates that
the City should engage more with
recent immigrants, teenagers/
young adults and Indigenous people
to encourage them to be a part of
the community. Improvements in
the City’s performance relating to
listening to residents’ feedback and
comments were also a focus.

Multicultural
The City consulted with multicultural
communities, agencies and City
staff to develop our first Multicultural
Framework. The Framework will build
on what has already been achieved by
developing the cultural competence of
staff and embedding a way of working
across the organisation that is inclusive
and responsive.

Continuing to keep the community
up to date with the changes and
opportunities arising from once-in-alifetime changes in aged and disability
care presents an ongoing challenge.
The City continues to be a high-quality
provider but also a primary source
of reliable information for Stirling
residents.

The City was recognised nationally for its
work in promoting multiculturalism and
newcomer integration. In September,
the City became one of the first Western
Australian councils to join the national
Welcoming Cities network. In June, the
City partnered with Welcoming Cities
and the Office of Multicultural Interests
to host the annual Working Towards
Welcome local government forum, which
provided an opportunity for the sector to
share best practice.
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Balga Friday Markets
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

Inclusive and Harmonious City
Develop the Multicultural Framework for the City of Stirling

Activity Complete

Develop a Youth Engagement Framework for the City of Stirling

In progress

Implement the Reconciliation Action Plan for the City

Activity Complete

Implement and report on the Access and Inclusion Plan (2015-2020)

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and deliver a program of works to support the City’s Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan (DAIP), Disability Discrimination Act 1992 and Disability
Discrimination Regulations 1996

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop an Age-Friendly Communities Framework for the City of Stirling

Activity Complete

Ongoing 2017/18

Active Participation and Volunteering
Identify and develop volunteering opportunities through the provision of services
to the community, including young people and families, Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander (ATSI) communities, Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD)
communities, seniors, and people with disabilities

Activity Complete

Build networks with other service providers to identify volunteering opportunities

Activity Complete

New Activities 2017/18
Two-way Dialogue
• Develop a new website to improve information quality and customer engagement
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Indicators of Success – Inclusive and Harmonious City
Community Inclusion Activities

Target/Desired Direction

The average rating of surveyed residents who think that the City of Stirling
encourages diverse groups to be part of the community:

Increase

• The very elderly
• Recent immigrants from non-English speaking backgrounds
• Teenagers and young adults
• Indigenous people
• People with a disability
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Figure 39: City Performance in Providing Community Inclusion Activities

People with
a disability

As part of the City’s resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance (out of 10) in
encouraging diverse groups to be part of the community. Examples include providing facilities, services, events and programs.
There have been very slight increases in 2016/17 for three of the focus areas: ‘teenagers and young adults’, ‘Indigenous
people’ and ‘people with a disability’. The results for all areas remain close to or below 7.0. The City will continue to monitor
and focus on this aspect of its operations.
Note: This question was not asked in the 2014/15 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey, and therefore results for that period
are not available.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success – Active Participation and Volunteering
Volunteering

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling, aged 15 years and older, who
did voluntary work through an organisation or group in the last 12 months

Increase

Results from the 2016 Census indicate that 15.2 per cent of City of Stirling residents, aged 15 years and older, undertook
some form of voluntary work through an organisation or group within the previous 12 months. This is a slight increase when
compared to (revised) Census results for 2011 (13.02 per cent). The 2016 result is slightly higher than that for Greater Perth
(Greater Capital City Statistical Area) which reported 14.4 per cent in the 2016 Census. When looking across the state, the
2016 Census found that 15.2 per cent of residents, aged 15 years and older, undertook some form of voluntary work.
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics Census 2016
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Volunteering at the City of Stirling

Target/Desired Direction

Number of volunteers participating in the delivery of City of Stirling services
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The City is fortunate to have over 550 people volunteering their services and helping the City of Stirling community. This was
sufficient to meet the volunteering needs of the City in 2016/17. A full description of the role and contribution of volunteers is
outlined in the section entitled ‘Our Volunteers’ on page 54.
Source: City of Stirling

Indicators of Success – Two-way Dialogue between the City and the Community
Keeping Residents Informed About Important Issues and Developments

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the City’s performance in
keeping residents informed about important issues and developments

Increase

Figure 40: Resident Satisfaction with the City’s Performance in Keeping Residents Informed about Important Issues and
Developments
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the City’s performance in ‘keeping residents informed about
important issues and developments’. This continues to be an important area for residents, with an average importance score
of 8.6 (out of 10). The average performance rating has remained static for the past two years at 6.8 (out of 10). The City will
continue to focus on its vital communication and engagement role.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Butchers Inglewood
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Theme 4: Accessible and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be
accessible, with sustainable
transport solutions, safer
roads and parking availability.
Improved technology
will create a connected
community, with many of the
City’s services available online.
Achievements
Road Upgrades
As part of the City’s ongoing program,
43 road sections were resurfaced.
Benefits include maintaining the service
life of these roads, improved stormwater
run-off, increased stopping/braking
capability and reduced road noise.
The City received $2.8 million in funding
under the Federal Government’s
Roads to Recovery program, allowing
rehabilitation and resurfacing of
sections of Erindale Road, Alexander
Drive and Dianella Drive.
The City secured $1.2 million of State
and Federal Government funding for
road and traffic upgrades under the
Black Spot Program and Metropolitan
Regional Road Group (MRRG).
The City completed major road and
drainage upgrade works on Hutton
Street. This was a complex project
in a highly built-up area, requiring
ongoing consultation with residents and
additional traffic management to enable
continuous through-traffic.

Footpaths

Challenges

The City continued its implementation
of the Strategic Footpath Program, with
approximately 13 kilometres of new
footpaths constructed throughout the
City during the 2016/17 financial year.

The number of reports of faulty or
substandard street lights continues to
increase. Maintenance of street lighting
is the responsibility of Western Power,
who suspended their Bulk Globe
Replacement (BGR) program in 2013.
The City is seeking the assistance of
WALGA and other local governments
to facilitate a solution, as many street
lights are beginning to operate below the
minimum required output (Lux) levels.

Paid Parking
The City continued to progress
the Public Parking Implementation
Strategy, with more than 50 new
on-street parking bays constructed
in Glendalough (Pollard Street) and
Herdsman (Parkland Road).
Rights of Way
The City continued the implementation
of the Rights of Way Management
Strategy, with $4.2 million-worth of
upgrades to seal roads, install drainage
and install energy-efficient LED street
lighting in the City’s Rights of Way.
Technology
The continuation of the Be eSmart
And Tech Savvy (BEATS) program saw
a variety of activities held at Stirling
Libraries, including basic computer
training, internet searching, using
e-resources, being eSmart, iPad and
android classes, digital photography
and emerging technologies.
Additionally, Library Services were
awarded national accreditation as
eSmart Libraries, providing staff and
library customers with cyber-safe
initiatives designed to equip and
connect library users with the skills they
need for smart, safe and responsible
use of technology.

Reported internet speeds achieved
via the National Broadband Network
(NBN) roll out are lower than anticipated
and have not met with some residents,
expectations. This project is not City-run
but has affected the Stirling community.
The Australian Competition and
Consumer Commission (ACCC) is now
monitoring the internet services being
supplied through the NBN network. The
City will make this report available when
it is released in early 2018.
Temporary parking shortages during the
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s
redevelopment of Scarborough have led
to complaints from the community.

Library Services completed
implementation of the new library
software system, which will provide
a more integrated and user-friendly
experience. A new central booking
system has also been introduced at
Stirling Community Centre - Osborne
to manage the bookings for the City’s
Community and Recreation Centres.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 109

Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress
in 2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

Finalise the Herdsman/Glendalough Structure Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Work with the Department of Transport on proposed light rail networks and
advancement to existing public transport networks

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Planning for Accessibility

Travel Choice
Work with Public Transport Authority (PTA) to encourage the use of public
transport through the provision of bus priority measures and upgraded bus stop
infrastructure

Activity Complete

Review the Transport Asset Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Transport Asset Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop the Bike Route Development Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the Transport Asset Management Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Transport Asset Management Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Review, stage and implement the Self Explaining Roads pilot project and select
additional sites for implementation (on completion of pilot project)

Activity Complete

Implement the Rights of Way Program

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the Drainage Asset Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Drainage Asset Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the City’s Public Parking Implementation Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Public Parking Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop smart parking technology plan for:

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the City’s Strategic Information Management Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Strategic Information Management Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s e-business Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement new Facility Bookings Management Software that enables online
facility bookings

Activity Complete

Safer Roads

Smart Parking

• available parking locations
• integrated spatial incident reporting
Connected City

New Activities 2017/18
Travel Choice
• Review and implement an Integrated Transport Strategy
• Develop a City deal for application for federal funding for Scarborough Beach Road Light Rail
Smart Parking
• Develop the Ellen Stirling Boulevard Car Park
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Indicators of Success – Planning for Accessibility
Local Neighbourhoods Provide for Residents’ Daily Needs

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who agree that their local neighbourhood
provides for all their daily needs

Maintain or Increase

Figure 41: Local Neighbourhoods Provide for Residents’ Daily Needs
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Through the Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey, residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the
statement ‘my local neighbourhood provides for all my daily needs’ where ‘local neighbourhood’ is defined as ‘being within ten
minutes’ walk of where I live’. In 2016/17, 70 per cent of respondents agreed with this statement. This result has shown a four
percentage point decrease over the past three years and this area will continue to be monitored by the City.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success – Travel Choice
Travel by Foot or Bicycle

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling travelling to work by foot or
bicycle

Increase

Travel by Public Transport

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling travelling to work by public
transport

Increase

Results from the 2016 Census indicate that 11.2 per cent of respondents used one or more methods of public transport to
travel to work on Census day. This is a slight increase on the 2011 Census result for the City of Stirling of 10.9 per cent. The
2016 Census also reported that 3.2 per cent of respondents either walked or use a bicycle to get to work on Census day.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 111

City Cycleways

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City ≥7.0
of Stirling with the provision and maintenance of cycleways
Figure 42: Resident Satisfaction with the City’s Cycleways
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the importance and performance of the City’s cycleways. The
average importance rating was 8.3 (out of 10) and the average performance rating remained static when compared to 2015/16
at 6.9 (out of 10). This result is slightly below the City’s target of ≥7.0. The City recognises the importance of well-maintained
cycleways for the community and will continue to focus on this area.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
City Pedestrian Ways

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City ≥7.0
of Stirling in the provision and maintenance of pedestrian ways
Figure 43: Resident Satisfaction with City Pedestrian Ways
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In the resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the importance and performance of the City’s provision
and maintenance of pedestrian ways. The average importance rating was high at 8.9 (out of 10) and the average performance
rating was 7.2 (out of 10). The result has been consistently above target for the last few years, suggesting that residents
consider the City to be performing this service well.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Safer Roads
Road Traffic Accidents

Target/Desired Direction

Number of reported road traffic accidents in the City of Stirling

Decrease

Table 9: Number of Reported Road Traffic Accidents in the City
Year

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

4,500

4,106

3,810

3,673

3,590

There were 3,590 reported road traffic accidents in the City in 2016. Encouragingly, the total number of accidents continues to
reduce year on year and it is hoped that, with better road education and quality roads, this trend will continue.
Source: Main Roads WA
Average Travel Speed on Local Access Roads

Target/Desired Direction

Average of (85th percentile) travel speeds recorded on 50km/h local access roads
[km/h]

Decrease

Table 10: Travel Speeds on Local Access Roads
Year

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Average of (85th percentile) travel speeds
recorded on 50km/h local access roads [km/h]

50.1

49.5

51.3

50.4

49.1

The average (85th percentile) travel speeds recorded on 50km/h local access roads in the City of Stirling was 49.1km/h.
Source: City of Stirling traffic count monitoring surveys

Indicators of Success – Smart Parking
City Parking

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the City
of Stirling in the provision and management of parking throughout the City

≥6.0

Figure 44: Resident Satisfaction with the Provision and Maintenance of Parking in the City
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The City’s resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the performance of the City’s provision and management of
parking. Historically, a single question has been asked covering both provision and management. In the 2017 survey, these
focus areas were separated in order to allow the City to better gauge residents’ views. For performance, both the provision
and the management of parking scored an average of 6.8 (out of 10). The average importance rating did differ between the
two questions however. The average importance score for the provision of parking was 8.4 (out of 10) whereas the average
importance score for the City’s management of parking was 8 (out of 10). The performance results of 6.8 remain well above
target but the City does recognise that parking is an important issue to residents and that there is still progress to be made in
this area.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will
be fostering business
development and
employment opportunities,
making it a great place to
invest. Our attractions and
events will stimulate tourism,
increasing the number of
visitors to our City.
Achievements
Stirling City Centre
Numerous community consultations/
meetings regarding the Stirling City
Centre Project occurred this financial
year, including a Stirling City Centre
Enabling Infrastructure Workshop; a
Stirling City Centre Station Precinct
Open Day; numerous landowner
meetings on the Southern Precinct
Local Development Plan; meetings with
local residents and the representatives
of Westfield, Primewest, the Botanica
development site and commercial
landowners on the southern side of
Scarborough Beach Road; and a
Stirling City Centre Southern Precinct
Open Day.
Expansion of Innaloo
Shopping Centre
A revised development application for
the expanded Innaloo Shopping Centre
has been approved by the Development
Assessment Panel.

Tourism

Challenges

The City continues to attract high
numbers of visitors to our region, with
496,000 visitors for the year to 31
March 2017. We partnered with the
Cities of Wanneroo and Joondalup to
promote the Sunset Coast region as a
tourist destination.

With challenging economic conditions
at a state level and the reduction in
mining construction-based employment
and investment, there has been an
increase in local unemployment. This
is particularly evident in the suburbs
of Balga, Mirrabooka, Nollamara
and Westminster, which record
consistently high unemployment
rates compared to other suburbs in
the City and the state average.

Department of Housing Partnership
The City established a new partnership
with the Department of Housing
to encourage the development of
affordable and social housing in the
City, to support access to appropriate
housing and create employment as
projects are developed.
Mayoral Business Breakfast

The Scarborough Redevelopment
Project currently being delivered by the
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority
and the City of Stirling has caused some
disruption during construction and has
contributed to a challenging time for
some business owners in the region.

The City hosted another successful
Mayoral Business Breakfast in June
with over 130 business and community
leaders and government sector
representatives. The 2017 Mayoral
Breakfast DVD ‘Building on Success’
was shown, highlighting future
investment opportunities, including the
new Stirling City Centre.
Food Van Trial
The City completed the ‘Food on The
Move’ food van trial to inform a future
policy on the operation and licensing of
mobile food vans in the City, with eight
designated sites across the City.
‘Just Start IT’ Program
The City sponsored the ‘Just Start IT’
program providing future entrepreneurs
at Dianella Secondary College the
opportunity to develop a business
application and experience the
process of starting a technology-based
business.
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress
in 2016/17

Plans for
2017/18

Implement the Economic and Tourism Development Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City-wide Digital Economic Strategy by supporting the roll out of
the NBN

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Assist the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority to implement the Scarborough
Redevelopment Project

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the Mirrabooka Regional Centre Improvement Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Great Place to Work, Invest and Do Business

Implement the Stirling City Centre Project

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop a detailed Area Plan for the Stirling City Centre Northern Precinct

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Destination City
Improve tourism infrastructure including short-stay accommodation

Activity Complete

Promote commercial tourism development opportunities

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Indicators of Success – Great Place to Work, Invest and Do Business
The City as a Place to Invest in a Business

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider a location in the City of
Stirling to start or purchase a business

≥50%

Figure 45: The City is a Place to Invest in a Business
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In the Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey respondents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the
statement ‘I would consider a location in the City of Stirling if I were starting or purchasing a business’. The 2016/17 result,
with 56 per cent of residents agreeing with the statement, is eight percentage points down on the 2015/16 result. While
attitudes towards business and property are a useful indicator of investment sentiment, they are strongly affected by market
forces and other variables that are beyond the control of the City. As such, the City has identified a relatively low target range
of >50 per cent for this indicator. The City will continue to monitor the results in this area.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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The City as a Place to Invest in a Property

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider a location in the City of
Stirling to invest in a property

≥70%

Figure 46: The City is a Place to Invest in Property
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Residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘I would consider a location in the City of
Stirling to invest in a property’. In 2016/17, 74 per cent of respondents agreed with this statement, four percentage points
down on the previous year. Numerous variables such as the economic climate and subsequent public confidence will influence
these results, but the City is pleased that the region remains attractive to property investors.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
Value of Commercial Investment in the City

Target/Desired Direction

$ value of commercial investment in the City

Increase

Figure 47: $ Value of Commercial Building Permits issued
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The above chart represents the value of commercial building permits issued per financial year. In previous annual reports, this
table has included a blend of data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics and City of Stirling development applications. On
review it has been determined that the most accurate results would be provided by utilising data relating to actual building
permits issued by the City.
Source: Commercial Building Permits issued by the City of Stirling

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 117

City of Stirling
Beach Inspectors
118

Indicators of Success – Destination City
Tourist Visitors to the City

Target/Desired Direction

Number of tourist visitors to the City

Increase

Figure 48: Total Overnight Visitors to the City
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The above chart represents the number of total overnight visitors to the City per year (year ending March) as provided by the
Tourism Council Western Australia. In previous years, the results relating to tourist visitors to the City have been a blend of
data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics and Tourism Research Australia, to report ‘total overnight’ and ‘daytrip’ visitors to
the City. To ensure increased accuracy, the City has opted to report only on ‘total overnight’ visitors using a single data source
over a five-year period.
Source: Tourism Research Australia
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Theme 6: Making It Happen –
City’s Capacity to Deliver
Achievements

Australasian Reporting Awards

Challenges

The City conducted a service and
organisational review which streamlined
efficiencies across the organisation.

The City was awarded a Gold Award
for its 2015/16 Annual Report at the
Australasian Reporting Awards, for
demonstrating overall excellence in
annual reporting.

Electronic Tendering

Risk Management

Through the service and organisational
review, which saw staff redundancies
and business unit integration, the
City was challenged with managing
communications to staff and
dispelling uncertainty among
affected business units.

The City moved to an electronic
tendering (e-tendering) system, with all
the City’s tender opportunities being
advertised and responded to online.
Tenderers can now register, download
requests, submit responses and receive
notification of new opportunities via an
online portal.

The City has developed and
implemented a strategic Risk
Management Framework which will
appropriately identify and evaluate risks
as well as facilitate the development
and implementation of strategies to
manage such risks effectively within the
City of Stirling.

Property Strategy

Training

Implementation of the City’s Property
Strategy has resulted in an increase in
its net revenues of 218 per cent and
improved occupancy levels from 87 per
cent to 91 per cent across its property
investment portfolio during 2016/17.

The City implemented two new
customised online training modules
relating to AIIMS Emergency
Management (Australasian Inter-Service
Incident Management System). The
City also provided Disability Awareness
Training to 41 of its employees in
2016/2017, assisting participants to
identify a range of access and inclusion
issues affecting people with disability.

Service and Organisational Review

With demands across a large volume
of capital works projects and the City’s
ongoing provision of high-quality
services and facilities, resourcing and
financial challenges are experienced
across the organisation. Planning
and executing these projects, while
maintaining service levels, can have
long-term financial sustainability
impacts for the City.
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2016/17 and Plans for 2017/18
2016/17 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2016/17

Plans for 2017/18

Develop and implement a Customer Service Strategy

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Create, maintain and update ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ section on the City’s
website

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Improve customer complaint records and implement a complaint-handling
process to sit across the organisation

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Conduct Governance Health Check of the City

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and implement a Risk Management Information System to appropriately
record and manage risk within the City

Activity Complete

Develop and deliver sustainability e-learning induction module to all staff

Activity Complete

Review the Climate Change Adaptation Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and implement a Corporate Project Management Framework

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Customer Focus

Good Governance

Prudent Financial Management
Review and implement the Long-term Financial Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Further integrate the City’s Long-term Financial Plan and Annual Budget with the
City’s Integrated Planning Framework

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Establish the City’s position with respect to additional income generation, as part
of the annual review of the Long-term Financial Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement Stirling Transformational Enterprise Procurement (STEP) program

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop, review and implement the Asset Management Framework

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Review and implement the Property Strategy

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Review the City’s Workforce Plan

Delayed to 2017/18

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the City’s Workforce Plan

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and review the Strategic Community Plan and Corporate Business Plan
in accordance with legislative requirements and through the process set out in
the City’s Integrated Planning and Reporting Process Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Develop and review a Measurement and Reporting Framework to support
effective implementation, continuous improvement and accountable reporting on
progress with the City’s Plan for the Future

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

Implement the agreed outcomes of the Service and Organisational Review,
including a City services and structural review to determine the most effective
and efficient way of delivering services and achieving the objectives of the
Strategic Community Plan

Deliverables
Achieved

Ongoing 2017/18

In progress

Ongoing 2017/18

Investing for the Future

Employer of Choice

Integrated Planning and Reporting

Partner of Choice and Persuasive Advocate
Adopt a strategic approach to partnerships, alliances and advocacy for the
benefit of the City

New Activities 2017/18
Customer Focus
• Implement the Customer Relationship Management System Project
Partner of Choice and Persuasive Advocate
• Prepare a Stakeholder Management Plan
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Indicators of Success – Customer Focus
The Process to Lodge Feedback to the City

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who have provided formal feedback to the
City and who are satisfied with the process to lodge their feedback

Increase

Figure 49: Resident Satisfaction with the Process to Lodge Feedback to the City
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents whether they had submitted any formal feedback to the City of Stirling
within the previous 12 months. Those who had submitted formal feedback were then asked to rate their satisfaction with
the process to lodge their feedback. In 2016/17, 63 per cent of these respondents indicated they were satisfied. This is a six
percentage point increase when compared to the 2015/16 result, which is a pleasing reflection of the City’s focus on increased
customer service. The City recognises, however, that this must remain a focus going into the future
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
The Time Taken by the City to Address Concerns/Feedback

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who have provided formal feedback to the
≥70%
City and who are satisfied with the time taken to address their concerns or feedback
Figure 50: Resident Satisfaction with the Time Taken by the City to Address Concerns or Feedback
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The survey respondents who had submitted formal feedback to the City were also asked how satisfied they were with the
time taken to address their feedback. There was a pleasing six percentage point increase in 2016/17 when compared to the
previous year. However, the result of 51 per cent of respondents stating that they were satisfied with the time taken indicates
that there is still great scope for the City to improve this result and this therefore remains an important focus area for the City.
Source: 2017 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Good Governance
Annual Compliance Returns

Target/Desired Direction

Number of non-compliance issues in compliance audit return

0

Table 11: Annual Compliance Returns

Number of issues in compliance audit
return

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

1

2

0

0

0

The City met its target and did not have any non-compliance issues in its Annual Compliance Return to the Department of
Local Government and Communities in 2016/17.
Source: City of Stirling
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Target/Desired Direction

Number of significant fines and monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
environmental laws and regulations

0

Number of significant fines and monetary sanctions for non-compliance with other
laws and regulations

0

Table 12: Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Number of significant fines and
monetary sanctions for noncompliance with environmental laws
and regulations

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

Number of significant fines and
Not reported
monetary sanctions for non-compliance
with other laws and regulations

The City did not receive any significant fines or monetary sanctions relating to non-compliance with laws and regulations.
Source: City of Stirling

Indicators of Success – Prudent Financial Management
Operating Surplus Ratio

Target

Operating revenue minus operating expense

0.01 – 0.15

Own-source operating revenue
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to cover its operational costs and have revenues available for capital
funding or other purposes.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
Basic Standard between 1 per cent and 15 per cent (0.01 and 0.15). Advanced Standard > 15 per cent (>0.15).
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

0.0913

0.0583

0.1039

0.0500

0.0839

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
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Current Ratio

Target

Current assets minus restricted current assets

>1.5

Current liabilities minus liabilities associated with restricted assets
Purpose:
This is a modified commercial ratio designed to focus on the liquidity position of a local government that has arisen from past
years’ transactions.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
The standard is not met if the ratio is lower than 1:1 (less than 100 per cent). The standard is met if the ratio is greater than
1:1 (100 per cent or greater). A ratio less than 1:1 means that a local government does not have sufficient assets that can be
quickly converted into cash to meet its immediate cash commitments.
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2.7306

2.4041

2.9252

3.0831

2.1982

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
Own Source Revenue Coverage Ratio

Target

Own-source operating revenue

>0.9

Operating expense
Purpose:
This ratio is a measurement of a local government’s ability to cover its costs through its own revenue efforts.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
A basic standard is achieved if the ratio is between 40 per cent and 60 per cent (or 0.4 and 0.6). An intermediate standard is
achieved if the ratio is between 60 per cent and 90 per cent (or 0.6 and 0.9). An advanced standard is achieved if the ratio is
greater than 90 per cent (or >0.9).
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

0.9876

0.9811

1.1252

1.0713

1.0995

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
Debt Service Cover Ratio

Target

Annual operating surplus before interest and depreciation

Maintain

Principal and interest
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to repay its debt, including lease payments. The higher the ratio is,
the easier it should be for a local government to obtain a loan.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
A basic standard is achieved if the ratio is greater than or equal to 2. An advanced standard is achieved if the ratio is
greater than 5.
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

0

0

0

0

0

The City of Stirling has no debt and therefore nil ratio score.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 125

Indicators of Success – Investing for the Future
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio

Target

Assets renewals

≥1.1

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government to fund its projected asset renewal/replacements in the future.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
Standard is met if the ratio is between 75 per cent and 95 per cent (or 0.75 and 0.95). Standard is improving if the ratio is
between 95 per cent and 105 per cent (or 0.95 and 1.05), and the asset sustainability ratio falls within the range of 90 per cent
to 110 per cent, and the asset consumption ratio falls within the range of 50 per cent to 75 per cent.
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

1.4759

1.9868

1.9464

1.8890

2.8755

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
Asset Consumption Ratio

Target

Depreciated replacement cost of assets

≥0.75

Current replacement cost of depreciated assets
Purpose:
This ratio measures the extent to which depreciable assets have been consumed by comparing their written-down value to
their replacement cost.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
Standard is met if the ratio can be measured and is 50 per cent or greater (0.50 or >). Standard is improving if the ratio is
between 60 per cent and 75 per cent (0.60 and 0.75).
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

0.6339

0.9105

0.9410

0.9382

0.9953

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
Asset Sustainability Ratio

Target/Desired Direction

Capital renewal and replacement expenditure

≥1.2

Depreciation expense
Purpose:
This ratio indicates whether a local government is replacing or renewing existing non-financial assets at the same time that its
overall asset stock is wearing out.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries:
Standard is met if the ratio can be measured and is 90 per cent (or 0.90). Standard is improving if this ratio is between 90 per
cent and 110 per cent (or 0.90 and 1.10).
Results
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2.0858

1.9540

2.7274

2.5187

3.4996

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
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Indicators of Success – Employer of Choice
Annual employee turnover

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage annual employee turnover

≤15%

% Annual employee turnover

Figure 51: Employee Turnover Rate

15
11.2%

11.9%

10.7%

10

9.9%

10.7%

5

0

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

The City of Stirling’s employee turnover rate is 10.7 per cent for 2016/17, well within the City’s target of ≤15per cent.
Source: City of Stirling

Indicators of Success – Partner of Choice and Persuasive Advocate
Partnerships and Alliances
The City continued to foster alliances in 2016/17 and is strongly committed to developing and maintaining partnerships to
provide sustainable economic and social benefits for our community.
The City of Stirling’s partnership with the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority remained strong in 2016/17, with the delivery of
the Scarborough Beach Redevelopment Project progressing well. Sunset Hill was completed and the construction of the public
domain works and the new surf club facilities commenced. On completion, Scarborough Beach will offer an outstanding mix of
amenities to cater for pool users, beachgoers and the general public. By early 2018, there will be new public spaces, tree-lined
promenades, public art and recreational facilities, turning this into one of the best beachfront destinations in Australia.
During 2016/17, the City of Stirling undertook extensive, targeted lobbying on a State and Federal level in an effort to secure
funding for its number one priority – the Stirling City Centre. The Stirling City Centre and neighbouring Herdsman Glendalough
area is the largest business precinct outside the Perth CBD, employing over 40,000 people. The area is ‘bursting at the seams’
with major congestion and traffic management issues. The City has been working with State and Federal Government and
the private sector on this urban transformation project to alleviate the critical issues of congestion and housing affordability,
to improve connectivity and increase access to jobs. In June 2016, the Western Australian State Government confirmed
its support for the project by committing $60 million to the first stage. A number of meetings were held with the Federal
Government and the private sector to lobby for further funding towards this major project and these activities will continue
in 2017/18.
The City of Stirling also works with many State Government agencies to deliver a range of services to support the needs of the
community, including:
• Aged Care Services
• Child Protection and Family Support
• Aboriginal Engagement
• Family Services
• Road Safety
• Environment Conservation and Management
• Community Safety.
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Scarborough Clock Tower
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Service
Performance
Report
This section reports the City’s performance against
service commitments made in the Corporate
Business Plan (2016/17-2019/20). During
2016/17 the City performed an organisational
structure review to ensure more efficient and
effective delivery of its services. These changes
are reflected in the directorate and business
unit structures outlined in this section.
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Administration Centre, Stirling

Overview of the City’s Directorates
Community Development

Infrastructure

Planning and Development

The Community Development
Directorate includes Community Safety,
Community Services, Customer and
Communications and Recreation and
Leisure Services business units. It has
a current total of 292.90 established
Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) positions
including 2.50 FTE Directorate support.

The Infrastructure Directorate
encompasses City Building,
Engineering Design, Engineering
Operations, Parks and Sustainability
and Waste and Fleet business units. It
has a current total of 387.50 established
FTE positions, including 11.00 FTE
assigned to Directorate support and
Property Services.

The Planning and Development
Directorate encompasses the
Approvals, City Planning and Health
and Compliance business units. It has
a current total of 90.50 established FTE
positions, including 5.00 FTE assigned
to Directorate support and Economic
Development.

Office of the Chief
Executive Officer

Direct Revenue refers to all sources
of funding that contribute to the
City’s operating budget, including
revenue from rates, waste service
charges, grants and fees and
charges for services.

Corporate Services
The Corporate Services Directorate
encompasses the Corporate
Information Services, Finance Services
and Human Resources business
units. It has a current total of 86.40
established FTE positions including
2.00 FTE Directorate support.

130

The Office of the Chief Executive Officer
includes both Governance and Strategy
business units and the Executive
Services team. It has a current total of
32.37 established FTE positions.

Throughout the following section:

Direct Expenses refers to operating
costs without activity cost-based
allocations.

Community Safety
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City



Making It
Happen

Prosperous City



Purpose Statement
To provide services, work to make the City a safer place and implement the City’s paid parking program.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Emergency Management

• Ranger Services

• Security Services

• Animal Management
2012/13

• Parking Services.

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Emergency and recovery management arrangements
Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
are in place and up to date, and comply with State
adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence
Emergency Management policy requirements**
Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in Security Patrols*

7.4

6.8

7.6

7.4

7.8

≥7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in Ranger Services*

7.5

7.1

7.5

7.2

7.2

≥7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
7.0
performance in provision and management of parking*

6.6

6.8

6.8

6.8#

≥7.0

In 2017 the City’s resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to separately rate the performance of the City’s provision
and management of parking. Both the provision, and the management of parking, scored an average of 6.8 (out of 10) and so
the results have been left as consolidated for this report.

#

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey.
** Source: City of Stirling records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

58.30

55.08

Temporary

6.90

4.6

Total

65.20

59.68

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$5,563,584

$6,181,732

$5,606,614

Direct Expenses

($7,584,769)

($6,638,192)

($7,202,069)

Total Net Operating

($2,021,186)

($456,460)

($1,595,456)
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Community Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen



Purpose Statement
To serve the City’s diverse community through delivering efficient, responsive and sustainable services.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Community centres

• Aged and disability care services

• Disability, access and inclusion
coordination

• Home and Community Care Program

• Domestic violence and crisis
accommodation

• Day clubs

• Children’s Services

• Volunteer services

• Transport services

• Library and Information Services

• Men’s Shed

• Food services

• Home and Community Care (HACC)
Regional Assessment

• Family services

• Stirling History Collection and
Mount Flora Regional Museum.

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average user satisfaction rating for community
centres*

N/A

N/A

88%

89%

89%

80%

Adherence to legislated Disability Access and
Inclusion Planning review and reporting cycle
(Plan reviewed every five years and Report
submitted annually)

Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence

Average user satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision of services
and programs for seniors and people with disability*

N/A

N/A

87%

86%

88%

80%

Average user satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision of services
and programs for families and children*

N/A

N/A

96%

96%

96%

80%

Average user satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s N/A
performance in the provision of services and programs
supporting our culturally diverse community*

N/A

96%

97%

96%

80%

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of libraries**

8.1

8.3

8.6

8.5

≥ 8.0
(Max 10)

8.4

Library book stock loans (all formats) plus renewals*** 1.98 million 1.88 million 1.89 million 1.81 million 1.66# million 1.8 million
Local History: number of photos in Stirling
history collection

N/A

N/A

950

1,000

4,200

1,050

Local History: number of photos available online
in Stirling history collection

N/A

N/A

300

560

890

700

# Loan volumes were reduced in 2016/17 due to the implementation of a new library software system which required planned
library closures and extended book loan periods.
* Source: City of Stirling Community Services Business Unit – Service User Surveys
** Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
*** Source: State Library Western Australia
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Plant Giveaway, Stirling Community Centre - Karrinyup

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

128.32

133.08

Temporary

40.95

33.05

Total

169.27

166.13

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$9,292,500

$9,864,996

$9,931,238

Direct Expenses

($19,868,092)

($19,596,997)

($21,097,148)

Total Net Operating

($10,575,592)

($9,732,001)

($11,165,910)
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Customer and Communications
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City



Making It
Happen





Purpose Statement
To ensure the City engages with stakeholders, ensuring that the City understands and responds to the views of the community
and that the City’s places and spaces are vibrant and lively. To manage the communication and marketing of the City’s
projects, initiatives and services, and create a customer-focussed organisation. To lead the digital transformation of the City to
enhance efficiency and the customer experience.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Marketing
• Stakeholder Engagement
• Arts and Events
• Customer Service.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in keeping residents informed about
important issues and developments

7.1

6.5

6.6

6.8

6.8

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of community events
and cultural activities

7.5

7.5

7.5

7.6

7.5

≥ 7.0

Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

37.59

38.99

Temporary

3.35

2.05

Total

40.94

41.04

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$72,150

$120,619

$66,650

Direct Expenses

($5,696,994)

($5,103,563)

($6,296,483)

Total Net Operating

($5,624,844)

($4,982,944)

($6,229,833)
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Recreation and Leisure Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Making It
Happen

Prosperous City


Purpose Statement
To provide and facilitate a wide range of sport, recreation and healthy lifestyle opportunities for the community through the
delivery of strategic infrastructure planning, facility management, club development, beach services and leisure programming.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Leisure planning

• Hamersley Golf Course

• Beach services

• Community recreation centres

• Club development, active reserves and sporting and
community group buildings

• Stirling Leisure Centres
• Aquatic centres.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of sports and
recreation facilities

7.8

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.8

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance with beaches

8.1

8.0

8.2

8.2

8.1

≥ 8.0

Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

66.19

69.98

Temporary

42.03

50.9

Total

108.22

120.88

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$10,014,334

$9,975,602

$11,302,696

Direct Expenses

($13,001,254)

($14,597,207)

($15,492,563)

Total Net Operating

($2,986,920)

($4,621,604)

($4,189,867)
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City Building
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To provide high-quality facilities, infrastructure and public spaces for the City to meet both current and future needs through
best-practice project management and operational and strategic asset management.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Facility Management
• Project management
• Asset management.
Key Performance Indicators

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Percentage of buildings with a condition rating of
1-3 **

N/A

N/A

N/A

90%

91%

94% by
18/19

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of community
buildings, halls and toilets

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

7.2

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of sports and
recreation facilities*

7.8

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.8

≥ 7.0
(Max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in graffiti management

7.8

7.2

7.4

7.6

7.8

≥ 7.0

Asset Management Framework that meets
legislative requirements, and Department of Local
Government and Communities guides in place and
regularly reviewed**

N/A

Strategy
in place

Plans in
place

Framework Framework Framework
in progress in place
in place

Asset sustainability ratio***

2.0858

1.9540

2.7274

2.5187

3.4996

>1.2

0.6339

0.9105

0.9410

0.9382

0.9953

>0.75

1.4759

1.9868

1.9464

1.8890

2.8755

>1.1

capital renewal and replacement expenditure
depreciation expense
Asset consumption ratio***
depreciated replacement cost of assets
current replacement cost of depreciated assets
Asset renewal funding ratio***
assets renewals
depreciation, amortisation and impairment
* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling City Building Business Unit records
*** Source: City of Stirling Finance Services Business Unit records
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Sunset Veranda, Summerset Arts Festival 2017

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

38.00

36.00

Temporary

7.66

9.00

Total

45.66

45.00

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$5,375

$54,529

$6,876

Direct Expenses

($10,084,222)

($10,616,198)

($10,831,191)

Total Net Operating

($9,185,205)

($10,561,669)

($10,824,315)

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 137

The Automobile Lab 2016
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Engineering Design
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To design the infrastructure that enables a high quality of urban life and accessibility.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Engineering design asset management
• Roads design
• Rights of way design
• Drainage design
• Traffic management
• Special projects and support.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

21.50

20.50

Temporary

2.60

1.60

Total

24.10

22.10

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$984,363

$1,352,025

$1,133,550

Direct Expenses

($7,285,333)

($5,841,337)

($6,617,171)

Total Net Operating

($6,300,970)

($4,489,311)

($5,483,621)
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Engineering Operations
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To provide and maintain infrastructure for the community and to enable a high-quality and safe urban life and accessibility by
delivering service-focussed capital and maintenance works. Promoting and facilitating emergency management for the City
and its community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Engineering operations management

• Transport infrastructure maintenance and surveying

• Emergency Management

• Transport infrastructure construction.

Note: The below Key Performance Indicators also relate to Engineering Design.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision and maintenance of traffic
calming and road safety measures *

Not
captured

6.7

7.0

7.0

6.8

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Percentage of the road network in a condition rating = 5
(outside intervention level) **

4.5%

N/A

N/A

N/A

5%

< 5%

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
7.8
performance in the provision and maintenance of roads *

7.3

7.5

7.7

7.6

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision and maintenance of
stormwater management *

7.8

7.2

7.2

7.5

7.4

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Percentage of pathways in a condition rating = 5
(outside intervention level) **

0.01%

N/A

0.36%

0.34%

0%

< 1%

Kilometres of pathways constructed ***

13km

13.6km

13.8km

13.8km

13.1km

14km

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision and maintenance of
pedestrian ways *

7.0

7.0

7.1

7.4

7.2

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision and maintenance of
cycle ways *

7.0

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.9

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision and maintenance of
street lighting *

7.8

7.3

7.5

7.3

7.2

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
7.0
performance in the provision and management of parking *

6.6

6.8

6.8

6.8

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

*Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
**Source: City of Stirling Asset Management Plans
***Source: City of Stirling Engineering Operations Business Unit Records
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NAIDOC 2016

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

84.50

84.00

Temporary

8.30

8.20

Total

92.80

92.20

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$537,016

$496,853

$507,850

Direct Expenses

($8,549,758)

($8,736,205)

($9,295,553)

Total Net Operating

($8,012,741)

($8,239,352)

($8,787,703)
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Purpose Statement
To provide attractive, safe and well-maintained parks, public places, natural areas and streetscapes for passive and active
recreation that enables quality urban life while protecting and conserving the natural environment. To improve city-wide
sustainability outcomes by providing services and support to the City and community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Parks, reserves and streetscapes
• Parks operations

• Parks: landscape architecture,
design and construction

• Natural area management

• Parks irrigation

• Sustainability.

• Tree services

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents
for the City of Stirling’s performance with parks and
sustainability*

8.1

8.0

7.9

8.1

8.1

≥ 8.0
(Max 10)

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for
the City of Stirling’s performance with streetscapes
and overall City appearance*

N/A

7.0

7.2

7.2

7.2

≥ 7.0
(Max 10)

% of bi-annual playground assets safety inspection
audits passed**

N/A

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

% of playground assets at intervention level
(condition rating = 5 ) **

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

0.5%

<10%

% of parks furniture assets at intervention level
(condition rating = 5) **

N/A

N/A

N/A

1.6%

1%

<10%

% of annual allocation of groundwater consumed**

84%

94%

86%

87%

86%

< 100%

% infield reticulation in a very poor condition, where
major work or replacement is required (condition
rating = 5) **

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

21%

20%

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for
the City of Stirling’s performance with beaches*

8.1

8.0

8.2

8.2

8.1

≥ 8.0
(Max 10)

Number of trees and shrubs planted each year
(1 million by 2030) **

37,269

53,746

69,918

126,793

127,846

60,000 +
per
annum

Percentage of surveyed residents who agree that
the City of Stirling is environmentally conscious*

60%

54%

55%

70%

70%

≥ 60%

Climate Change Adaptation Plan**

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place and
progress
monitored

*Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling Parks and Sustainability Business Unit Records
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Kids Kerfuffle 2017

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

150.50

150.80

Temporary

8.04

8.04

Total

158.54

158.84

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$75,581

$466,497

$75,472

Direct Expenses

($28,699,993)

($30,279,303)

($29,035,006)

Total Net Operating

($27,999,016)

($29,812,806)

($28,959,535)
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Purpose Statement
To provide waste collection, recycling, disposal and cleaning services for residential and non-residential premises, streets,
beaches and reserves, and to manage the City’s vehicle fleet.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Household waste collection
• Commercial waste collection

• Verge collection
• Recovery and recycling

• Beach cleaning
• Fleet management.

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance with waste management and recycling
services*

8.0

7.3

7.3

8.0

8.2

Percentage of municipal (residential) solid waste,
presented for collection, diverted from landfill **
Percentage of construction and demolition waste,
presented for collection, diverted from landfill **
Percentage of commercial and industrial waste
collection, diverted from landfill**
Fleet Emissions Reduction Tonnes of fleet CO2
emissions per annum (excludes contractor fleet)**

63%

35%

34%

44%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

N/A

0.1%

0.1%

21.3%

26.3%

4,330

4,113

4,012

3,654

3,475

8.0

8.2

8.2

8.1

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for 8.1
the City of Stirling’s performance with beaches*

2016/17
Target
≥ 7.0 (max
10)
65% # (by 30
June 2020)
75% # by 30
June 2020
70% # by 30
June 2020
Decrease to
3,250 tCO2-e
by 2020
≥ 8.0
(Max 10)

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling Waste and Fleet Business Unit Records
#Western Australia State Government Targets for Local Government

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Established
Temporary
Total

Actual FTE 2016/17
82.00
2.50
84.50

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21
81.00
2.50
83.50

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Direct Revenue
Direct Expenses
Total Net Operating
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Budgeted 2016/17
$38,387,890
($36,766,167)
$1,621,722

Actual 2016/17
$39,421,005
($30,997,032)
$8,423,973

Budgeted 2017/18
$41,215,420
($39,855,995)
$1,359,425

Approvals
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
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Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities
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Prosperous City

Making It
Happen


Purpose Statement
To facilitate development within the City and enhance the quality of the built form by providing an effective, prompt and efficient
approvals service.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Planning applications
• Building applications.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Percentage of development applications processed
within regulatory time frames **

N/A

N/A

66%

84%

90%

100%

Percentage of building permit applications
processed within regulatory time frames**

N/A

98.5%

99.3%

Certified
99.95%

Certified
99.45%

100%

Uncertified Uncertified
99.89%
99.54%
Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in providing the building or planning
approvals service*

6.0

5.0

5.7

5.9

5.1

≥ 6.0 (max
10)

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling Approvals Business Unit Records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

38.50

38.50

Temporary

12.10

11.10

Total

50.60

49.60

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$4,628,507

$3,735,896

$3,947,832

Direct Expenses

($6,261,878)

($5,142,262)

($6,013,638)

Total Net Operating

($1,633,371)

($1,406,365)

($2,065,806)
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Making It
Happen

Purpose Statement
To create liveable communities and places through strategic land use planning.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Strategic land use planning
• Urban regeneration
• Land use planning schemes and policies
• Heritage conservation.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents
with their local neighbourhood overall*

8.0

7.7

Local Planning Strategy (LPS)

Draft LPS

Draft
LPS with
WAPC

A LPS in place that meets legislative requirements
and has been endorsed by Council and the Western
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC)**

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

7.8
Not
measured

7.9

≥7

Draft
LPS with
WAPC

Draft LPS

Local
Planning
Strategy
endorsed
by WAPC
in place

Draft LPS

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling City Planning Business Unit Records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

12.00

12.00

Temporary

2.32

3.32

Total

14.32

15.32

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$50,000

$203,212

$50,000

Direct Expenses

($3,345,544)

($2,939,504)

($3,404,933)

Total Net Operating

($3,295,544)

($2,736,292)

($3,354,933)
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Purpose Statement
To provide effective and efficient regulatory and compliance services for the benefit of the community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Environmental health
• Statutory compliance
• Road reserve compliance.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the management of pollution and
noise complaints*

7.2

6.7

7.0

7.1

6.9

≥ 7.0
(Max 10)

Percentage of statutory inspections conducted
within required timeframes **

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of swimming pools and spas
inspected for barrier compliance under legislated
requirements**

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of applications processed within
legislated timeframes**

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling Health and Compliance Business Unit Records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

35.00

35.00

Temporary

3.65

3.65

Total

38.65

38.65

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$1,500,423

$1,239,936

$1,109,582

Direct Expenses

($4,599,662)

($4,792,461)

($5,108,411)

Total Net Operating

($3,099,240)

($3,552,524)

($3,998,829)

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 147

Volunteer Thank-You
Event 2017
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Purpose Statement
To manage the City’s information and communication technology.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• CIS service desk
• Technology services
• CIS projects and systems.

Information Management
Strategy is reviewed annually

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

Strategic
Information
Management
Plan (13-17)
maintained

Strategic
Information
Management
Plan (13-17)
developed

Strategic
Information
Management
Plan (13-17)
maintained

Strategic
Information
Management
Plan (13-17)
updated

Strategic
Information
Management
Plan (13-17)
maintained

Maintain

Source: City of Stirling Corporate Information Services Business Unit Records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

30.60

30.60

Temporary

2.60

2.60

Total

33.20

33.20

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$4,500

$11,927

$4,500

Direct Expenses

($7,443,485)

($7,986,704)

($7,395,772)

Total Net Operating

($7,438,985)

($7,974,777)

($7,391,272)
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Purpose Statement
To manage the City’s finances prudently, to maintain the City’s financial wellbeing, and to achieve value for money in the City’s
purchasing and procurement.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Financial management
• Purchasing, procurement and contract management.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

A Long-term Financial Plan (LTFP) that meets
the Department of Local Government and
Community guidelines is in place*

N/A

LTFP is in
place

LTFP is in
place

LTFP is in
place

LTFP is in
place

Maintain

The Annual Financial Report fairly presents
the financial position of the City of Stirling
and complies with Australian Accounting
Standards*

Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit

Current ratio*

2.7306

2.4041

2.9252

3.0831

2.1982

≥1.5

0.0913

0.0583

0.1039

0.0500

0.0839

0.01 - 0.15

0.9876

0.9811

1.1252

1.0713

1.0995

≥0.9

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

95

95

97

94

Not yet
available

≥70

current assets minus restricted current assets
current liabilities minus liabilities associated
with restricted assets
Operating surplus ratio*
operating revenue minus operating expense
own-source operating revenue
Own-source revenue coverage*
own-source operating revenue
operating expense
Debt service cover ratio
annual operating surplus
before interest and depreciation
principal and interest
Department of Local Government and
Communities Financial Health Score**

* Source: City of Stirling Finance Services Business Unit Records.
**Source: Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries
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Paw-some Day Out 2017

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

39.00

39.50

Temporary

3.40

3.40

Total

42.40

42.90

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$1,108,775

$1,370,933

$1,087,100

Direct Expenses

($7,556,087)

($7,314,702)

($6,975,594)

Total Net Operating

($6,447,312)

($5,943,769)

($5,888,494)
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Purpose Statement
To provide a range of operational, advisory and strategic human resource services and programs which enable the City to
attract, develop and retain employees to support the City in meeting its vision and mission.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Employee relations and resourcing
• Corporate learning and development
• Payroll and superannuation
• Occupational safety and health.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

A Workforce Plan that meets the
Department of Local Government and
Communities Advisory Standard*

N/A

Workforce
Workforce
Maintain
Workforce
Workforce
plan in place plan in place
plan in place plan
reviewed
and in place

Percentage Annual employee turnover*

11.2%

11.9%

10.7%

9.9%

10.7%

≤15%

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate*

N/A

N/A

5.75

15.48

11.33

Decrease

The City is accredited for Occupational
Safety and Health System in terms of the
AS/NZS 4801-2001 standard*

N/A

N/A

Working
Working
Under
towards
towards
review
accreditation accreditation

Accreditation
(Currently
under review)

* Source: City of Stirling Human Resources Business Unit Records.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

14.80

15.00

Temporary

4.00

3.20

Total

18.80

18.20

Direct Revenue/Expenses
Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

Direct Revenue

$50,458

$29,778

$51,511

Direct Expenses

($3,497,938)

($3,430,437)

($3,207,461)

Total Net Operating

($3,447,480)

($3,400,660)

($3,155,950)
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Purpose Statement
To provide high-level support to the Chief Executive Officer, the executive team and the Mayor. To provide an internal
audit function.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Advocacy, partnerships and alliances
• Internal audit.
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

An Annual and Strategic Audit Plan is
endorsed and progress against the Plans
are monitored by the Audit Committee
and Council**

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

Plans
endorsed
and
monitored

% of surveyed residents who agree that
the City of Stirling is accountable for its
actions*

60%

50%

58%

58%

54%

>60%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: City of Stirling Council Meeting Minutes

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

5.00

5.10

Temporary

0.00

0.00

Total

5.00

5.10

Direct Revenue/Expenses

Direct Expenses

Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

($1,737,179)

($1,497,035)

($1,698,878)
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Purpose Statement
To support the Council’s decision-making process and ensure compliance with statutory requirements. To manage the City’s
complaints-handling process across the organisation and to manage the City’s information management practices to ensure
compliance with legislative requirements. To coordinate the delivery of civic hospitality. To manage the City’s corporate risks
and the City’s business and strategic planning processes.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Governance

• Professional standards

• Civic hospitality

• Corporate risk management

• Corporate compliance

• Information management

Risk Management Framework and
Policy aligned to AS/NZS ISO
31000:2009 is in place*

• Integrated planning and reporting.

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17
Target

In place

In place

In place

In place

In place

In place

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Adherence to Legislated Record Keeping Full
Plan review cycle (every 5 years) *
adherence
Adherence to the State Records
Commission Standard 2, Principal
6 requirements (State Records
Commission Standard 2, Record
Keeping Plans, 2002) *

N/A

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Number of non-compliance issues in the
Department of Local Government and
Communities Compliance Audit Return*

1

2

0

0

0

0

A Strategic Community Plan and
Corporate Business Plan have been
adopted, modified or updated by an
absolute majority of Council*

N/A

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Percentage of mystery shopping across
the organisation where staff comply with
the Customer Service Standards **

Data not
comparable

87%

90.8%

90.3%

93.1%

90%

* Source: City of Stirling Governance and Strategy Business Unit Records
** Source: Independent Mystery Shopping Survey
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Paw-some Day Out 2017

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-time and Part-time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
Actual FTE 2016/17

Budgeted FTE 2017/18-20/21

Established

27.37

27.01

Temporary

3.35

3.23

Total

30.72

30.24

Direct Expenses
Direct Revenue

Budgeted 2016/17

Actual 2016/17

Budgeted 2017/18

$464,200

$483,132

$471,950

Direct Expenses

($5,418,029)

($5,231,040)

($6,867,447)

Total Net Operating

($4,953,829)

($4,747,908)

($6,395,497)
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Scarborough Beach
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City of Stirling
Financial
Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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Understanding the Financial Report and
General Purpose Financial Statements
The City’s Financial Report and
general purpose financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards
(as they apply to local governments
and not-for-profit entities), Australian
Accounting Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board,
the Local Government Act 1995 and
accompanying regulations.
The Financial Report and general
purpose financial statements are
audited by independent auditors and
are accepted by Council at the annual
Electors General Meeting.

Financial Statements
The financial statements consist of four
financial reports, explanatory notes
supporting the reports and endorsement
from the Chief Executive Officer and the
independent auditor.
The four financial reports are:
• Statement of Comprehensive Income
• Statement of Financial Position
• Statement of Changes in Equity
• Statement of Cash Flows
The explanatory notes detail the City’s
accounting policies and the make-up of
the values contained in the statements.

Statement of
Comprehensive Income
The Statement of Comprehensive
Income measures the City’s performance
over the year.
It lists the sources of the City’s revenue
under various income headings and the
expenses incurred in running the City
during the year. The expenses relate only
to the ‘operations’ and do not include the
cost associated with the purchase or the
building of assets. Expenses do include
an item for depreciation which is the value
of the assets used up during the year.
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Statement of
Financial Position
The Statement of Financial Position
shows the assets the City owns
and what it owes (liabilities) as at
30 June 2017.
The assets and liabilities are separated
into ‘current’ and ‘non-current’. Current
refers to assets or liabilities that will fall
due within the next 12 months (except
long service leave - refer note 9 within
the Notes to the Accounts).

Statement of Changes
in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity
summarises the change in value of
total ratepayers equity.
The value of equity can only change
as a result of:
• The profit or loss from operations
described as surplus or deficit in
the income statement
• The use of monies from the City’s
reserves
• A change in the value of non-current
assets resulting from a revaluation of
these assets

Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows
summarises the City’s cash payments
and receipts for the year and the level
of cash at the end of the financial year.
Cash in this statement refers to bank
deposits and investments capable of
being quickly converted to cash.
The City’s cash arises from, and is used
in, two main areas:
• Cash flows from operating activities –
summarises all income and expenses
relating to City operations, including
service delivery and maintenance

• Cash flows from Investing Activities
- relates to capital works payments
recorded as assets in the Statement
of Financial Position as well as
receipts for the sale of assets

Notes to the Statements
The Notes to the Statements are an
informative section of the report and
enable the reader to understand the
basis on which the values shown in the
statements are established.
The notes also advise if there has
been any change to the Accounting
Standards, Policy or Legislation that
has impacted on the preparation of the
statements.
Within the four Financial Statements,
there is a ‘Note’ column to indicate
which Note the reader can refer to for
additional information. This is particularly
useful where there has been a significant
change from the previous year’s
comparative figure.

Statement by Chief
Executive Officer
The Annual Financial Report and
supporting notes require certification
under the Local Government Act 1995.
The certifications are made by the Chief
Executive Officer on behalf of the City as
a written undertaking to the Statements
being correct and not misleading.

Independent Auditors Report
This document provides a written
undertaking of the accuracy, fairness
and completeness of the statements.
The audit report provides an
independent view of the statements and
advises the reader if there are any issues
of concern.

Statement by Chief Executive Officer
The attached financial report of the City of Stirling being the annual financial report
and supporting notes and other information for the financial year ended 30 June
2017 are, in my opinion, properly drawn up to present fairly the financial position
of the City of Stirling at 30 June 2017 and the results of the operations for the
financial year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
comply with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1995 (as amended) and
the regulations under that Act.
Signed on the 14th day of September 2017

Stuart Jardine PSM
Chief Executive Officer
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Sunset Veranda,
Summerset 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
by Nature or Type
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

17a

127,888,219

130,160,989

125,722,529

2,857,650

2,919,540

2,825,618

11,404,652

14,459,936

9,730,261

2,263,383

3,451,780

3,410,578

Service Charges

32,704,003

34,233,222

31,638,809

Fees & Charges

20,461,509

19,090,043

19,544,086

Interest Earnings

5,800,430

5,330,204

5,770,134

Registrations/Licences & Permits

6,020,520

5,002,477

5,491,381

Other Revenue/Income

3,173,475

4,758,454

5,470,750

212,573,841

219,406,645

209,604,146

Employee Costs

(74,925,155)

(74,165,997)

(71,003,620)

Materials & Contracts Direct Mtce of Non-Current
Assets

(20,978,013)

(23,071,211)

(19,535,044)

Materials & Contracts Other Works

(72,046,231)

(65,048,231)

(66,337,669)

Utilities (Gas, Electricity, Water etc)

(9,345,559)

(7,110,976)

(7,657,039)

(29,545,412)

(27,151,269)

(29,656,442)

-

-

-

(1,755,802)

(1,710,202)

(1,657,010)

Revenue
General Rates
Security Charge
Grants & Subsidies
Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Expenses

Depreciation on Non-Current Assets
Interest Expenses
Insurance Expenses
Other Expenditure
Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities
Net Result from Operating Activities
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(1,980,193)

(1,769,522)

(2,046,758)

(210,576,365)

(200,027,408)

(197,893,582)

1,997,476

19,379,237

11,710,564

Statement of Comprehensive Income
by Nature or Type (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

8,120,286

13,273,880

7,578,984

-

211,738

142,496

8,000,000

3,926,183

8,461,634

-

488

(7,064)

Non-Operating Activities
Grants & Subsidies
Gifted & Acquired Assets
Equity Share of Investment
Underground Power
Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Assets

-

5,666,909

(1,221,315)

Profit on Asset Disposals

3,642,745

583,350

529,953

Loss on Asset Disposals

(1,021,359)

(1,450,896)

(1,743,744)

Total Non-Operating Activities

18,741,672

22,211,652

13,740,944

Net Result

20,739,148

41,590,889

25,451,508

-

427,376,033

-

20,739,148

468,966,922

25,451,508

Other Comprehensive Income
Changes on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets

Total Comprehensive Income

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

139,807,196

144,295,613

136,007,820

Governance

1,707,546

2,031,854

2,230,153

Law, Order & Public Safety

3,516,900

3,745,948

3,592,811

273,020

278,861

429,961

Revenue from Operations
General Purpose Funding

Health
Education & Welfare

8,778,903

9,328,677

8,834,383

Community Amenities

41,828,973

42,473,867

40,690,624

Recreation & Culture

10,245,412

10,339,510

11,154,589

Transport

2,786,087

3,521,445

3,068,463

Economic Services

3,195,000

2,734,760

2,709,237

Other Property & Services
Total Revenue

434,804

656,110

886,105

212,573,841

219,406,645

209,604,146

(65,000)

(41,845)

(57,699)

(15,472,950)

(13,830,078)

(11,436,642)

Expenses from Operations
General Purpose Funding
Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety

(7,922,200)

(7,283,989)

(7,187,676)

Health

(2,558,722)

(2,406,691)

(2,408,187)

Education & Welfare

(15,552,939)

(15,624,268)

(15,343,497)

Community Amenities

(49,690,559)

(44,503,054)

(46,960,173)

Recreation & Culture

(63,667,713)

(64,288,056)

(62,080,161)

Transport

(39,777,672)

(37,916,049)

(36,708,692)

(5,829,285)

(5,501,104)

(5,355,535)

Economic Services
Other Property & Services

(10,039,325)

(8,632,274)

(10,355,319)

(210,576,365)

(200,027,408)

(197,893,581)

1,997,476

19,379,237

11,710,565

Other Property & Services

-

-

-

Total Finance Costs

-

-

-

Total Expenditure
Net Result
Finance Costs
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

2,128,421

3,248,101

1,136,911

10,000

216,820

320,000

Non-Operating Grants, Subsidies, Contributions
General Purpose Funding
Law, Order & Public Safety
Education & Welfare
Community Amenities
Recreation & Culture
Transport
Economic Services
Other Property & Services
Total Non-Operating Grants, Subsidies, Contributions

-

-

-

600,000

368,685

1,100,000

471,240

3,801,606

347,203

4,910,625

4,881,826

4,318,870

-

643,926

-

-

112,916

356,000

8,120,286

13,273,880

7,578,984

-

985

2,500

Gifted & Previously Unrecognised Assets
Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety

-

-

2,000

Education & Welfare

-

7,803

74,289

Community Amenities

-

-

62,924

Recreation & Culture

-

180,881

783

Other Property & Services

-

22,069

-

Total Gifted & Previously Unrecognised Assets

-

211,738

142,496

Equity Share of Investment
Other Property & Services

8,000,000

3,926,183

8,461,632

Total Equity Share of Investment

8,000,000

3,926,183

8,461,632

Other Property & Services

-

488

(7,064)

Total Underground Power

-

488

(7,064)

Other Property & Services

-

5,666,909

(1,221,315)

Total Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Assets

-

5,666,909

(1,221,315)

Underground Power

Gain/(Loss) on Revaluation of Assets
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

-

108,341

(69,475)

(77,466)

40,389

(15,077)

Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets
Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety
Health

(15,857)

(6,567)

(3,866)

Education & Welfare

(49,517)

(46,411)

(168,917)

Community Amenities

(356,508)

(123,424)

(52,170)

Recreation & Culture

(147,135)

(1,529,680)

(419,814)

18,672

14,217

(31,133)

Transport

(16,097)

(13,680)

(6,047)

Other Property & Services

Economic Services

3,265,294

689,269

(447,291)

Total Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets

2,621,386

(867,546)

(1,213,790)

20,739,148

41,590,889

25,451,508

-

427,376,033

-

20,739,148

468,966,922

25,451,508

Net Result
Other Comprehensive Income
Changes on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets

Total Comprehensive Income

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
$

2016
$

5a,b

125,208,406

138,245,257

Trade & Other Receivables

6a

7,711,951

8,508,553

Other Assets

6c

184,083

223,879

Assets
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents

Inventories

7

Total Current Assets

6,254,524

3,301,949

139,358,964

150,279,638

15,060,841

17,641,661

Non-Current Assets
Investments

15

Other Receivables

6b

1,935,531

1,914,014

Property, Plant & Equipment

8a

992,459,192

971,140,564

Infrastructure

8d

2,200,519,386

1,735,092,524

Total Non-Current Assets

3,209,974,950

2,725,788,763

Total Assets

3,349,333,914

2,876,068,401

34,629,115

29,879,130

34,629,115

29,879,130

1,055,959

1,507,353

1,055,959

1,507,353

35,685,074

31,386,483

3,313,648,840

2,844,681,918

989,831,293

939,122,501

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Payables & Provisions

9

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables & Provisions

9

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Net Assets
Equity
Accumulated Surplus
Reserves - Cash/Investment Backed

10a

83,312,606

92,430,509

Reserves - Asset Revaluation

10b

2,240,504,941

1,813,128,908

3,313,648,840

2,844,681,918

Total Equity

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

Balance as at 30 June 2015

Retained
Reserves
Surplus Cash Backed
$
$

Revaluation
Surplus
$

Total
Equity
$

925,024,814

80,086,429

1,813,175,148

2,818,286,391

25,451,508

-

-

25,451,508

Comprehensive Income
Net Result
Change on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income
Transfers to Reserves
Transfers from Reserves

Balance as at 30 June 2016

-

-

-

-

25,451,508

-

-

25,451,508

(30,800,641)

30,800,641

944,019

944,019

19,446,820

(18,456,561)

(990,259)

-

939,122,501

92,430,509

1,813,128,908

2,844,681,918

41,590,889

-

-

41,590,889

Comprehensive Income
Net Result
Change on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income
Transfers to Reserves
Transfers from Reserves

Balance as at 30 June 2017

-

-

427,376,033

427,376,033

41,590,889

-

427,376,033

468,966,922

(27,567,275)

27,567,275

-

-

36,685,178

(36,685,178)

-

-

989,831,293

83,312,606

2,240,504,941

3,313,648,840

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
$

2016
$

130,643,733

126,453,733

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Rates
Fees from Regulatory Services
User Charges
Interest Earned
Other Grants & Contributions

7,190,170

7,697,145

57,029,200

54,832,458

5,565,203

5,627,070

14,459,936

4,568,373

5,262,925

10,316,826

220,151,167

209,495,605

Staff Expenses

(94,188,832)

(91,550,972)

Materials & Contracts

(71,527,334)

(67,165,672)

Utilities

(7,108,974)

(7,925,405)

Insurance

(1,710,202)

(1,657,010)

Other Expenditure

(1,769,522)

(2,046,758)

Activity Functional Operating Revenue

Payments

Interest

-

-

(176,304,864)

(170,345,817)

43,846,303

39,149,788

New & Redevelopment of Community Infrastructure

(41,368,858)

(39,124,222)

Payments for Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment

(36,704,284)

(16,895,639)

Net Cash from Operating Activities

16d

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Payments for Investment in Other Entity
Proceeds from Investment in Other Entity
Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment

(94,883)

(89,349)

3,666,668

5,000,002

4,344,323

3,234,437

13,273,880

14,545,703

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

(56,883,154)

(33,329,068)

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalent

(13,036,851)

5,820,720

Capital Grants & Contributions (Govt & Non-Govt)

Cash & Cash Equivalent at Beginning of Reporting Period

16a

138,245,257

132,424,537

Cash & Cash Equivalent at End of Reporting Period

16a

125,208,406

138,245,257

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Rate Setting Statement by Nature or Type
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

2,857,650

2,919,540

2,825,618

11,404,652

14,459,936

9,730,261

Revenue
Security Charge
Grants & Subsidies

2,263,383

3,451,780

3,410,578

Service Charges

Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations

32,704,003

34,233,224

31,638,809

Fees & Charges

20,461,509

19,090,043

19,544,086

Interest Earnings

5,800,430

5,330,204

5,770,134

Profit on Asset Disposal

3,642,745

583,350

529,953

Registrations/Licences & Permits

6,020,520
3,195,999

5,002,477

5,491,381

4,150,528

5,470,750

88,350,891

89,221,082

84,411,570

Other Revenue/Income
Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Expenses
Employee Costs

(74,925,155)

(74,165,997)

(71,003,620)

Materials & Contracts Direct Mtce of Non-Current Assets

(20,978,013)

(23,071,211)

(19,535,044)

Materials & Contracts Other Works

(72,046,231)

(65,048,231)

(66,337,669)

Utilities (gas, electricity, water etc)
Depreciation on Non-Current Assets
Interest Expenses

(9,345,559)

(7,110,976)

(7,657,039)

(29,545,412)

(27,151,269)

(29,656,442)

-

-

-

Loss on Asset Disposal

(1,021,359)

(1,450,896)

(1,743,744)

Insurance Expenses

(1,755,802)

(1,710,202)

(1,657,010)

(1,980,193)

(1,769,522)

(2,046,758)

Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities

Other Expenditure

(211,597,724)

(201,478,304)

(199,637,326)

Total Operating

(123,246,833)

(112,257,222)

(115,225,756)
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Rate Setting Statement by Nature or Type (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

Capital Grants & Contributions

8,120,286

13,273,880

7,578,984

Proceeds from Sale of Assets

6,853,520

4,348,073

3,230,685

Plus

29,545,412

27,151,269

29,656,442

Loss Written Back

Depreciation Written Back

1,021,359

1,450,896

1,743,744

Equity Share of Investment

8,000,000

3,926,183

8,461,634

Underground Power

-

(488)

7,064

Movement in Committed Cash

-

(3,760,085)

(553,534)

Movement in Current Leave Provision

9 & 24

Transfers from Reserves
Sub Total

-

64,033

680,785

57,230,418

36,685,178

18,456,561

110,770,995

83,138,939

69,262,365

Less
(129,134,132)

(82,455,234)

(51,312,981)

Town Planning Schemes

Capital Works

1,181,755

536,027

(107,731)

Gifted & Acquired Assets

-

(211,738)

(142,496)

Movement Non-Current Assets & Liabilities
Profit on Disposal Written Back

581,030
(529,953)

(27,567,275)

(30,800,641)

(110,732,964)

(82,312,772)

41,214,526

36,080,952

38,655,919

-

26,368,169

36,080,952

127,865,694

130,138,464

125,701,196

(156,604,382)

Opening Funds

Amount Required to be Raised from Rates

(451,394)
(583,350)

(25,009,260)

Transfers to Reserves
Sub Total

Closing Funds

(3,642,745)

24
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)

Basis of Preparation
The financial report comprises
general purpose financial
statements which have been
prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting
Standards (as they apply to local
governments and not-for-profit
entities), Australian Accounting
Interpretations, other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board, the
Local Government Act 1995 and
accompanying regulations. Material
accounting policies which have
been adopted in the preparation of
this financial report are presented in
Note 2 and have been consistently
applied unless stated otherwise.
Except for cash flow and rate
setting information, the report has
also been prepared on the accrual
basis and is based on historical
costs, modified, where applicable,
by the measurement at fair value
of selected non-current assets,
financial assets and liabilities.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of a financial
report in conformity with Australian
Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on
historical experience and various
other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the
circumstances; the results of
which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
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The Local Government Reporting
Entity

c)

Cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and a
municipal fund bank account that
are highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to cash and
are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in values.

All funds through which the City
controls resources to carry on its
functions have been included in the
financial statements forming part of
this financial report.
In the process of reporting on
the City as a single unit, all
transactions and balances between
those funds (for example, loans and
transfers between funds) have been
eliminated.

d) Trade and Other Receivables
Receivables are recognised as the
amount to be received for goods
and services provided.
Collectability of trade and other
receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Debts that are
known to be uncollectible are
written off when identified. An
allowance for doubtful debts is
raised when there is objective
evidence that they will not be
collectible.

All monies held in the Trust Fund
are excluded from the financial
statements. A separate statement
of these monies appears in Note 13
to these financial statements.
b) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets
are recognised net of the amount
of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable
from the Australian Taxation Office
(ATO).
Receivables and payables are
stated inclusive of GST receivable
or payable.
The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO
is included with receivables or
payables in the Statement of
Financial Position.
Cash flows are presented on a
gross basis. The GST components
of cash flows arising from investing
or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to,
the ATO are presented as operating
cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

e)

Inventories
General
Inventories are measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable
value.
Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.
Land Held for Sale
Land held for development and
sale is the City’s equity share of lots
completed and under construction
being undertaken by Tamala Park
Regional Council on behalf of the
City and other member councils.
The City’s equity shares of any gains
on sale of lots are recognised in the
operating statement at the time of
settlement of contract of sale.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f)

Fixed Assets
Each class of fixed assets
within either property, plant and
equipment or infrastructure, is
carried at cost or fair value as
indicated less, where applicable,
any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Mandatory Requirement to
Revalue Non-Current Assets
Effective from 1 July 2012, the
Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations were
amended and the measurement
of non-current assets at Fair Value
became mandatory.
The amendments allowed for a
phasing in of fair value in relation
to fixed assets over three years as
follows:
(a) for the financial year ending on
30 June 2013, the fair value of
all of the assets of the City that
are plant and equipment; and
(b) for the financial year ending on
30 June 2014, the fair value of
all of the assets of the City (i)

that are plant and
equipment; and

(ii) that are (I)

land and buildings; or-

(II) Infrastructure;
and
(c) for the financial year ending on
or after 30 June 2015, the fair
value of all of the assets of the
City.
Thereafter, in accordance with
the regulations, each asset
class must be revalued at least
every 3 years.

In 2017, the City continued
the process of revaluing
non-current assets for Fair
Value in accordance with the
Regulations for each asset
class.
Relevant disclosures,
in accordance with the
requirements of Australian
Accounting Standards, have
been made in the financial
report as necessary.
Land Under Control
In accordance with Local
Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 16(a), the
City was required to include as an
asset (by 30 June 2013), Crown
Land operated by the City as a golf
course, showground, racecourse
or other sporting or recreational
facility of State or Regional
significance.
At 30 June 2017 the City had a golf
course within the City boundaries
which has been included in the
City’s fixed assets as land. This
golf course has been valued in
accordance with the above Local
Government Regulations.
Easements
In accordance with Local
Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 16(b),
easements are required to be
recognised as assets. At 30 June
2017 the City Easements have
been included in the City’s fixed
assets as Land. These have
been recognised and revalued in
accordance with the above Local
Government Regulations.

Initial Recognition and
Measurement between
Mandatory Revaluation Dates
All assets are initially recognised
at cost and subsequently revalued
in accordance with the mandatory
measurement framework detailed
above.
In relation to this initial
measurement, cost is determined
as the fair value of the assets
given as consideration plus costs
incidental to the acquisition. For
assets acquired at no cost or for
nominal consideration, cost is
determined as fair value at the
date of acquisition. The cost of
non-current assets constructed
by the City includes the cost of
all materials used in construction,
direct labour on the project and an
appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed overheads.
Subsequent costs are included
in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is
probable future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow
to the City and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance
are recognised as expenses in
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they
are incurred.
Revaluation
Increases in the carrying amount
arising on revaluation of assets are
credited to a revaluation surplus
in equity. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same
asset are recognised against
revaluation surplus directly in
equity. All other decreases are
recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f)

Fixed Assets (continued)
Land Under Roads
In Western Australia, all land
under roads is Crown Land, the
responsibility for managing which,
is vested in the local government.
Effective as at 1 July 2008, the City
elected not to recognise any value
for land under roads acquired on or
before 30 June 2008. This accords
with the treatment available in
Australian Accounting Standard
AASB 1051 Land Under Roads
and the fact Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
16(a)(i) prohibits local governments
from recognising such land as an
asset.
In respect of land under roads
acquired on or after 1 July 2008, as
detailed above, Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
16(a)(i) prohibits local governments
from recognising such land as an
asset.
Whilst such treatment is
inconsistent with the requirements
of AASB 1051, Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
4(2) provides, in the event of
such an inconsistency, the
Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations prevail.

Infrastructure Assets are
depreciated on a basis that reflects
their consumed economic benefit,
which is reviewed each reporting
period. Assets are depreciated from
the date of acquisition or from the
time an asset is held for use.
The expected useful lives are as
follows:
Artwork

Not Depreciated

Buildings

25 to 75 years

Furniture &
Equipment

2 to 10 years

Plant &
Equipment

5 to 15 years

Mobile Vehicles
& Plant

2 to 10 years

Computer
Equipment &
Photocopiers

2 to 10 years

Recreation
Equipment

10 to 15 years

Roads

10 to 75 years

Drainage

10 to 75 years

Depreciation

Footpaths

10 to 75 years

All non-current assets having a
limited useful life are systematically
depreciated over their useful
lives in a manner which reflects
the consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in
those assets.

Other
Engineering
Infrastructure

10 to 75 years

Reticulation &
Other Parks
Infrastructure

10 to 75 years

Reserves

Not Depreciated

Consequently, any land under
roads acquired on or after 1 July
2008 is not included as an asset of
the City.
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Property, Plant and Equipment,
including buildings but excluding
freehold land, are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives on
a straight line basis, using rates
which are reviewed each reporting
period. The carrying cost of
infrastructure assets is depreciated
on an annual basis to reflect their
expected life.

The asset’s residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are
determined by comparing proceeds
with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are included in
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they
arise.
When revalued assets are disposed
of, amounts included in the
revaluation surplus relating to that
asset are transferred to retained
surplus.
Capitalisation Threshold
Property, Plant and Equipment
with a value exceeding $5,000 are
capitalised on date of acquisition or
in respect of internally constructed
assets from the time asset is ready
for use.
Infrastructure Assets ready for
use are capitalised annually, with
depreciation commencing from first
reporting period after capitalisation.
The impact on depreciation as a
result of capitalising infrastructure
assets annually instead of
periodically is not considered
material.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
g)

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
When performing a revaluation, the
City uses a mix of both independent
and management valuations using
the following as a guide:
Fair Value is the price that the City
would receive to sell the asset or
would have to pay to transfer a
liability, in an orderly (i.e. unforced)
transaction between independent,
knowledgeable and willing market
participants at the measurement date.
As fair value is a market-based
measure, the closest equivalent
observable market pricing
information is used to determine
fair value. Adjustments to market
values may be made having regard
to the characteristics of the specific
asset. The fair values of assets
that are not traded in an active
market are determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise,
to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.
To the extent possible, market
information is extracted from either
the principal market for the asset
(i.e. the market with the greatest
volume and level of activity for the
asset) or, in the absence of such
a market, the most advantageous
market available to the entity at
the end of the reporting period
(i.e. the market that maximises the
receipts from the sale of the asset
after taking into account transaction
costs and transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair
value measurement also takes
into account a market participant’s
ability to use the asset in its highest
and best use or to sell it to another
market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13 requires the disclosure
of fair value information by level
of the fair value hierarchy, which
categorises fair value measurement
into one of three possible levels
based on the lowest level that
an input that is significant to the
measurement can be categorised
into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the City can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2
Measurements based on inputs other
than quoted prices included in Level
1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3
Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
The fair values of assets and
liabilities that are not traded in an
active market are determined using
one or more valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques
maximise, to the extent possible,
the use of observable market data.
If all significant inputs required to
measure fair value are observable,
the asset or liability is included in
Level 2. If one or more significant
inputs are not based on observable
market data, the asset or liability is
included in Level 3.
Valuation Techniques
The City selects a valuation
technique that is appropriate in
the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to
measure fair value. The availability
of sufficient and relevant data
primarily depends on the specific
characteristics of the asset or
liability being measured.

The valuation techniques selected
by the City are consistent with one
or more of the following valuation
approaches:
Market Approach
Valuation techniques that use prices
and other relevant information
generated by market transactions for
identical or similar assets or liabilities.
Income Approach
Valuation techniques that convert
estimated future cash flows or
income and expenses into a single
discounted present value.
Cost Approach
Valuation techniques that reflect
the current replacement cost of an
asset at its current service capacity.
Each valuation technique requires
inputs that reflect the assumptions
that buyers and sellers would use
when pricing the asset or liability,
including assumptions about
risks. When selecting a valuation
technique, the City gives priority
to those techniques that maximise
the use of observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable
inputs. Inputs that are developed
using market data (such as publicly
available information on actual
transactions) and reflect the
assumptions that buyers and sellers
would generally use when pricing
the asset or liability are considered
observable, whereas inputs for
which market data is not available
and therefore are developed using
the best information available about
such assumptions are considered
unobservable.
As detailed above, the mandatory
measurement framework imposed
by the Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations requires,
as a minimum, all assets carried at
a revalued amount to be revalued at
least every 3 years.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
h)

Financial Instruments
Investments and Other Financial
Assets
Financial assets in the scope of
AASB139: “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and measurement”
are classified as either financial
assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables,
recognised held-to-maturity
investments, or available-for-sale
financial assets. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in
the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs. The
City determines the classification
of its financial assets after initial
recognition and, when allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year.

Any excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its recoverable
amount is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount in
accordance with another standard
(e.g. AASB 116) whereby any
impairment loss of a revalued asset
is treated as a revaluation decrease
in accordance with that other
standard.
For non-cash generating assets
such as roads, drains, public
buildings and the like, value in use
is represented by the depreciated
replacement cost of the asset.

Liquidity and Interest Rate Risk
The City’s exposure to interest
rate risk, which is the risk that a
financial instruments value will
fluctuate as a result of changes in
market interest rates, is considered
negligible for all financial
instruments.
Liquidity risk is managed through
maintaining adequate cash
reserves and borrowing facilities.
This is achieved by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows, maintaining an appropriate
mix of financial institutions to invest
with and setting limits in terms of
borrowing and investments.
i)

Impairment of Assets
In accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards the City’s
assets, other than inventories, are
assessed at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any
indication they may be impaired.
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Provisions made in respect of
wages and salaries, annual leave
and other long service leave
expected to be settled within
12 months, are measured at
their nominal values using the
remuneration rate expected to
apply at the time of settlement.

Where such an indication exists,
an impairment test is carried out
on the asset by comparing the
recoverable amount of the asset,
being the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in
use, to the asset’s carrying amount.

j)

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent
liabilities for goods and services
provided to the City prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid
and arise when the City becomes
obliged to make future payments
in respect of the purchase of these
goods and services. The amounts
are unsecured, are recognised as
a current liability and are normally
paid within 30 days of recognition.

k)

Employee Benefits
The provision for employee
entitlements relates to amounts
expected to be paid to employees
for long service leave and annual
leave and is based on legal and
contractual entitlements. The
funds in the City’s long service
leave reserve bank account are
considered adequate.

Provisions made in respect of
long service leave which are not
expected to be settled within
12 months are measured as the
present value of the estimated
future cash outflows to be made
by the City in respect of services
provided by employees up to
reporting date.
Provisions for sick leave are not
made in the accounts as they are
non-vesting and are paid when
incurred.
l)

Leases
Lease payments for operating
leases, where substantially all the
risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses
in the periods in which they are
incurred.
The City has no finance leases.

m) Interest in Regional Council
The Council’s interest in two
Regional Councils has been
recognised in the financial
statements at cost of contributed
equity or the City’s calculated
equity share of Council. Information
about the Regional Councils is set
out in Note 15.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
n)

Rates, Grants, Donations
and Other Contributions

q) Current and Non-Current
Classification

Rates, grants, donations and other
contributions are recognised as
revenues when the City obtains
control over the assets comprising
the contributions.

In the determination of whether an
asset or liability is current or noncurrent, consideration is given to
the time when each asset or liability
is expected to be settled. The asset
or liability is classified as current if
it is expected to be settled within
the next 12 months, being the
City’s operational cycle. In the
case of liabilities where the City
does not have the unconditional
right to defer settlement beyond
12 months, such as vested long
service leave, the liability is
classified as current even if not
expected to be settled within the
next 12 months. Inventories held
for trading are classified as current
even if not expected to be realised
in the next 12 months except for
land held for sale where it is held
as non-current based on the City’s
intentions to release for sale.

Control over assets acquired
from rates is obtained at the
commencement of the rating
period or, where earlier, upon
receipt of the rates.
Where contributions recognised
as revenues during the reporting
period were obtained on the
condition that they be expended
in a particular manner or used
over a particular period, and those
conditions were undischarged as
at the reporting date, the nature
of and amounts pertaining to
those undischarged conditions
are disclosed in Note 4(g). That
note also discloses the amount
of contributions recognised as
revenues in a previous reporting
period which were obtained in
respect of the City’s operations for
the current reporting period.

r)

All figures shown in this annual
financial report, other than a rate
in the dollar, are rounded to the
nearest dollar.

o) Superannuation
The City contributes to a number
of Superannuation Funds on behalf
of employees. All funds to which
the City contributes are defined
contribution plans.

s)

Comparative Figures
Where required, comparative
figures have been adjusted
to conform with changes in
presentation for the current
financial year.

p) Borrowings
The balance of the bank overdraft
amount reflects the book position
and includes cheques that have
been drawn but have not yet been
debited to the bank account. Funds
are maintained in investment until
required.

Rounding Off Figures

t)

Budget Comparative Figures
Unless otherwise stated, the
budget comparative figures shown
in this annual financial report relate
to the original budget estimate for
the relevant item of disclosure.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2. Disclosures of Changes in Accounting Policy
a)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations for Application in Future Periods
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory
application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the City.
Management’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the City, applicable to future
reporting periods and which have not yet been adopted are set out as follows:

Title

Issued /
Compiled

Applicable

Impact

(i)

AASB 9 Financial December
Instruments
2014
(incorporating
AASB 20147 and AASB
2014-8)

1 January
2018

Nil – The objective of this Standard is to improve and simplify the
approach for classification and measurement of financial assets
compared with the requirements of AASB 139. Given the nature of
the financial assets of the City, it is not anticipated the Standard will
have any material effect.

(ii)

AASB 15
Revenue from
Contracts with
Customers

1 January
2019

This Standard establishes principles for entities to apply to report
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from a contract with a customer.

December
2014

The effect of this Standard will depend upon the nature of future
transactions the City has with those third parties it has dealings
with. It may or may not be significant.
(iii) AASB 16 Leases

February
2016

1 January
2019

Under AASB 16 there is no longer a distinction between finance and
operating leases. Lessees will now bring to account a right-to-use
asset and lease liability onto their statement of financial position
for all leases. Effectively this means the vast majority of operating
leases as defined by the current AASB 117 Leases which currently
do not impact the statement of financial position will be required to
be capitalised on the statement of financial position once AASB 16
is adopted.
Currently, operating lease payments are expensed as incurred. This
will cease and will be replaced by both depreciation and interest
charges. Based on the current number of operating leases held by
the City, the impact is not expected to be significant.

(iv) AASB 1058
Income of Notfor-Profit Entities
(incorporating
AASB 20167 and AASB
2016-8)

December
2016

1 January
2019

These standards are likely to have a significant impact on the
income recognition for NFP’s. Key areas for consideration are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Assets received below fair value
Transfers received to acquire or construct non-financial assets
Grants received
Prepaid rates
Leases entered into at below market rates
Volunteer services

Whilst it is not possible to quantify the financial impact (or if it is
material) of these key areas until the details of future transactions
are known, they will all have application to the City’s operations.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2. Disclosures of Changes in Accounting Policy (continued)
b) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards
During the current year, the City adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
which were compiled, became mandatory and which were applicable to its operations.
Whilst many reflected consequential changes associate with the amendment of existing standards, the only new standard
with material application is as follows:
Title

Impact

(i) AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards - Extending Related
Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public
Sector Entities

The objective of this Standard was to extend the scope of AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures to include not-for-profit sector entities.

[AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The Standard has had a significant disclosure impact on the financial
report of the City as both Elected Members and Senior Management
are deemed to be Key Management Personnel and resultant disclosures
in accordance to AASB 124 have been necessary.

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The carrying values of certain assets and liabilities are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other
factors, including estimates and expectations of future events.
There have been no critical accounting estimates or critical accounting judgements in applying the City’s accounting
policies made by management in preparing these financial statements that have a material impact.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses
a)

The Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations was Arrived at After Charging the Following Items:
2017
$

2016
$

Buildings

5,431,470

5,329,014

Plant & Equipment

1,285,022

1,732,122

Mobile Vehicles & Plant

2,141,264

3,215,464

975,652

1,513,721

Depreciation on:

Furniture & Office Equipment
Recreation Equipment

292,604

479,546

Roads

8,328,404

8,028,624

Drainage

2,739,706

2,655,684

Footpaths

1,710,438

1,616,209

Other Engineering Infrastructure

4,246,709

5,086,058

27,151,269

29,656,442

(867,546)

(1,213,791)

100

100

100

100

33,636

22,731

33,636

22,731

Profit/(Loss) on Sale of Non-Current Assets

Operating Leases

Auditors Remuneration
Audit of the Annual Financial Report
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
b) The Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations was Arrived at After Crediting the Following Items:
2017
$

2016
$

488

(7,064)

488

(7,064)

3,926,183

8,461,634

3,926,183

8,461,634

Interest on Reserve Fund Investments

2,444,332

2,346,776

Interest on Other Money Investments

2,605,198

2,988,965

280,674

434,393

5,330,204

5,770,134

Underground Power
Other Underground Power

Equity Share of Investment
Equity Share of Tamala Park Regional Council Sales

Interest Earnings

Other Interest
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
c)

Statement of Objective
The City is dedicated to providing high quality services to the community through the various service orientated
programmes which it has established.
Governance
To manage the administrative functions of the Council.
Law, Order and Public Safety
To increase the support to protection of life and property within the City and reduce inconvenience through the
enforcement of statutory powers and the provision of public order, safety and security services.
Health
To maintain and improve the health and well-being of the community.
Education and Welfare
To facilitate the provision of a range of services and encourage their utilisation for the social well-being of the community.
Community Amenities
To develop waste and environment management programmes which recognise community needs.
Recreation and Culture
To plan, construct, maintain and initiate a range of facilities and programmes which enables the community to satisfy its
need for information, personal development, recreation and leisure.
Transport
To provide facilities and services within the road reserve which promote safety, ease of access and improve the amenity of
the locality.
General Purpose Funding
To minimise the costs of financing City operations through effective financial planning and management.
Economic Services
To plan facilities and regulate land use consistent with community expectations and environmental considerations.
Other Property and Services
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1.

To provide a community information network that complements and supports the corporate and programme objectives
of the City.

2.

To facilitate, develop and maintain City buildings and property.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
d) Carrying Cost of Assets (by Program)

$

Non-Current
Assets Capital
$

Non-Current
Assets Infrast.
$

139,358,964

16,996,372

3,176,609

-

Law, Order & Public Safety

-

-

2,078,958

-

Health

-

-

1,236,398

-

Education & Welfare

-

-

21,694,119

-

Community Amenities

-

-

19,585,634

15,385,552

Recreation & Culture

-

-

216,159,700

147,607,285

Transport

-

-

5,991,085

2,037,526,549

Economic Services

-

-

732,028

-

Other Property & Services

-

-

721,804,661

-

139,358,964

16,996,372

992,459,192

2,200,519,386

2017
Governance

Total Carrying Cost of Assets

e)

Current
Assets

Non-Current
Assets

$

3,349,333,914

Depreciation of Assets (by Program)

Governance

532,607

Law, Order & Public Safety

77,600

Health

30,483

Education & Welfare

433,387

Community Amenities

627,394

Recreation & Culture
Transport
Economic Services
Other Property & Services

8,920,704
13,103,155
44,814
3,381,125
27,151,269
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
f)

Disposal of Assets (by Program)
Net Book Value

Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety
Health
Education & Welfare
Community Amenities
Recreation & Culture
Transport

Sale Price

$

$

Profit or (Loss)
on Sales
$

62,724

171,065

108,341

174,838

215,227

40,389

74,203

67,636

(6,567)

370,947

324,536

(46,411)

487,333

363,909

(123,424)

2,462,557

932,877

(1,529,680)

437,196

451,414

14,218

Economic Services

195,772

182,091

(13,681)

Other Property & Services

950,049

1,639,318

689,269

5,215,619

4,348,073

(867,546)

g) Conditions over Contributions
Grants and Contributions which were recognised as revenue during the year or prior years and which were obtained on
the condition that they be expended on the acquisition of non-current assets but have yet to be applied in that manner at
the reporting date were:

Community Safety Programs
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2017
$

2016
$

4,461,706

701,621

4,461,706

701,621

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

a)

2017
$

2016
$

31,910

32,910

31,910

32,910

Restricted

86,522,387

96,176,315

Unrestricted

38,654,109

42,036,032

125,176,496

138,212,347

83,312,606

92,430,509

302,330

295,829

Cash on Hand
Unrestricted

b) Short Maturity Investments

The following restrictions have been imposed by regulations or other
externally imposed requirements:
Consolidated Reserve
Town Planning Scheme No 18
Town Planning Scheme No 25

543,290

531,609

Town Planning Scheme No 27

1,600,498

2,171,124

Town Planning Scheme No 28

763,663

747,244

86,522,387

96,176,315
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For the year ended 30 June 2017

6. Trade and Other Receivables
2017
$

2016
$

Rates Outstanding

2,951,978

2,323,409

Debtors: Libraries

210,971

286,489

Commercial Waste

805,690

636,276

Fines & Penalties

617,557

627,698

Interest Due on Investments not Matured

762,102

997,102

Sundry

593,628

2,506,603

Underground Power

188,172

599,578

a)

Trade and Other Receivables

Current

Australian Taxation Office - GST
Less:

Allowance for Doubtful Debts

1,685,817

677,875

(103,964)

(146,477)

7,711,951

8,508,553

(146,477)

(176,266)

42,513

29,789

(103,964)

(146,477)

1,389,236

1,367,719

546,295

546,295

1,935,531

1,914,014

184,083

223,879

184,083

223,879

Movement in Allowance for Doubtful Debts
Balance at Beginning of Year
Reduction/(Increase) to Provision
Balance at End of Year

b) Other Receivables
Non-Current
Rates Outstanding - Pensioners
Deferred Debtors

c)

Other Assets

Current Prepayments
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

7. Inventories
2017
$

2016
$

268,390

251,033

Land for Resale

5,986,134

3,050,916

Total

6,254,524

3,301,949

Construction Materials & Fuel
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure
a)

Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Property, Plant & Equipment
2017
$

2016
$

- Independent Valuation

660,586,181

662,793,312

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

660,586,181

662,793,312

260,586,533

259,340,376

Land

Buildings
- Independent Valuation
- Management Valuation

5,459,755

5,459,755

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(10,524,772)

(5,211,361)

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

255,521,516

259,588,770

Plant & Equipment
- Management Valuation

14,801,883

13,804,607

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(1,280,233)

-

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

13,521,650

13,804,607

Mobile Vehicles & Plant
- Management Valuation

27,295,180

18,629,821

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(2,072,407)

-

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

25,222,773

18,629,821

5,873,531

4,163,466

(967,126)

-

4,906,405

4,163,466

2,684,977

2,464,739

(292,191)

-

2,392,786

2,464,739

Furniture & Office Equipment
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Recreation Equipment
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Assets Under Construction
- Cost

30,307,881

9,695,849

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

30,307,881

9,695,849
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
a)

Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Property, Plant & Equipment (continued)
2017
$

2016
$

- Independent Valuation

921,172,714

922,133,688

- Management Valuation

56,115,326

44,522,388

Total Property, Plant & Equipment

30,307,881

9,695,849

Less Accumulated Depreciation

- Cost

(15,136,729)

(5,211,361)

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

992,459,192

971,140,564

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment is determined at least every three years in accordance with the regulatory
framework, Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 17A (2).
Refer to Note 8(c) for which year each asset category was assessed and level of fair value hierarchy.
Additions since date of valuations are shown at cost, at the end of each reporting period the valuation is reviewed and where
appropriate fair value is updated to reflect current market conditions.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
b) Movements in Carrying Amounts of Property, Plant & Equipment
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of
the current financial year.
Balance
at the
Beginning
of the Year
$

Additions

$

Reclass/
Transfers

Carrying
Amount at
the End
of Year
$

$

$

$

662,793,312

-

(721,423)

(1,485,708)

-

-

-

660,586,181

Total Land

662,793,312

-

(721,423)

(1,485,708)

-

-

-

660,586,181

Buildings

259,588,770

131,597

(1,652,665)

(3,300,416)

-

(5,431,470)

6,185,700

255,521,516

Total
Buildings

259,588,770

131,597

(1,652,665)

(3,300,416)

-

(5,431,470)

6,185,700

255,521,516

Total
Land &
Buildings

922,382,082

131,597

(2,374,088)

(4,786,124)

-

(5,431,470)

6,185,700

916,107,697

Plant &
Equipment

13,804,607

775,580

(23,287)

-

-

(1,285,022)

249,772

13,521,650

Mobile
Vehicle &
Plant

18,629,821

12,035,553

(2,763,028)

(538,309)

-

(2,141,264)

-

25,222,773

Furniture
& Office
Equipment

4,163,466

1,491,458

(46,895)

-

-

(975,652)

274,028

4,906,405

Recreation
Equipment

2,464,739

228,972

(8,321)

-

-

(292,604)

-

2,392,786

Assets
Under
Construction

9,695,849

27,225,780

-

-

-

-

(6,613,748)

30,307,881

971,140,564 41,888,940

(5,215,619)

(5,324,433)

-

95,752

992,459,192
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$

Revaluation Impairment Depreciation
Increments/
(Losses)/
(Expense)
(Decrements)
Reversals

Land

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment

$

(Disposals)
Net

(10,126,012)

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
c)

Fair Value Measurements of Property, Plant & Equipment

Asset Class

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation Technique

Basis of
Valuation

Date of Last
Valuation

Inputs Used

Land

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar properties / income
approach using discounted
cashflow methodology

Independent
registered valuers

June 2015

Price per hectare /
market borrowing rate

Land - Golf
Course

3

Improvements to land valued
using cost approach using
depreciated replacement cost

Independent
registered valuers

June 2015

Improvements to land
using construction
costs and current
condition (Level 2),
residual values and
remaining useful life
assessments (Level 3)
inputs

Specialised
Buildings

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar properties / income
approach using discounted
cashflow methodology

Independent
registered valuers

June 2015

Construction costs
and current condition
(Level 2)

Non Specialised
Buildings

3

Cost approach using
replacement cost to calculate
value, and then adjusted to
take account of accumulated
depreciation

Independent
registered valuers
and
Management
Valuation

June 2015
and June
2016

Construction costs
and current condition
(Level 3)

Plant &
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Plant and Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Mobile Fleet &
Plant

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Mobile Fleet and Plant

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Furniture
& Office
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Furniture and Office
Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Recreation
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Recreation Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Assets Under
Construction

2

Cost approach using cost of
goods or service at acquisition

Actual cost

June 2016

Purchase costs and
current stage of works
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
d) Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Infrastructure
2017
$

2016
$

1,496,794,290

1,156,044,044

Roads
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

-

(76,391,260)

1,496,794,290

1,079,652,784

430,116,566

443,584,172

Drainage
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

-

(38,256,981)

430,116,566

405,327,191

89,864,298

99,580,313

Footpaths
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

-

(14,020,320)

89,864,298

85,559,993

21,685,114

18,369,797

Other Engineering Infrastructure
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation

-

(8,140,425)

21,685,114

10,229,372

45,103,600

41,063,056

-

-

45,103,600

41,063,056

102,503,685

133,601,564

-

(36,342,131)

102,503,685

97,259,433

- Cost

14,451,833

16,000,695

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

14,451,833

16,000,695

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Reserves
- Cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Reticulation & Other Parks
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Assets Under Construction
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
d) Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Infrastructure (continued)
2017
$

2016
$

2,140,963,953

1,851,179,890

Total Infrastructure
- Management Valuation
- Cost

59,555,433

57,063,751

-

(173,151,117)

2,200,519,386

1,735,092,524

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

The fair value of Infrastructure was done as at 30 June 2017 in accordance with the regulatory framework, Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulation 17A (2).
Refer to Note 8(e) for which year each asset category was assessed and level of fair value hierarchy.
Additions since date of valuations are shown at cost, at the end of each reporting period the valuation is reviewed and
where appropriate fair value is updated to reflect current market conditions.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2016/17 | 193

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
e)

Movements in Carrying Amounts of Infrastructure
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of infrastructure between the beginning and the end of the current
financial year.
Balance
as at the
Beginning
of the Year
$

Roads

Additions (Disposals)
Net
$

$

Revaluation Impairment Depreciation
(Expense)
Increments/
(Losses)/
(Decrements)
Reversals
$

$

$

Reclass/
Transfers
$

Carrying
Amount
at the End
of the Year
$

1,079,652,784

-

- 399,650,685

-

(8,328,404)

Drainage

405,327,191

-

-

19,868,229

-

(2,739,706)

7,660,852

430,116,566

Footpaths

85,559,993

-

-

3,118,145

-

(1,710,438)

2,896,598

89,864,298

Other
Engineering
Infrastructure

10,229,372

-

-

10,951,407

-

(317,839)

822,174

21,685,114

Reserves

41,063,056

-

-

1,874,119

-

-

2,166,425

45,103,600

Reticulation
& Other
Parks

97,259,434

-

-

555,012

5,666,909

(3,928,870)

2,951,200

102,503,685

Assets Under
Construction

16,000,695

44,315,221

-

-

-

- (45,864,083)

14,451,833

Total
1,735,092,525
Infrastructure

44,315,221

- 436,017,597
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5,666,909 (17,025,257)

25,819,225 1,496,794,290

(3,547,609) 2,200,519,386

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
e)

Fair Value Measurements of Infrastructure

Asset Class

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation Technique

Basis of
Valuation

Date
of Last
Valuation

Inputs Used

Roads

3

Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Management
valuation

June 2017

Construction costs and
current condition

Drainage

3

Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Management
valuation

June 2017

Construction costs and
current condition

Footpaths

3

Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Management
valuation

June 2017

Construction costs and
current condition

Other Engineering
Infrastructure

3

Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Management
valuation

June 2017

Construction costs and
current condition

Reserves

3

Actual cost of acquisition

Actual cost

June 2017

Actual cost

Reticulation &
Other Parks

3

Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Management
valuation

June 2017

Construction costs and
current condition

Assets Under
Construction

2

Historical cost of acquisition

Actual cost

June 2017

Purchase costs and
current stage of works

Level 3 inputs are based on assumptions with regards to future values and patterns of consumption utilising current
information. If the basis of these assumptions were varied, they have the potential to result in a significantly higher or lower
fair value measurement.
During the period there were no changes in the valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of infrastructure using
level 3 inputs.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

9. Trade Payables and Provisions
2017
$

2016
$

6,580,682

5,808,097

Current
Trade Payables
Accrued Creditors

11,071,707

8,049,001

Accrued Wages & Salaries

2,621,271

1,786,373

Income Received in Advance

1,733,042

1,677,279

Provision for Annual Leave

6,244,833

6,224,118

Provision for Long Service Leave

6,377,580

6,334,262

34,629,115

29,879,130

1,055,959

1,507,353

1,055,959

1,507,353

890

895

Non-Current
Provision for Long Service Leave

Number of Employees (Full Time Equivalent)
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

1,772,596

2,652,028

3,521,510

Workers Compensation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,000,000

2,107,620

2,181,190

(1,800,000)

(2,112,237)

(3,050,672)

1,972,596

2,647,411

2,652,028

The scope of this reserve is the payment of premium obligations and common law claims with respect to work related
injuries for which the City as employer has a statutory or common law liability.
MGB Replacement
Opening Balance

883,513

-

860,176

20,425

-

23,337

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Amount transferred to Strategic Waste Development Reserve

-

-

(883,513)

903,938

-

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

Closing Balance

This Reserve account is designed to cushion any unpredicted peaks in the cost of ongoing replacement of Mobile Garbage
Bins. These are used for the collection of domestic refuse from premises within the City.
Note: The funds in this reserve were transferred to the Strategic Waste Development Reserve.
Plant Replacement
Opening Balance

6,581,236

6,956,178

5,717,813

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

2,421,887

2,361,264

1,238,365

(4,530,750)

(3,191,250)

-

4,472,373

6,126,192

6,956,178

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

This Reserve account is designed to eliminate the need for substantial allocations from rates in any year. The principle
behind the Reserve is that a proportionate payment will be made from the general fund annually that relates to utilisation
(consumption) of existing plant and provides for plant replacement.
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

379,537

393,319

316,818

Previous Employees Long Service Leave Provision Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

30,000

111,066

110,889

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

(30,000)

(63,503)

(34,388)

Closing Balance

379,537

440,882

393,319

The purpose of this Reserve is to provide for liabilities for long service leave payments that may need to be made to other
local governments in respect of the transferred service entitlement of past employees of the City. Regulations provide that
long service leave entitlements are transferable from Council to Council for an employee’s uninterrupted service in local
government.
Staff Leave Liability Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

12,224,822

12,224,823

11,901,917

282,615

301,940

322,906

-

-

-

12,507,437

12,526,763

12,224,823

It is the function of this Reserve to cash-back the liability of the City for long service leave and annual leave for continuing
employees. The liability is calculated based on legal and contractual entitlements. Current wage and salary rates are used in
the calculation of provisions. The calculation of the provisions is audited annually and included in the accounts. Provisions
for sick leave are not made in the accounts as they are paid as incurred.
Road Widening Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

419,781

419,781

408,693

9,705

10,368

11,088

-

-

-

429,486

430,149

419,781

The Road Widening Reserve was set up within the 2012/13 financial year to be used for compensation payments associated
with the compulsory acquisition of land for road widening along Beaufort Street and Harborne Street.
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

425,000

628,536

397,051

Security Service Charge Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

508,000

1,040,000

628,536

(425,000)

(628,536)

(397,051)

508,000

1,040,000

628,536

This reserve was created to accommodate excess funds from the charge levied for the Property Surveillance and Security
services. In accordance with the provisions of Section 6.38 of the Local Government Act 1995 any surplus generated from
this charge is to be allocated to a Reserve and used for Security Services, or be repaid to owners.
Surplus Waste Levy Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Amount transferred to Strategic Waste Development Reserve
Closing Balance

9,760,686

-

8,697,016

225,649

-

1,721,714

(333,132)

-

-

-

-

(10,418,730)

9,653,203

-

-

This Reserve was created in 2000/01 to accommodate funds from the Waste Service Charge which were excess to
requirements in any particular year. These funds are used towards operating or capital expansion costs where appropriate.
Note: The funds in this reserve were transferred to the Strategic Waste Development Reserve.
Payment in Lieu of Parking Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

4,286,761

4,286,760

3,680,046

99,102

370,724

606,714

-

(1,934,649)

-

4,385,863

2,722,835

4,286,760

These funds are provided by developers where it is impractical to provide the number of parking spaces generally required
for a particular development/use. These are held until an opportunity arises where suitable parking may be provided. Care is
taken to ensure that the funds are separately identified to enable them to be applied only to works within the specific areas
from which the revenue was sourced.
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

16,692,176

20,047,670

18,548,332

Corporate Projects Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

11,148,953

4,564,158

17,656,126

(27,254,163)

(13,867,213)

(9,836,491)

Amount transferred from Future Funds Reserve

-

-

2,654,703

Amount transferred to Public Parking Strategy Reserve

-

-

(8,975,000)

586,966

10,744,615

20,047,670

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

Closing Balance

Created in 2004/05 to accommodate future development needs of the City. The finalisation of the Strategic Community
Plan, together with the long term works plan will assist in identifying appropriate uses for these funds.
Asset Acquisition Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,660,463

2,660,463

3,375,190

61,505

66,941

70,273

-

-

(785,000)

2,721,968

2,727,404

2,660,463

Created in 2004/05 to accommodate anticipated revenues from land sales which are an integral part of the City’s overall
asset rationalisation program.
Coastal Aquatic Facility Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,739,206

2,739,206

3,476,007

63,325

66,426

94,306

(2,802,531)

(2,805,632)

(831,107)

-

-

2,739,206

This Reserve was created in 2012/13 by transferring funds from the Trigg Beach Masterplan Reserve after the purpose of
the latter Reserve was amended.

200

Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

37,188

37,188

36,206

860

919

982

-

-

-

38,048

38,107

37,188

Edith Cowan Reserve Lighting
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

These funds were provided by the developer of the estate surrounding the Churchlands Reserve. Council resolved to place
the funds in a financial reserve fund to pay for future maintenance and running costs associated with the lighting on this
reserve.
Mirrabooka Regional Centre Strategy
Opening Balance

-

-

1,451,213

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

39,372

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

(1,490,585)

Closing Balance

-

-

-

This Reserve is to hold funds from contributions and the sale of land in the Mirrabooka Regional Centre Strategy Project
area until required to meet the expenditure on associated works and services.
Future Fund
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Amount transferred to Corporate Projects Reserve
Closing Balance

2,654,703

-

2,584,582

61,372

-

70,121

-

-

-

-

-

(2,654,703)

2,716,075

-

-

The Future Fund is to be used as seed funding for projects that will produce revenue that will assist in meeting the
operational requirements of the City and reduce the reliance on rates.
Note: The funds in this reserve were transferred to the Corporate Projects Reserve.
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

18,909,417

16,877,335

12,078,672

Tamala Park Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

8,000,000

7,658,294

5,000,002

(19,904,842)

(10,851,866)

(201,339)

7,004,575

13,683,763

16,877,335

The City will be receiving funds over the next few years for the sale of land developed at Tamala Park. It is proposed that the
funds be used for income generating projects which in turn will help create a sustainable City.
Strategic Waste Development Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

2,474,504

12,589,848

3,035,187

57,206

4,541,362

82,346

(150,000)

(125,325)

(1,829,928)

Amount transferred from MGB Replacement Reserve

-

-

883,513

Amount transferred from Surplus Waste Levy Reserve

-

-

10,418,730

2,381,710

17,005,885

12,589,848

Closing Balance

The reserve was created in 2015/16 by renaming the 3-Bin Replacement Reserve and is to be used to fund strategic waste
related projects.
Public Parking Strategic Reserve
Opening Balance

-

8,975,000

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

1,081,689

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

(572,083)

-

Amount transferred from Corporate Projects Funds Reserve

-

-

8,975,000

Closing Balance

-

9,484,606

8,975,000

This reserve was created to fund the City’s Paid Parking Strategy.
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

Opening Balance

21,980

157,374

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

18,656

511,483

157,374

-

-

-

40,636

668,857

157,374

Investment Income Reserve

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

The Investment Income Reserve will hold rent from investment properties, dividends and distributions from other
investments and interest earned on Capital Investment Reserve.
Capital Investment Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

785,000

785,000

-

-

2,100,569

785,000

-

-

-

785,000

2,885,569

785,000

The Capital Investment Reserve will hold proceeds of any sale of investment property, funds allocated by Council for
investment purposes, surplus funds from investment purposes and any other funds as determined by Council.
Development Contribution Right of Way Improvement Works Reserve
Opening Balance

-

-

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

532,884

-

-

(532,884)

-

Closing Balance

-

-

-

This reserve was established in accordance with Local Government Act to account for contributions and payments for any
right of way improvement work undertaken by the City.
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
(continued)
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

Tree Reserve
Opening Balance

-

-

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

139,568

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

139,568

-

The Tree Reserve will hold any funds set aside under the City’s Street and Reserve Trees policy.
Total Restricted Reserve Accounts
Opening Balance

83,708,569

92,430,509

80,086,429

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

25,009,260

27,567,275

30,800,641

(57,230,418)

(36,685,178)

(18,456,561)

51,487,411

83,312,606

92,430,509

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
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Revaluation Reserve Accounts
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
b) Revaluation Reserves - Non-Cash Backed
2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

29,747

241,514

Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

(211,767)

29,747

29,747

969,889

1,280,082

-

-

(538,309)

(310,193)

431,580

969,889

250,095

215,935

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

34,160

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

250,095

250,095

Closing Balance
Mobile Vehicle & Plant Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Furniture & Office Equipment Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance

Closing Balance
Recreation Equipment Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance

13,690

13,690

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

13,690

13,690

Opening Balance

631,985,807

631,985,807

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

399,650,685

-

Closing Balance
Roads Revaluation Reserve

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

-

1,031,636,492

631,985,807
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
b) Revaluation Reserves - Non-Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

291,119,241

291,119,241

19,868,229

-

-

-

310,987,470

291,119,241

62,534,899

62,534,899

3,118,145

-

-

-

65,653,044

62,534,899

2,106,318

2,106,318

10,951,407

-

Drainage Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Footpath Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Other Engineering Infrastructure Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

-

13,057,725

2,106,318

30,011,839

30,011,839

1,874,119

-

-

-

31,885,958

30,011,839

8,383,985

8,383,985

Reserve Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Other Parks Infrastructure Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
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(3,317,131)
-

-

5,066,854

8,383,985
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
b) Revaluation Reserves - Non-Cash Backed (continued)
2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

-

-

555,012

-

-

-

555,012

-

645,459,497

645,927,796

-

-

(1,485,708)

(468,299)

643,973,789

645,459,497

140,263,901

139,354,042

-

909,859

Reticulation Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Land Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
Building Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

(3,300,416)

-

136,963,485

140,263,901

1,813,128,908

1,813,175,148

Total Asset Revaluation Reserves
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

432,700,466

944,019

(5,324,433)

(990,259)

2,240,504,941

1,813,128,908
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11. Operating Lease Commitments
At the reporting date, the City had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases (these obligations are not
recognised as liabilities):
2017
$

2016
$

Not Later Than One Year

100

100

Later Than One Year but Not Later Than Five Years

400

400

2,100

2,200

2,600

2,700

Later Than Five Years

Operating lease relates to a parcel of land for use by the City for 50 years. The City does not have the option to purchase the
leased land at the expiry of the lease period.

12. Superannuation
The City makes compulsory contributions to Superannuation Plans on behalf of its employees. Amendments to the Local
Government Regulations in 2006 enabled freedom of choice for superannuation under the requirements of the Commonwealth
Government rules for superannuation schemes. This change allows employees to choose superannuation plans other than the
WA Local Government Superannuation Plan (WALGSP) and also provides for the current WALGSP to be the default scheme
should an employee not choose another scheme.
Contributions relating to superannuation plans are recognised as expenses in the Income Statement.
The amount of superannuation contributions made by the City during the reporting period was $9,016,905 (2016: $8,846,145)
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13. Trust Funds
Funds over which the City has no control and which are not included in the Financial Statements are as follows:
Opening
Balance
1 July 2016
$

Receipts

Paid Out

$

$

Closing
Balance
30 June 2017
$

Verge Bonds

4,036,500

4,895,200

6,143,699

2,788,001

Book Bonds

325

1,615

1,575

365

Client Bonds

500

2,850

3,000

350

Purpose of Trust Fund

Hall Hire Bonds

45,952

277,909

285,708

38,153

683,899

17,623

-

701,522

9,797

150

200

9,747

3,667,680

645,998

924,353

3,389,325

11,270

37,695

48,195

770

Street Tree Bond

-

3,436,500

2,665,499

771,001

Payments in Advance

-

1,500

-

1,500

260,048

7,981

-

268,029

Other Bonds
Key Bonds
Performance Bonds
Reserve Hire Bond

Unclaimed Monies
Land - Section 20A

1,722,744

-

-

1,722,744

Laneways

1,216,975

32,020

151,137

1,097,858

BRB Levy
Other Trusts
Payment in Lieu of Public Open Space

(531)

531

-

-

579,285

538,567

-

1,117,852

11,323,809

248,601

-

11,572,410

23,558,253

10,144,740

10,223,366

23,479,627
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
a)

Capital Expenditure Commitments
At the reporting date, the City had capital expenditure commitments of $35,329,150 for the purchase of property, plant &
equipment and infrastructure which have not been provided for elsewhere in the financial statements.
At the reporting date, included in the City capital expenditure commitments were the major projects for the Scarborough
Beach Pool and the Scarborough Redevelopments that was part of the 2016/2017 budget. These major projects
undertaken by the City will be finalised in the 2017/2018 financial year.

b) Commitments to Compensation for Compulsory Land Acquisitions
From time to time, the City has reason to invoke powers of compulsory purchase of land to facilitate the advancement of
specific projects such as road widening.
The City intends to acquire land in the following streets in order to carry out road widening operations. Anticipated costs
are based on the City’s valuations plus solatium, if an agreed amount is not available. Any amounts paid prior to 30 June
2017 have been included in the amounts provided in this note.
2017
$

2016
$

Harbourne Street, Glendalough

447,741

447,741

Scarborough Beach Road, Innaloo

767,412

767,412

Oswald Street, Innaloo

223,000

223,000

1,438,153

1,438,153

c)

Contingent Liability - Guarantee for Mindarie Regional Council
The City, along with other member councils of the Mindarie Regional Council, has agreed to provide a financial guarantee
to the operators of the resource recovery facility to be built at the Mindarie Regional Council site at Neerabup.
The guarantee will cover Mindarie Regional Council’s obligations to make a termination payment to the facility operators if
there is a Force Majeure event, a default event under the Resource Recovery Facility Agreement by the Mindarie Regional
Council or where member Councils of Mindarie Regional Council fail to pay the applicable gate fees.
The financial guarantee is to provide comfort to the operator (and its Financiers) by providing a direct contractual
relationship between each member council and the operator.

d) Contingent Asset - Investment in Tamala Park Regional Council
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town
of Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. As at the 30 June 2017 the City has adjusted the equity
of its investment by its share of any development and sale of land by the Tamala Park Regional Council.
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15. Investments
Equity Contributions in Other Unlisted Entities

Tamala Park Regional Council
Mindarie Regional Council

2017
$

2016
$

13,731,154

16,406,857

1,329,687

1,234,804

15,060,841

17,641,661

Mindarie Regional Council
The City, along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town
of Victoria Park is a member of the Mindarie Regional Council. The Mindarie Regional Council’s objective is to establish and
operate a long term refuse disposal site on Mindarie Super lot 118.
The City has contributed one third of the land and establishment costs of the refuse disposal facility. The City uses the refuse
disposal facility at Mindarie to deposit all non recyclable waste collected by the City’s domestic and commercial waste
services.
The City has received its share of lease fees, since the facility became operational. Capital contributions paid during
establishment are represented in the accounts of the City as a Non Current Asset.
The City currently has a contingent liability in relation to the Mindarie Regional Council.
Details of this contingent liability are provided in note 14(c).
The City considers the Mindarie Regional Council to have nil future economic value to the City once the landfill of the site is
completed and restoration has been made to public open space. The investment has initially been recognised at cost and will
be revalued to fair value in the future according to any Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations.
Tamala Park Regional Council
The City, along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town of
Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council.
On the 21 February 2006 the Council received a report advising the formal establishment of the Tamala Park Regional Council
under Section 3.61 of the Local Government Act. The Tamala Park Regional Council formally came into existence on the 3rd
February 2006.
The Tamala Park Regional Council’s activities will centre around the development of part Lot 118 Mindarie. Lot 118 was
initially purchased in 1981 to provide a refuse landfill site for member councils of the Mindarie Regional Council, this lot is
now being developed with a purpose of creating a new urban land development and a new urban community.
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15. Investments (continued)
The investment in the Tamala Park Regional Council has been recognised at the value of its equity contributions. The City has
undertaken a revaluation of its investments to fair value according to Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations.

Tamala Park Regional Council
Equity Share of Sales

2017
$

2016
$

16,406,857

16,031,421

3,926,183

8,461,634

Equity Share of Finished Goods

(2,793,271)

(3,950,536)

Equity Distribution

(3,666,668)

(5,000,002)

(141,947)

864,340

13,731,154

16,406,857

Land Held for Resale

Total Equity Tamala Park Regional Council

41,193,462

49,220,570

City’s Share of Equity (One Third)

13,731,154

16,406,857
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16. Notes to The Statement of Cash Flows
a)

Reconciliation of Cash
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, cash at bank and
investments in short term money market activity, net of any outstanding bank overdraft. All trust monies are excluded.
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash at Bank
Short Maturity Investment

2017
$

2016
$

31,910

32,910

125,176,496

138,212,347

125,208,406

138,245,257

b) Non-Cash Investing Activities
During the reporting period the City did not acquire any assets by means of donations.

c)

Taxation
Except for the Goods and Service and Fringe Benefits Tax, the activities of the City are exempt from taxation.
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16. Notes to The Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
d) Reconciliation of Net Cash Used in Operating Activities to Change in Net Assets.
2017
$

2016
$

Net Result

41,590,889

25,451,508

Depreciation

27,151,270

29,656,441

(Decrease) in Allowance for Doubtful Debts

(42,513)

(29,789)

Increase in Employee Entitlements

447,537

1,932,999

3,795,291

(3,387,124)

55,763

(42,047)

796,602

(1,427,932)

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables & Provisions
Increase/(Decrease) in Income in Advance
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables
Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments
Increase in Inventories
(Increase) in Investments
(Increase) in Assets Under Construction
Loss on Sale of Non-Current Assets
Acquired Assets

39,796

(61,360)

(2,952,575)

(362,377)

(94,883)

(89,349)

(19,063,170)

(12,842,923)

867,546

1,213,791

(211,738)

(142,496)

5,666,909

(1,221,315)

259,515

3,461,632

(14,459,936)

(2,959,872)

43,846,303

39,149,787

2017
$

2016
$

500,000

500,000

Bank Overdraft at Reporting Date

-

-

Total Amount of Credit Unused

500,000

500,000

Increase/(Decrease) in Value of Non-Current Assets
Equity Share of Investment
Government Subsidies
Net Cash from Operating Activities

e)

Credit Standby Arrangements

Bank Overdraft Limit
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17. Rates and Service Charges
a)

General Rate

GRV Rate in the $: 4.640 cents

2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

101,413,792

102,841,750

99,329,905

25,239,123

25,476,257

24,842,773

17,779

17,779

17,480

1,195,000

1,802,678

1,511,038

22,525

22,525

21,333

127,888,219

130,160,989

125,722,529

280,000

388,528

318,166

Rateable Value General Rates $2,185,642,072
Estimated Number of Properties 63,248
Minimum Payments
GRV Number of Assessments 30,817 at $819
GRV Number of Assessments 23 at $773
Interim Rates
Specific Area Rate
GRV Rate in the $: 3.210 cents
Rateable Value Specific Area $701,700
Number of Properties 23
Total General Rates Levied
Plus
Late Payment Penalties
Instalment Charges & Interest

450,000

458,398

350,451

Arrears Rates

631,000

672,050

627,007

General Purpose Grant

4,607,547

6,902,712

2,254,971

Other General Purpose Funding

5,950,430

5,221,176

6,734,696

139,807,196

143,803,852

136,007,820

Total General Purpose Funding
Shown on Income Statement
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17. Rates and Service Charges (continued)
b) Security Service Charges
The City provided a Security Patrol service with a mission “To reduce the incidence of preventable crime, anti-social
behaviour and residents fear of crime within the boundaries of the City of Stirling through patrols and proactive security
measures”.
The charge per property was fixed at $30.00 and the revenue raised was $2,919,540. The original budget was $2,857,650.
c)

Instalment Option for Rates
The City operates four payment option plans consisting of a one payment option that is eligible to be in the City’s early
payment incentive scheme plus a one payment option that is ineligible for the City’s early payment incentive scheme,
plus two or four instalment options. The one payment options must be received within 35 days of issue of statements
and comprised of any arrears, current rubbish charge, current security charge and current pool fence inspection charge
(if any). To be eligible for the early payment incentive scheme the one payment option must be received within 28 days of
issue of statements. For the two and four instalment options, payments are required to be 25% or 50% of current rates,
plus the instalment charge and instalment interest. Subsequent instalments comprise 25% or 50% of current rates plus
any instalment charge and instalment interest.
The instalment administration charge was $9 for each instalment after the initial instalment was paid. This charge is in
addition to instalment interest.
The amount of revenue raised from the imposition of the instalment charge was $672,050. The original budget was
$631,000.

d) Rates Early Payment Incentive Scheme
The City operated an incentive scheme in which 28 prizes were donated by sponsors. To be eligible, full payment of
all rates and charges must have been received by 26 August 2016. This excluded pensioner rates deferred under the
provisions of the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992. The selection method involved a computer
programme that selected all assessments eligible to be in the draw. The draw was conducted in the presence of several
senior officers. The total cost to the City of Stirling for the incentive scheme was $52,238. The original budget was
$75,277.
e)

Concession and Write Offs
The total cost or reduction of revenue from the waiver or grant of concession was Nil. The total amount of rates written off
was Nil. The original budget was Nil.

f)

Late Payment Interest
The rate of interest charged for the late payment of rates and service charges was 9%. The amount of revenue raised from
the imposition of the interest for the late payment of rates and service charges was $388,528. The original budget was
$280,000. The rate of interest charged for the late payment of any other money was 9%. The amount of revenue raised
from the imposition of the interest for the late payment of any other money was Nil. The original budget was Nil.
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18. Information About Fees to Council Members
2017
Budget
$

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

Communications & IT Allowance

49,000

46,959

49,000

Travel Expenses

30,000

14,962

14,499

448,050

444,322

448,611

Mayoral Allowance

87,550

88,864

87,659

Deputy Mayoral Allowance

21,887

22,216

21,792

636,487

617,323

621,561

Meeting Fee Allowance

19. Related Parties Transactions
Key Management Personnel (KMP) Compensation Disclosure
The total of remuneration paid to KMP of the City during the year are as follows:
2017
Actual
$
Short-Term Employee Benefits

1,261,370

Post-Employment Benefits

162,590

Other Long-Term Benefits

26,147

Termination Benefits

276,540
1,726,647

Short-Term Employee Benefits
These amounts include all salary, paid leave, fringe benefits and cash bonuses awarded to KMP except for details in respect
to fees and benefits paid to elected members which may be found at Note 18.
Post-Employment Benefits
These amounts are the current-year’s estimated cost of providing for the City’s superannuation contributions made during
the year.
Other Long-Term Benefits
These amounts represent long service benefits accruing during the year.
Termination Benefits
These amounts represent termination benefits paid to KMP.
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19. Related Parties Transactions (continued)
The City’s main related parties are as follows:
1. Tamala Park Regional Council
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town of
Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. The City will contribute one third of any funding required for
capital or operating costs and will also be entitled to one third of revenue from the sale of lots of land.
The City’s one-third interest in the Tamala Park Regional Council is accounted for in the financial statements using the equity
accounting method and all transactions are accounted for on normal terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
The following related party transactions occurred with the Tamala Park Regional Council for the financial year ending 30
June 2017:
2017
Actual
$
Associated Companies/Individuals:
Sale of Goods & Services

236,728

Purchase of Goods & Services

517,671

Joint Venture Entities:
Distributions Received From Joint Venture Entities

3,666,668

Amounts Outstanding From Related Parties:
Trade & Other Receivables

4,008

Loans to Associated Entities

-

Loans to Key Management Personnel

-

Amounts Payable To Related Parties:
Trade & Other Payables
Loans From Associated Entities
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19. Related Parties Transactions (continued)
2. Mindarie Regional Council
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town of
Victoria Park is a member of the Mindarie Regional Council.
The City’s one-third interest in the Mindarie Regional Council is accounted for in the financial statements using the cost
accounting method and all transactions are accounted for on normal terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
The following related party transactions occurred with the Mindarie Regional Council for the financial year ending 30 June
2017:
2017
Actual
$
Associated Companies/Individuals:
Sale of Goods & Services
Purchase of Goods And Services

271,755
11,993,874

Joint Venture Entities:
Distributions Received From Joint Venture Entities

-

Amounts Outstanding From Related Parties:
Trade & Other Receivables

-

Loans to Associated Entities

-

Loans to Key Management Personnel

-

Amounts Payable To Related Parties:
Trade & Other Payables
Loans From Associated Entities

977,040
-

Note: Transitional provisions contained within AASB 2015-6 do not require comparative related party disclosures to be
presented in the period of initial application. As a consequence, only disclosures in relation to the current year have been
presented.
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20. Major Land Transaction Information
a)

The Development and Subdivision of Tamala Park
Tamala Park Regional Council
The Tamala Park Regional Council was established for the specific purpose of creating an urban development on 165
hectares of land immediately south of Neerabup Road and the Mindarie Regional Council. The project is expected to have
a ten-year life cycle with more than 2,500 lots developed for housing that will be progressively sold in stages. The first
stage of the development commenced in early 2011 and the first lots were released for sale in July 2012.
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and
Town of Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. The City will contribute one third of any funding
required for capital or operating costs and will also be entitled to one third of revenue from the sale of lots of land.
As at 30 June 2017 the value of the City’s equity share of its investment in the Tamala Park Regional Council was
$13,731,154 (refer note 15).

City of Stirling Equity Share of Sales & Expenditure of Tamala Park Land
2017
$

Total to
30 June 2016
$

Income from Sales

6,644,372

50,667,706

57,312,078

Cost of Lots Sold

(1,859,700)

(16,088,426)

(17,948,126)

(637,666)

(5,040,391)

(5,678,057)

Direct Selling Costs
Marketing Costs

Total
$

(98,291)

(237,617)

(335,908)

(122,532)

(978,043)

(1,100,575)

Finance

-

(2,667)

(2,667)

Contingencies

-

(6,788)

(6,788)

3,926,183

28,313,774

32,239,957

Administration Cost

Surplus/(Deficit)
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21. Financial Risk Management
The City’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The City’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of the City.
The City does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.
Financial risk management is carried out by the Finance area under policies approved by Council.
The City held the following financial instruments at the balance date:
Carrying Value

Fair Value

2017
$

2016
$

2017
$

2016
$

125,208,406

138,245,257

125,208,406

138,245,257

7,711,951

8,508,553

7,711,951

8,508,553

132,920,357

146,753,810

132,920,357

146,753,810

34,629,115

29,879,130

34,629,115

29,879,130

34,629,115

29,879,130

34,629,115

29,879,130

Financial Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Receivables

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Fair Value for Cash and Cash Equivalent, Receivables, Payables and Borrowings are estimated as the carrying value, which
approximates to fair value.
Held-to-maturity investments are based on the quoted market price at the reporting date or independent valuation. The City
did not hold any Held-to maturity investments at reporting date.
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21. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a)

Cash and Cash Equivalent
The City’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity
and preserving capital. The Finance area manages the cash and investments portfolio with the assistance of independent
advisers (where applicable). The City has an investment policy which is subject to review by Council. An Investment
Report is provided to Council on a monthly basis setting out the make-up and performance of the portfolio.
Cash and investments are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns.
The City manages these risks by diversifying its portfolio and only placing surplus cash with banking institutions with a
high credit rating.

b) Receivables
The City’s major receivables comprise of rates and annual charges and user charges and fees. The major risk associated
with these receivables is credit risk – the risk that the debts may not be repaid. The City manages this risk by monitoring
outstanding debt and employing debt recovery policies. It also encourages ratepayers to pay rates by the due date
through incentive programs.
Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of the City to recover these debts as a secured charge
over the land – that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest on overdue rates
and annual charges at higher than market rates, which further encourages payment.
The City makes suitable provisions for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most non-rate debtors.
There are no material receivables that have been subject to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.
c)

Payables and Borrowing
Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – that as, the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to meet
payment obligations as and when they fall due. The City manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and
liquidity levels and maintaining an adequate cash buffer.
Payment terms can be extended and overdraft facilities drawn upon if required. There is no risk associated with borrowing
as this is a book figure representing unpresented cheques.
Due
Within
1 Year
$

Due
Between
1 & 5 Years
$

Total
Contractual
Cash Flows
$

Carrying
Values

34,629,115

-

34,629,115

34,629,115

34,629,115

-

34,629,115

34,629,115

29,879,130

-

29,879,130

29,879,130

29,879,130

-

29,879,130

29,879,130

$

2017
Payables

2016
Payables
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21. Financial Risk Management (continued)
d) Interest Rate Risk
The City is exposed to interest rate risk mainly through financial assets and liabilities. The following table details the
City’s exposure to interest rate risk as at reporting date.

2017
Financial Assets
Cash
Cash & Cash
Equivalents
Total
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Bank Overdraft
Unpresented
Cheques/EFT’s
Employee
Entitlements
Total

2016
Financial Assets
Cash
Cash & Cash
Equivalents
Total
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Bank Overdraft
Unpresented
Cheques/EFT’s
Employee
Entitlements
Total

Av Int
Rate
%

Var Int
Rate
$

2.63
2.63

-

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Less than
1 to 5
More than
1 Year
Years
5 Years
$
$
$
-

Non Int
Years
$

Total

31,910

-

-

31,910
-

$

-

125,176,496
125,176,496

-

-

31,910

125,176,496
125,208,406

1.78
-

-

-

-

-

17,652,389
4,584,635

17,652,389
4,584,635

-

-

-

-

-

16,299,643

16,299,643

-

-

-

-

38,536,667

38,536,667

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Less than
1 to 5
More than
1 Year
Years
5 Years
$
$
$

Non Int
Years
$

Total

32,910

Av Int
Rate
%

Var Int
Rate
$

2.83
2.83

-

-

-

1.90
-

$

-

-

32,910
-

138,212,347
138,212,347

-

-

32,910

138,212,347
138,245,257

-

-

-

-

13,857,098
5,258,873

13,857,098
5,258,873

-

-

-

-

15,852,106

15,852,106

-

-

-

-

34,968,077

34,968,077
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

21. Financial Risk Management (continued)
e)

Sensitivity to Interest Rate Risk
The City has significant funds invested and returns from those investments are dependent upon current interest rates. If
interest rates were to increase or decrease by 1%, the annual return would increase or decrease by $1,252,084.
There is no real interest rate risk in relation to financial liabilities because the overdraft disclosure is purely a book figure
representing unpresented cheques.

f)

Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the City. The Council has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient
collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The City
measures credit risk on a fair value basis.
The City does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties
having similar characteristics.

g) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The City considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements
represents their respective fair values.
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22. Performance Measurements
Financial Information by Ratio:
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

2.1982

3.0831

2.9252

2.4041

2.7306

3.4996

2.5187

2.7274

1.9540

2.0858

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0839

0.0500

0.1039

0.0583

0.0913

1.0995

1.0713

1.1252

0.9811

0.9876

0.9953

0.9382

0.9410

0.9105

0.6339

2.8755

1.8890

1.9464

1.9868

1.4759

0.0107

0.0109

0.0115

0.0147

0.0307

0.5954

0.6033

0.5909

0.5940

0.5790

0.0375

0.0337

0.0331

0.0329

0.0377

2.1897

3.0335

2.8217

2.1562

2.7471

Current Ratio
Current Assets Minus Restricted Current Assets
Current Liabilities Minus Liabilities Associated with
Restricted Assets
Asset Sustainability Ratio
Capital Renewal & Replacement Expenditure
Depreciation Expense
Debt Service Cover Ratio
Annual Operating Surplus Before Interest & Depreciation
Principal & Interest
Operating Surplus Ratio
Operating Revenue Minus Operating Expense
Own Source Operating Revenue
Own Source Revenue Ratio
Own Source Operating Revenue
Operating Expense
Asset Consumption Ratio
Depreciated Replacement Cost of Assets
Current Replacement Cost of Depreciated Assets
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
Assets Renewals
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
The Debt Ratio
Total Liabilities
Total Assets
The Rate Coverage Ratio
Net Rate Revenue
Operating Revenue
Outstanding Rates Ratio
Rates Outstanding
Rates Collectable
Untied Cash to Trade Creditors Ratio
Untied Cash
Unpaid Trade Creditors
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Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

23. Subsequent Event
There has been no subsequent events of a material nature to report since the end of the financial year.
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Rate Setting Statement - Determination
of Opening and Closing Funds
For the year ended 30 June 2017

24. Rate Setting Statement - Determination of Opening and Closing Funds
Determination of Opening Funds
Note

2016
Actual
$

2015
Actual
$

138,245,257

132,424,537

8,508,553

7,080,621

223,879

162,519

Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Assets
Inventories

3,301,949

2,939,572

150,279,638

142,607,249

Payables & Provisions

29,879,130

31,956,333

Total Current Liabilities

29,879,130

31,956,333

120,400,508

110,650,916

701,621

148,087

6,334,262

5,688,937

Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets
Budget Adjustments (Non-Cash)
Less: Committed Cash
Add: Current Long Service Leave

9

Add: Current Annual Leave

9

6,224,118

6,188,658

11,856,759

11,729,508

5b

92,430,509

80,086,429

5b

3,745,806

3,638,076

36,080,952

38,655,919

Budget Adjustments Net
Less: Restricted Financial Assets Reserves
Restricted Assets Town Planning Schemes

Opening Fund on Rate Setting Statement
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Rate Setting Statement - Determination
of Opening and Closing Funds (cont’)
For the year ended 30 June 2017

24. Opening and Closing Funds (continued)
Determination of Closing Funds
Note

2017
Actual
$

2016
Actual
$

125,208,406

138,245,257

7,711,951

8,508,553

Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Assets

184,083

223,879

6,254,524

3,301,949

139,358,964

150,279,638

Payables & Provisions

34,629,115

29,879,130

Total Current Liabilities

34,629,115

29,879,130

104,729,849

120,400,508

4g

4,461,706

701,621

Add: Current Long Service Leave

9

6,377,580

6,334,262

Add: Current Annual Leave

9

6,244,833

6,224,118

8,160,707

11,856,759

5b

83,312,606

92,430,509

5b

3,209,781

3,745,806

26,368,169

36,080,952

Inventories
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets
Budget Adjustments (Non-Cash)
Less: Committed Cash

Budget Adjustments Net
Less: Restricted Financial Assets Reserves
Restricted Assets Town Planning Schemes

Closing Funds on Rate Setting Statement
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Summerset Concert, Summerset Arts Festival 2017
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Independent Auditors Report
Level 1
10 Kings Park Road
West Perth WA 6005
Level
1
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to:
10 Kings
Park Road
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Box 570
West Perth
Perth WA
WA 6872
6005
West
Correspondence
to:
T +61 8 9480 2000
PO+61
Box8 9322
570 7787
F
West
Perth WA 6872
E
info.wa@au.gt.com

W www.grantthornton.com.au
T +61 8 9480 2000
F +61 8 9322 7787
E info.wa@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Ratepayers of City of Stirling
Independent
Auditor’s Report
Auditor’s Opinion
to
ofreport
CityofofCityStirling
We the
have Ratepayers
audited the financial
of Stirling, which comprises the statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2017, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
Auditor’s
statement Opinion
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
We have audited
financial
report
of City ofincluding
Stirling, which
comprises
the statement
of financial
comprising
notes the
to the
financial
statements,
a summary
of significant
accounting
policies
position
as
at
30
June
2017,
and
the
statement
of
profit
or
loss
and
other
comprehensive
income,
and the Chief Executive Officer’s statement.
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
comprising
notes
the financial statements,
including
summary
In our opinion,
thetoaccompanying
financial report
of Citya of
Stirling: of significant accounting policies
and the Chief Executive Officer’s statement.
a presents fairly, in all material respects, the City of Stirling’s financial position as at 30 June
In our
opinion,
theitsaccompanying
financial
of City
of Stirling:
2017
and of
performance and
cash report
flows for
the year
then ended; and
a
b

presents
in all material
respects,
the City of
Stirling’sthe
financial
position
as at 30 June
complies fairly,
with Australian
Accounting
Standards
(including
Australian
Accounting
2017
and
of
its
performance
and
cash
flows
for
the
year
then
ended;
and
Interpretations),

cb

are
prepared
accordance
with the requirements
of the Local
Government
Act 1995 Part 6
complies
within
Australian
Accounting
Standards (including
the Australian
Accounting
(as
amended) and Regulations under the Act.
Interpretations),

cBasis
arefor
prepared
in accordance
Auditor’s
Opinion with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1995 Part 6
(as amended)
and Regulations
under
Act.
We conducted
our audit
in accordance
withthe
Australian
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Basis forReport
Auditor’s
Opinion
Financial
section
of our report. We are independent of the City of Stirling in accordance
We
audit in accordance
with Australian
Auditing
Our responsibilities
withconducted
the ethical our
requirements
of the Accounting
Professional
andStandards.
Ethical Standards
Board’s
under
standards
arefor
further
described
in the Auditor’s
for the Audit
the of
APES those
110 Code
of Ethics
Professional
Accountants
(the Responsibilities
Code) that are relevant
to ourofaudit
Financial
Report
section
of our report.
Wealso
are fulfilled
independent
of the
City of
Stirling in accordance
the
financial
report
in Australia.
We have
our other
ethical
responsibilities
in
with the ethical
accordance
withrequirements
the Code. of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of
the financial
report
Australia.
Wewe
have
also
fulfilledisour
other ethical
responsibilities
in
We
believe that
theinaudit
evidence
have
obtained
sufficient
and appropriate
to provide
a
accordance
Code.
basis
for ourwith
auditthe
opinion.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to
one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the
Grant
Audit
Pty Ltd
ACN 130
913
594
memberThornton
firms are not
a worldwide
partnership.
GTIL
and
each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not
a
subsidiary
entity
Australia
127one
556another
389 and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In
provide
servicesor
to related
clients. GTIL
and of
its Grant
memberThornton
firms are not
agents of, Ltd
and ABN
do not 41
obligate
the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries
‘Grant
Thornton’
refers
to the
brand
under which
the Grant
member firms
provide
assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to
and
related
entities.
GTIL
is not
an Australian
related
entity Thornton
to Grant Thornton
Australia
Limited.
one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the
member
firms
are
not
a
worldwide
partnership.
GTIL
and
each
member
firm
is
a
separate
legal
entity.Legislation.
Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In
the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries
and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
230

Statutory compliance
I did not, during the course of my audit, become aware of any instance where the Council did not
comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1995 and Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations 1996 as they apply to financial statements.
Responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Report
The Chief Executive Officer of the City of Stirling is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Local
Government Act 1995 Part 6. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Council is responsible for overseeing the City of Stirling’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

M J Hillgrove
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Perth, 14 September 2017
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Statements
and Indexes
In this section, you will find information
related to the City’s Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) performance, a
glossary and listing of acronyms
used throughout the Annual Report,
and an index of figures and tables.
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Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) develops globally applicable Sustainability Reporting Guidelines for voluntary use by
organisations via annual reporting. The table below presents the City’s assessment of the materiality of the GRI’s aspects and
the boundaries that are relevant.
Materiality refers to the assessment of the City’s significant economic, environmental and social impacts that are deemed
important by either the City or its stakeholders. It is understood that all material aspects should be reported on in the annual
reporting process. GRI aspects are categories of standardised reporting measures, and the table below indicates the current
materiality and reporting status relating to those aspects.
Reported disclosures are noted to show the relevant section in the annual report. If the City aims to report the disclosure in
the future, it is marked as ‘Not Reported This Year’. If the City assesses that the disclosure is not a material impact, then it is
marked as ‘Not Applicable’.

GRI Index
General Disclosures
Standard Disclosure Title

Pages

Strategy and Analysis
G4-1

CEO statement

G4-2

Key Impacts and
Opportunities

G4-16
20
7

Organisational Profile
G4-3

Name of City

G4-4

Primary brands, products,
and services

G4-5

Location of the City’s
headquarters

Standard Disclosure Title

Front Cover
71

Membership of industry
associations or advocacy
organisations

Pages
Not Reported
This Year

G4-17

Financial statements

G4-18

Report content and aspect
boundaries

G4-19

Material aspects

Not applicable

G4-20

Aspect boundaries within City

Not applicable

G4-21

Aspect boundaries outside
city

Not applicable

Back cover

157
162

13

G4-22

Nature of ownership and legal
form

Restatements from previous
reports

None

30

G4-23

G4-8

Markets served

13

Significant changes in scope
and aspect boundaries

None

G4-9

Scale of City

G4-10

Employee Statistics

G4-11

Percentage of total
employees covered by
collective bargaining
agreements

49

Describe the City’s supply
chain

22

Significant changes during
the reporting period

19, 20, 22

Precautionary approach or
principle

11

Member of external
environmental initiatives

89

G4-6

Stirling boundaries

G4-7

G4-12
G4-13
G4-14
G4-15

234

42, 46
46

Stakeholder Engagement
G4-24

Stakeholder list

57-59

G4-25

Basis for stakeholder
identification

57-59

G4-26

Approach to stakeholder
engagement

57-59

Key topics and concerns

71-127

G4-27

Report Profile
G4-28

Reporting period

G4-29

Date of most recent previous
report

G4-30

Reporting cycle

Front cover
November 2016
Annual

Standard Disclosure Title
G4-31

Contact details for questions

G4-32

GRI content index and
assurances

G4-33

Assurance details

Pages

Standard Disclosure Title

6

G4-53

Stakeholder consultation
regarding remuneration,

162

G4-54

Ratio of the annual total
compensation for CEO to
the median annual total
compensation for employees

Not Reported
On This Year

Ratio of percentage increase
in annual total compensation
for the CEO to the median
percentage increase in
annual total compensation for
employees

Not Reported
On This Year

6

Governance
G4-34

Governance structure

60

G4-35

Delegating authority

41

G4-36

Executive-level responsible
for economic, environmental
and social topics

G4-37

Consultation process for
economic, environmental and
social topics

G4-38

Composition of governance
body

35, 57

G4-56

Values, principles and codes
of conduct and ethics

31-34, 44-45

G4-57

Mechanisms for seeking
advice on ethical and lawful
behaviour and integrity

60, 61

G4-58

Mechanisms for reporting
concerns about unethical
or unlawful behaviour and
integrity

60, 61

Chairperson
Nomination and selection
process for Council

30

Processes in place to ensure
that conflicts of interest are
avoided

60

G4-43

Council role in the
development, approval, and
updating of the Strategic
Community Plan

31

Standard Disclosure Title
31-34, 44-45

Enhancing collective
knowledge on economic,
environmental or social topics

G4-45

G4-46

G4-47

G4-48
G4-49
G4-50

Evaluation of Council
performance - economic,
environmental and social
Management of economic,
environmental and social
impacts, risks, and
opportunities
Risk management processes
for economic, environmental
and social topics

Category: Economic
G4-EC1

Direct economic value
generated and distributed

22, 157

G4-EC2

Risks and opportunities
posed by climate change
that may affect operations,
revenue or expenditure

89, 90

35

35

G4-EC3

Benefit Plan obligations

G4-EC4

Financial assistance received
from government

65

Review and approval of
sustainability report

18-21

G4-EC6

35

142-143
17, 25

Aspect: Market Presence
G4-EC5

68-69

Critical concerns
communicated and the
mechanism used to address
and resolve them

Pages

Aspect: Economic Performance

The frequency of review of
economic, environmental and
social impacts, risks, and
opportunities.

Process for communicating
critical concerns

10

Specific Standard Disclosures

50
G4-44

48

Ethics and Integrity

G4-39

G4-42

G4-55

44-45

G4-40
G4-41

Pages

Ratios of standard entry-level
wage by gender compared to
local minimum wage

Not Applicable

Proportion of senior
management hired from the
local community

Not Applicable

Aspect: Indirect Economic Impacts
G4-EC7

Development and impact of
infrastructure investments and
services supported

G4-EC8

Significant indirect economic
impacts

68-69
115-119

Aspect: Procurement Practices
35

G4-DMA

Remuneration and Incentives
G4-51

Remuneration policies

48

G4-52

Process for determining
remuneration

48

G4-EC9

Generic disclosures on
management approach
Proportion of spending on
local suppliers

60, 67
Not Applicable
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Standard Disclosure Title

Pages

Category: Environmental

Standard Disclosure Title
G4-EN23

Aspect: Materials
G4-EN1

G4-EN2

Weight or volume of
renewable and non-renewable
materials used
Percentage of materials used
that are made from recycled
materials

G4-EN3

Energy consumption within
the City

G4-EN4

Energy consumed in the City’s
supply chain

G4-EN5

Energy intensity metrics used

G4-EN6

Reduction of energy
consumption

Not Reported
This Year

Number and volume of
significant spills

G4-EN25

Not Reported
This Year

Transported, imported,
exported, or treated waste
deemed hazardous waste

G4-EN26

Water bodies and related
habitats that are significantly
affected by water discharges

95

95, 96

Total water withdrawal by
source

98

G4-EN10

Volume of water recycled and
reused

98

Aspect: Biodiversity

G4-EN12

Operational sites managed
in, or adjacent to, protected
areas and areas of high
biodiversity value

Extent of impact mitigation
of environmental impacts of
products and services

G4-EN28

Percentage of products sold
and their packaging materials
that are reclaimed

Not Reported
This Year

Impacts on biodiversity in
protected areas and areas of
high biodiversity

100

G4-EN13

Habitats protected or restored

100

G4-EN14

Total number of IUCN red
list species and national
conservation list species with
habitats in areas affected

G4-EN16

G4-EN17

G4-EN30

G4-EN31

G4-EN32

Not Reported
This Year

96

Energy indirect greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions (Scope
2)

96

Other indirect greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions (Scope 3)

96

The GHG emissions intensity
ratio

Not Reported
This Year

G4-EN19

Reduction of greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions

97

G4-EN20

Emissions of ozone-depleting
substances (ODS)

Not Reported
This Year

G4-EN21

NOx, SOx and other
significant air emissions

Not Reported
This Year

Not Applicable

Significant fines and number
of non-monetary sanctions
for non-compliance with
environmental laws and
regulations

None

Operations and workforce
transport-related
environmental impacts

97

Report total environmental
protection expenditures

Not Reported
This Year

Not Reported
This Year

Percentage of new suppliers
that were screened using
environmental criteria

Not Reported
This Year

Significant actual and
potential negative
environmental impacts in
the supply chain and actions
taken

67

Aspect: Environmental Grievance Mechanisms
G4-EN34

Number of grievances about
environmental impacts filed,
addressed, and resolved
through formal grievance
mechanisms

Not Reported
This Year

Category: Social
Aspect: Employment
G4-LA1

G4-LA2

G4-LA3

Aspect: Effluents and Waste
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67

Aspect: Overall

G4-EN33

Direct greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions (Scope 1)

Total water discharge by
quality and destination

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Supplier Environmental Assessment

G4-EN18

G4-EN22

94

Aspect: Transport

Aspect: Emissions
G4-EN15

No spills
recorded

Aspect: Compliance

98-99

Water sources significantly
affected by withdrawal

G4-EN11

G4-EN27

G4-EN29

G4-EN9

92-93

Aspect: Products and Services

95
Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Water
G4-EN8

Total weight of waste by type
and disposal method

G4-EN24

Aspect: Energy

Pages

Employee full-time equivalent,
age profile, gender profile and
turnover

46-48

Benefits provided to fulltime employees that are not
provided to temporary or parttime employees

49, covered in
Agreements

Return to work and retention
rates after parental leave, by
gender

Not Reported
This Year

Standard Disclosure Title

Pages

Aspect: Labour/Management Relations
G4-LA4

G4-HR2

Minimum notice periods
regarding operational
changes, including whether
these are specified in
collective agreements

G4-HR3
49

G4-LA5

Health and safety committees

52

G4-LA6

Rates of injury and lost days

53

G4-LA7

Workers with high incidence
or high risk of diseases
related to their occupation

Not Reported
This Year

G4-LA10

Programs for skills
management and lifelong
learning

G4-LA11

Employees receiving regular
performance and career
development reviews

G4-HR4

G4-HR5
Yes
50-51

G4-HR6
50-51

49

G4-HR7

Composition of governance
bodies and breakdown of
employees per employee
category according to gender

G4-HR8
47

Aspect: Equal Remuneration for Women and Men
G4-LA13

Ratio of basic salary and
remuneration of women to
men by employee category,
by significant locations of
operation

49, covered in
Agreements

Operations and suppliers
identified in which the right
to exercise freedom of
association and collective
bargaining is at risk

Not Reported
This Year

Operations and suppliers
identified as having significant
risk for incidents of child
labour

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Forced or Compulsory Labour

Aspect: Diversity and Equal Opportunity
G4-LA12

Incidents of discrimination
and corrective actions taken

Aspect: Freedom of Association
and Collective Bargaining

Aspect: Training and Education
Employee training

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Child Labour

Health and safety topics
covered in formal agreements
with trade unions

G4-LA9

Training on human rights
policies or procedures

Pages

Aspect: Non-Discrimination

Aspect: Occupational Health and Safety

G4-LA8

Standard Disclosure Title

G4-HR9
49, covered in
Agreements

Operations and suppliers
identified as having significant
risk for incidents of forced or
compulsory labour,

Not Reported
This Year

Percentage of security
personnel trained in the City’s
human rights policies or
procedures

Not Applicable

Total number of incidents
of violations involving rights
of indigenous peoples and
actions taken
Total number and percentage
of operations that have
been subject to human
rights reviews or impact
assessments

Not Reported
This Year

Not Applicable

Aspect: Supplier Assessment for Labour Practices

Aspect: Supplier Human Rights Assessment

G4-LA14

G4-HR10

G4-LA15

Percentage of new suppliers
that were screened using
labour practices criteria
Significant actual and
potential negative impacts for
labour practices in the supply
chain and actions taken

Not Reported
This Year

G4-HR11
Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Labour Practices Grievance Mechanisms
G4-LA16

Grievances about labour
practices addressed through
formal grievance mechanisms

G4-HR12

49, covered in
Agreements

Percentage of new suppliers
that were screened using
human rights criteria

Not Reported
This Year

Significant actual and
potential negative human
rights impacts in the supply
chain and actions taken

Not Reported
This Year

Number of grievances about
human rights impacts filed
through formal grievance
mechanisms

Not Reported
This Year

Sub-Category: Human Rights

Sub-Category: Society

Aspect: Investment

Aspect: Local Communities

G4-HR1

G4-SO1

Significant investment
agreements and contracts
that include human rights
clauses or that underwent
human rights screening

Not Reported
This Year

Operations with implemented
local community engagement,
impact assessments, and
development programs

57-59
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Standard Disclosure Title
G4-SO2

Operations with significant
actual and potential negative
impacts on local communities

Pages

G4-PR5
Not Applicable

Aspect: Anti-Corruption
G4-SO3

G4-SO4

G4-SO5

Standard Disclosure Title

60-61

Communication and training
on anti-corruption policies
and procedures

60-61

Confirmed incidents of
corruption and actions taken

None

G4-PR7

Total value of political
contributions
Total number of legal actions
for anti-competitive behaviour
or anti-trust

63

Aspect: Compliance
G4-SO8

Fines and non-monetary
sanctions for non-compliance
with laws and regulations

None

Aspect: Supplier Assessment for Impacts on Society
G4-SO9

G4-S10

Percentage of new suppliers
that were screened using
criteria for impacts on society.

Not Reported
This Year

Number of suppliers assessed
for impacts on society

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Grievance Mechanisms for Impacts on Society
G4-S11

Number of grievances about
impacts on society filed
through formal grievance
mechanisms

Not Applicable

Sub-Category: Product Responsibility
Aspect: Customer Health and Safety
G4-PR1

G4-PR2

Service categories for which
health and safety impacts are
assessed for improvement

Not Reported
This Year

Non-compliance with
regulations and voluntary
codes concerning the
health and safety impacts of
products and services

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Product and Service Labelling
G4-PR3

Procedures for product and
service information and
labelling

Not Applicable

G4-PR4

Incidents of non-compliance
with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning product
and service information and
labelling

Not Applicable
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Not Applicable

Incidents of non-compliance
with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning marketing
communications

Not Applicable

G4-PR8

Complaints received
concerning breaches of
customer privacy

Not Reported
This Year

Aspect: Compliance
Not Applicable

Aspect: Anti-competitive Behaviour
G4-SO7

Sale of banned or disputed
products

Aspect: Customer Privacy

Aspect: Public Policy
G4-SO6

73-123

Aspect: Marketing Communications
G4-PR6

Operations assessed for risks
related to corruption and the
significant risks identified

Results of surveys measuring
customer satisfaction

Pages

G4-PR9

Fines for non-compliance
with laws and regulations
concerning the provision and
use of products and services

None

Acronyms
ACCC:

Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

LED:

Light Emitting Diode

ACF:

Animal Care Facility

LGIS:

Local Government Insurance Scheme

AIIMS:

Australasian Inter-Service Incident Management

LIWA:

Leisure Institute of Western Australia

AMS:

Asset Management Strategy

LTIs:

Lost Time Injuries

ATSI:

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

MHFA:

Mental Health First Aid

BEATS:

Be eSmart And Tech Savvy

MRA:

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority

BRG:

Bulk Globe Replacement

MRRG:

Metropolitan Regional Road Group

CALD:

Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Backgrounds

MRS:

Metropolitan Region Scheme

CBD:

Central Business District

CCTV:

Closed Circuit Television

NAIDOC: National Aborigines and Islanders
Day Observance Committee

CDF:

Cultural Development Fund

CED:

Cullen Egan Dell

CPTED:

Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design

DAIP:

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DDA:

Disability Discrimination Act

EEO:

Equal Employment Opportunity

EGM:

Electors General Meeting

FTE:

Full-Time Equivalent

GHGs:

Green House Gases

GRI:

Global Reporting Initiative indicators

HACC:

Home and Community Care

IIA:

Institute of Internal Auditor

ICAC:

Independent Commission Against Corruption

JP:

Justice of the Peace

NBN:

National Broadband Network

OSH:

Occupational Safety and Health

PCYC:

Police and Community Youth Clubs

PIA:

Planning Institute of Australia

PTA:

Public Transport Authority

RAP:

Reconciliation Action Plan

SWMS:

Safe Work Method Statements

TAFE:

Technical and Further Education

TPRC:

Tamala Park Regional Council

WAAPA: Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts
WADE:

WA Disability Enterprises

WALGA: Western Australian Local Government Association
WAPC:

Western Australian Planning Commission
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Glossary
Asset Management Plan: a plan for
managing the City’s infrastructure and
other assets.

Current liabilities: the total current
liabilities as shown in the Statement of
Financial Position.

Perth Road Board: the original name
for the area of Perth that is referred to
as the ‘City of Stirling’.

Biodiversity: the variety of all living
things including plants, animals and
micro-organisms, their genes and the
ecosystems of which they are a part.

Digital Storytelling: creating stories on
the internet to present concepts and
advertise City initiatives and services.

Risk management: a policy and
process for identifying business risks
and controlling the likelihood and/or
impact of a risk event occurring.

Capital Works Program: a program
of scheduled infrastructure works
generally encompassing capital works
for road, drainage and building assets.
Certified Carbon Neutral: a
certification enabling an organisation
to be accredited under the government
standard, and acknowledgment for
achieving net zero carbon emissions.
City Deal: a federal government
initiative bringing together all
levels of government, the private
sector and the community,
which will provide a coordinated
investment plan for our cities.
Connect2: a program encouraging
people to meet regularly at the City’s
community centres.
Corporate Business Plan: a document
that sets the strategic priorities for the
City for a set period.

240

Diversity: understanding that each
individual is unique, and recognising
our individual differences.
E-waste: any discarded electronic or
electrical devices and their parts.
Global Reporting Initiative: a
leading not-for-profit organisation
that has developed a comprehensive
Sustainability Reporting Framework that
is widely used around the world.
Landfill: sites for disposal of nonrecyclable waste.
Men’s Shed: a place for men to come
together to pursue new projects and
interests.
Mirrabooka Regional Centre
Revitalisation: a multi-million-dollar
strategy that addressed five key
issues: access, zoning, community
needs, security and appearance for the
Mirrabooka Regional Centre.

SharePoint: the City of Stirling’s
intranet site.
Study Assistance Program: provides
City of Stirling employees with up
to $2000 per year towards study for
nationally recognised qualifications.
Sustainable: meets present-day needs
without compromising the ability of
future generations to meet their own
needs.

Stirling Times Kids Kerfuffle 2017
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Telephone (08) 9205 8555 | Email stirling@stirling.wa.gov.au
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Centre on (08) 9205 8555
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